
 

 

Kirklees Council 

 

 
 

 
 
Tuesday 17 November 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Dear Member 
 
 

A Meeting of Council will meet remotely on Wednesday 25 November 
2020 at 5.30pm. 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The following matters will be debated: 
 
 
  Pages 

 

1:   Announcements by the Mayor and Chief Executive 
 
To receive any announcements from the Mayor and Chief Executive. 
 

 
 

 

2:   Apologies for absence 
 
Group Business Managers to submit any apologies for absence. 
 

 
 

 

3:   Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
To agree and authorise the Mayor to sign the Minutes of Council 
held on 21 October 2020.  
 

1 - 4 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 

4:   Declaration of Interests 
 
The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items of the 
Agenda in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, which 
would prevent them from participating in any discussion of them 
items or participating in any vote upon the items, or any other 
interests. 
 
 

 
 

5 - 6 

5:   West Yorkshire Devolution - Consent to Draft Order 
 
To consider the report. 
 
Contacts: 
Julie Muscroft, Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
Commissioning 
Nick Howe, Partnerships and Corporate Planning 
Karl Larrad, Legal, Governance and Commissioning  
 

 
 

7 - 80 

6:   Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019/2020 
 
To receive the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for the 2019/20 
municipal year.  
 
Contact: Samantha Lawton, Head of Governance  
 

 
 

81 - 110 

By Order of the Council 
 

 
 

Chief Executive 
 



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Leigh Webb  
 

COUNCIL 
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

At the Meeting of the Council of the Borough of Kirklees held at  
Virtual Meeting - online on Wednesday 21 October 2020 

 
 

PRESENT 
 

The Mayor (Councillor Mumtaz Hussain) in the Chair 
 

COUNCILLORS 
 

Councillor Masood Ahmed Councillor Mahmood Akhtar 
Councillor Karen Allison Councillor Bill Armer 
Councillor Gulfam Asif Councillor Donna Bellamy 
Councillor Martyn Bolt Councillor Cahal Burke 
Councillor Aafaq Butt Councillor Andrew Cooper 
Councillor Paola Antonia Davies Councillor Paul Davies 
Councillor Richard Eastwood Councillor Donald Firth 
Councillor Eric Firth Councillor Michelle Grainger-Mead 
Councillor Charles Greaves Councillor David Hall 
Councillor Steve Hall Councillor Lisa Holmes 
Councillor Erin Hill Councillor James Homewood 
Councillor Yusra Hussain Councillor Christine Iredale 
Councillor Manisha Roma Kaushik Councillor Viv Kendrick 
Councillor Musarrat Khan Councillor John Lawson 
Councillor Vivien Lees-Hamilton Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Gwen Lowe Councillor Aleks Lukic 
Councillor Terry Lyons Councillor Andrew Marchington 
Councillor Naheed Mather Councillor Peter McBride 
Councillor Bernard McGuin Councillor Alison Munro 
Councillor Richard Murgatroyd Councillor Darren O'Donovan 
Councillor Shabir Pandor Councillor Nigel Patrick 
Councillor Carole Pattison Councillor Amanda Pinnock 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock Councillor Kath Pinnock 
Councillor Mohammad Sarwar Councillor Cathy Scott 
Councillor Will Simpson Councillor Elizabeth Smaje 
Councillor Anthony Smith Councillor Richard Smith 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal Councillor John Taylor 
Councillor Kath Taylor Councillor Mark Thompson 
Councillor Graham Turner Councillor Sheikh Ullah 
Councillor Harpreet Uppal Councillor Rob Walker 
Councillor Lesley Warner Councillor Michael Watson 
Councillor Paul White Councillor Habiban Zaman 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3:



Council -  21 October 2020 
 

2 
 

1 Announcements by the Mayor and Chief Executive 
The Chief Executive advised Council that the Council has been awarded the 
Workplace Wellbeing Charter, a national award for England. The charter recognises 
the Council as a place to work that is committed to the health and wellbeing of all 
staff. 
 
The Chief Executive reminded Members of the provisions of Section 106 Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 in relation to Agenda Item 6. 
 

2 Apologies for absence 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Dad, Goodwin, Loonat and 
Pervaiz. 
 

3 Minutes of Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 9 September 2020 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

4 Declaration of Interests 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5 Dates of Council Meetings 2020-2021 
It was moved by Councillor Sokhal, seconded by Councillor R Smith and 
 
RESOLVED - That the schedule of Council meetings for the remainder of the 2020-
21 municipal year be approved. 
 

6 Council Budget Strategy Update; 2021/2022 and following years 
It was moved by Councillor Turner, seconded by Councillor Pandor and  
 
RESOLVED – 
1. That the funding and spend assumptions informing the updated budget forecasts 
as set out in section 2.3 to 2.15 of the report be noted 
2. That the current and forecast earmarked reserves and general balances as set 
out at Appendix B be noted 
3. That the corporate budget timetable and approach set out at Appendix F be 
noted. 
4. That the revised Minimum Revenue Provision Policy as set out in Section 2.14 of 
the report be approved 
5. That the decision on preferred option for Business Rates Pool arrangements for 
2021/22 to be delegated to the Chief Executive and Service Director – Finance, in 
consultation with the Leader and Corporate Portfolio holder, as per Section 2.4 of 
the report be approved 
6. That the updated multi-year capital budget plans as set out at Appendix D be 
approved 
7. That the flexible capital receipts strategy set out in Section 2.17 of the report be 
approved 
8.  That the financial planning framework set out in Section 1.4 of the report be 
approved 
9. That the budget consultation approach and timetable set out in Section 3 of the 
report be approved. 

Page 2



Council -  21 October 2020 
 

3 
 

 
7 Our Council Plan 

It was moved by Councillor Pandor, seconded by Councillor Turner and 
 
RESOLVED - That ‘Our Council Plan’ and ‘Measuring our impact and progress 
against the 2018/20 Corporate Plan’ be approved. 
 

8 Tackling Inequalities 
It was moved by Councillor Pandor, seconded by Councillor Turner and 
 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted and the establishment of the Inequalities 
Commission be endorsed. 
 

9 Key Discussion - Kirklees Council's Use of Technology : Responding to the 
Challenges of the Covid-19 Pandemic 
 
Item not considered due to time constraints. 
 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
C

ou
nc

il 
N

am
e 

of
 C

ou
nc

ill
or

 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4:



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 6



 

 
 
Name of meeting: Council 
Date:    25th November 2020   
Title of report:  West Yorkshire Devolution – Consent to Draft Order 

  
Purpose of report: 
 
To ask Council to consider, comment and endorse the report to be presented to Cabinet for 
decision on 26th November which considers the draft Order, to establish a mayoral combined 
authority and associated changes as set out in the ‘minded to’ Devolution Deal.  
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a significant 
effect on two or more electoral wards?   

Yes 
 
 
Likely to result in expenditure and savings of 
greater than £250,000 and affects more than 1 ward 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward Plan 
(key decisions and private reports)? 
 

Key Decision – N/A for Council but members 
should note that the Chair of Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Committee has agreed that the 
Cabinet decision be exempt from call-in on the 
grounds of urgency, for the reasons set out in 
paragraph 3.6 of this report. 
 
Private Report/Private Appendix – No 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

No 
 
The Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Management 
Committee has agreed that this be exempt from 
call-in on the grounds of urgency, for the reasons 
set out in paragraph 3.6 of this report. 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Legal Governance and Commissioning Support? 
 

Jacqui Gedman 17/11/20 
 
Eammon Croston 17/11/20 
 
 
Julie Muscroft 17/11/20 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Pandor, Leader of the Council 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: ALL 
 
Ward councillors consulted: YES 

 
Public or private: Public 
 
Has GDPR been considered: YES 

 

 
 
 
 
 Page 7

Agenda Item 5:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 
 
 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 The West Yorkshire “minded-to” Devolution Deal was announced as part of the Budget on 

11 March 2020. Subject to statutory processes, this will lead to the adoption of a mayoral 
combined authority model with additional functions.   
 

1.2 At their meetings in September, the Combined Authority and each Constituent Council: 

 Considered the outcome of the public consultation on the Scheme, which has been 
undertaken jointly by the Constituent Councils and the Combined Authority; and 

 Resolved to submit the summary of the consultation responses to the Secretary of 
State. 

 
1.3 Subsequently the consultation summary report, along with representations from Leeds City 

Council and Kirklees Council were submitted to the Secretary of State. This submission, 
along with the Scheme have then been used to draft the Order. 
 

1.4 Following these approvals the report to Cabinet seeks consent to: 

 Consent in principle to the draft Order, to establish a mayoral combined authority 
and associated changes as set out in the ‘minded to’ Devolution Deal. 

 Delegate authority to the Managing Director of the Combined Authority, in 
consultation with the Leader and Chief Executive of each Constituent Council and 
the Chair of the Combined Authority, to finalise and consent to the final draft of the 
Order further to any technical issues which may arise. 

 
2. Background Information 
 

Benefits of the Deal 
 
2.1 As previously reported, the Deal will devolve a range of powers and responsibilities to 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority. It will unlock significant long-term funding and give 
the region greater freedom to decide how best to meet local needs. 

 
2.2 The ‘minded to’ devolution deal, the biggest ever of its kind, and establishing a Mayoral 

Combined Authority will enable more: 

 Funding: to invest in our people, businesses and communities 

 Powers: to shape West Yorkshire and take decisions closer to people 

 Influence: to shape Government policy and access further devolution and funds 
 
2.3 The ‘minded to’ devolution deal offers both investment and decision making which are 

crucial to fulfil West Yorkshire’s potential and meet current challenges. The deal brings: 

 Control of £38m per year allocation of gainshare investment funding over 30 
years, to drive growth and take forward our priorities 

 A five-year integrated transport settlement starting in 2022/23, and agreement to 
explore West Yorkshire Mass Transit 

 New powers relating to transport, including easier access to bus franchising and a 
regional approach to control of a Key Route Network 

 Devolution of Adult Education powers and the Adult Education Budget to shape 
local skills provision to respond to local needs 

 £25m Heritage Fund to support the establishing of a potential ‘British Library 
North’ Page 8



 

 New powers on planning, focusing on zero carbon 

 £3.2m to support development of a pipeline of housing sites across West 
Yorkshire 

 Transport infrastructure development and funding for the Bradford Station 
Masterplan and the Outline Business Case for Leeds Station redevelopment 

 Ongoing partnership with the Environment Agency on identifying and addressing 
flood risk management requirements with £101m allocated for West Yorkshire 
flood risk management schemes 

 £200,000 for the Yorkshire Leaders Board 

 £75,000 West Yorkshire Local Digital Skills Partnership 

 Piloting the new National Green Infrastructure Standards with Natural England 
and DEFRA 

 Transfer of Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC) functions to the new Mayor in 
2021 

 Commitment to working in partnership to explore an “Act Early” Health Institute 

 Strengthened collaboration and partnership with Government 
 
2.4 Devolution and Mayoral Combined Authority preparations are already having an impact 

on access to funding and increased opportunities for the region. These have been sought 
and secured through: 

 £317m Transforming Cities Fund, the largest allocation to any region, to deliver 
transformational walking and cycling schemes across West Yorkshire and creating 
jobs 

 £67m funding for new homes on Brownfield sites 

 A seat at the national table on economic recovery 
 
2.5 The initial gainshare funding for the financial year 2020/2021 will be available prior to the 

first Mayoral election, but subject to: the establishing legislation being in place; and a 
revised Assurance Framework being approved. 

 
Process for enacting the deal 

 
2.6 The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 sets out 

statutory processes to be followed before any Order is made. Each aspect has a specific 
statutory procedure to be followed. In addition, the consent of each Constituent Council 
and the Combined Authority is required to any Regulations giving the Combined Authority 
powers to borrow for non-transport functions, however these are to be progressed 
separately and at a later date to the making of the Order. 
 

2.7 The process to enact the deal is set out in the timetable at appendix 1 to this report. This 
process addresses all statutory procedural requirements. Stages 1-4 are now complete. 
The following sections of the report provide a summary of the draft Order. The full 
document is available as Appendix 2 to this paper. 
 
Devolution Consultation Follow Up 
 

2.8 As previously reported, between 25 May and 19 July 2020, we asked the public and 
stakeholders for feedback on the devolution deal through a formal public consultation. We 
published a governance review and the Scheme which gave the detail of the ‘minded-to’ 
devolution deal signed between West Yorkshire leaders and the Government in March 
2020. A total of 4,413 responses were received, making it the largest ever public 
consultation on English regional devolution, despite the challenges of Covid-19. The 
feedback received was considered by the Combined Authority and Constituent Councils in 
September and then submitted to the Secretary of State. Page 9



 
 
2.9 A wide range of views were offered as part of the consultation responses. The high-level 

themes were included and responded to in the reports that were considered by the 
Combined Authority and Constituent Councils in September. Commitment was also made 
to reflect on the views expressed in devolution consultation and provide detailed 
responses. To ensure it is clear how views have been reflected the Combined Authority 
has responded to the comments raised through ‘you said, we did’ communications, which 
have been published on the YourVoice website. The themes covered include: 

 General – cost, bureaucracy, decision making 

 Governance – decision making, local communities 

 Transport – ticketing, climate emergency 

 Employment and skills – unemployment, upskilling 

 Housing and planning – affordable housing, energy efficiency 

 Police and crime – accountability, politicisation 

 Finance – taxes, value for money 

 
2.10 In addition, during the process of taking the consultation responses through Constituent 

Council meetings, although support was received, some issues were raised. The main 
issues raised were in relation to: scrutiny of the devolution implementation; and local 
engagement and decision making regarding the agreement of the Spatial Development 
Strategy. 

 
2.11 These issues were raised in the letter to the Secretary of State, which accompanied the 

Consultation Summary Report. 
 

2.12 As part of the work that the Combined Authority is undertaking to become a mayoral 
combined authority, scrutiny arrangements are being reviewed to ensure they are fit for 
purpose. As part of this work the Combined Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
are holding a range of working groups to discuss, review and make recommendations for 
change. The Chair of this committee has contacted Overview and Scrutiny Chairs from 
Constituent Councils to offer them an opportunity to comment on this work, particularly any 
views on the how scrutiny at a West Yorkshire level can engage with local scrutiny in the 
future. 

 
Draft Order 
 

2.13 The Secretary of State has now formally decided that the statutory tests have been met 

and that the implementation of the devolution deal should proceed. The Mayoral Order has 

therefore been drafted. Officers of the Combined Authority have liaised closely with 

government officials in relation to the intended wording of the Order. 

 

2.14 The Order is a technical document which will ultimately become legislation. It includes 

details of: 

 When the functions will commence 

 The election of Mayor 

 The Mayor’s Political adviser 

 Education, skills and training functions 

 Housing, regeneration and planning functions 

 Mayoral development corporation 

 Transport functions 
 Mayoral functions 

 Funding Page 10



 

 Police and Crime Commissioner functions 

 

2.15 The draft Order, which is attached at Appendix 2 to this report, has been reviewed to 

ensure it reflects the ‘minded to’ devolution deal and Scheme and includes the expected 

functions and supporting legislation. Upon review there are two areas of deviation from the 

‘minded to’ devolution deal or the Scheme namely, Spatial Planning and Highways 

powers. 

2.16 Functions relating to the Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) and Strategic Infrastructure 

Tariff (SIT) were a part of the ‘minded to’ devolution deal and the Scheme. Due to the 

ongoing national planning reforms that are underway, through the Planning White Paper, 

Government have decided to remove the SDS and SIT from the draft Order at this time. A 

letter from the Minister for Regional Growth and Local Government, explaining these 

changes is included at Appendix 3 to this report. 

2.17 Government officials have indicated that once the outcome of the planning reform is 

complete, the relevant equivalent functions will be conferred to West Yorkshire. It is 

currently unknown what this will look like, or the timescales associated, further 

correspondence is expected from Government. 

 
2.18 Officers will develop proposals, in line with the Scheme, regarding how local collaboration 

on spatial planning will continue in the interim, particularly with regards to mass transit and 

the climate emergency, which were planned to be at the heart of any Spatial Development 

Strategy. 

 
2.19 The operational highways functions within the Order are consistent with the ‘minded to’ 

devolution deal and Scheme. The highways functions conferred will cover the Combined 

Authority area of West Yorkshire. The functions can however only be exercised with the 

unanimous approval of the five Combined Authority members appointed by Constituent 

Councils. 

 
2.20 The KRN and the roads which constitute it, in respect of which the concurrent powers of 

the Combined Authority will apply, will be defined locally at a subsequent time and agreed 

with the consent of the Constituent Councils. This model offers flexibility to define and 

change the KRN locally and over time by agreement. 

 
2.21 Once the Order has been made the functions detailed in the Order will be conferred to the 

Combined Authority in line with the following timescales 

 Combined Authority functions will be conferred once the Order has been made in 
parliament. 

 Mayoral functions, once the mayor is in office. 
 
2.22 Following the development of the Order there is still much work to be undertaken to 

implement and operationalise the Order. The Combined Authority and Constituent 
Councils will work closely together to develop and agree local protocols before the Order is 
made. These protocols will: 

 Provide further clarity that no functions are taken away from the Constituent 
Councils. 

 Detail how any functions which are held concurrently between the Combined 
Authority and the Constituent Councils will be operated 

 Detail how consent functions will work in practice. 
 
 Page 11



 
 
 

Next Steps 
 

2.23 As part of the parliamentary process, in parallel to the consents sought through this paper, 
the draft Order is being considered by Parliament’s Joint Committee on Statutory 
Instruments (JCSI). Their role is to focus on the technical quality of the draft Order as 
opposed to the policy content and amendments at this point would be those required to 
ensure that the Order is well drafted. The JCSI process may therefore lead to technical 
amendments being made to the Order, these will be non-negotiable. 

 
2.24 In order to facilitate any technical amendments to the draft Order, following the consent of 

each Constituent Council and the Combined Authority, it is proposed that authority is 
delegated to the Managing Director of the Combined Authority, in consultation with the 
Chief Executive and Leader of each Constituent Council and the Chair of the Combined 
Authority to finalise and consent to the Order, further to any technical amendments which 
may arise. 

 
2.25 The Order will then be laid in parliament in early December 2020. 

 
2.26 Appendix 1 to this report sets out the timeline for implementing the deal.   
 

Police and Crime Commissioner 
 

2.27 To support understanding of the degree of work required to transfer the Police and Crime 
Commissioner functions to the Mayor in May 2021, an external due diligence exercise was 
commissioned by the Combined Authority through a competitive tender process. The 
scope of this critical exercise included an understanding of the scale of the transfer, the 
mechanisms necessary to transfer PCC functions, as well as the instruments and 
resourcing required to enable this.  

 

2.28 An external due diligence exercise and risk assessment on the transferring of PCC 
functions has concluded that there are no insurmountable barriers to the transfer. Key 
areas of risks have been identified including resourcing of the transfer work; staff 
transition; future changes to the funding model; the Parliamentary timetable for agreeing 
the Order; and future funding and fleet replacement for the National Air Police Service 
(NPAS),  all of which have identified risk mitigation actions assigned. A full project plan for 
the transfer of functions with appropriate resourcing is now in development. 
 

2.29 The arrangements for the Police and Crime Panel (PCP), which provides scrutiny of the 
work of the PCC, will remain as the per the current arrangements. That is, the PCP will be 
retained as a joint committee, supported by Wakefield Council as the Support Services 
Authority to the panel. This could be reviewed at a later date in light of potential changes 
arising from the Home Office’s PCC review and subject to further discussion and 
agreement. 

 
 

3. Implications for the Council 
 

3.1 Working with People 
There are no staffing implications arising from this report. The establishment of the Mayoral 
Combined Authority has staffing implications in terms of additional resources to deliver the 
ambition of the Deal and these will be considered in separate reports at the appropriate point. 

 Page 12



 
3.2 Working with Partners 

The “minded-to” Deal will encourage collaboration on systems, structures and procedures to 
support the area to make decisions, set strategy and manage delivery across a range of 
partners in West Yorkshire. Inclusive Growth is a key priority for West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority and the LEP. Although there are no immediate implications on Inclusive Growth 
arising as a direct result of the report. 

 
3.3  Place Based Working 
 The “minded-to” Deal will put in place appropriate governance structures that reflect the 

needs and opportunities across the West Yorkshire area and the places within it. 
 
3.4 Climate Change 

As part of the “minded-to” Deal text, the Government welcomed West Yorkshire’s 
commitment to becoming a net zero carbon economy by 2038, with significant progress by 
2030.  There are however, no immediate implications on Clean Growth arising as a direct 
result of the report. 

 
3.5 Improving outcomes for children 

The “minded-to” Deal includes measures around funding and functions focused on skills 
and education, including careers advice, apprenticeships and Further Education. 
 

3.6 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
 

 The ‘minded to’ Devolution Deal includes a number of flagship funding arrangements 
including £38m for 30 years into the West Yorkshire Investment Fund, £317m from the 
Transforming Cities Fund and control over the £63m annual Adult Education budget. The 
implications of these and the other funding provisions contained within the ‘minded to’ 
Deal will be subject to future reports. 

 

 It is proposed that this decision is exempt from call-in on the grounds of urgency as any 
delay caused by the call-in process would prejudice the Combined Authority’s and 
Constituent Councils’ interests and delay the consent to the draft Order, which would 
have a significant detrimental impact on the proposed timeline set out in Appendix 1. The 
Chair of Scrutiny would like it noting the exemption is given very reluctantly and 
understands this is entirely down to Government timescales. The Chair would also like it 
to be noted that they believe that there should have been time allowed in the decision-
making timeline from government for exceptions not be to be required. 
 

 S101(5) Local Government Act 1972 provides that two or more local authorities (defined 
to include a Combined Authority) may discharge any of their functions jointly and may 
arrange for the discharge of those functions by an officer of one of the authorities. 
 

 An Equalities Impact Assessments has been undertaken for implementation of the deal. 
The assessment has taken account of the obligations under section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 (i.e. the public sector equality duty). It is not expected that the proposals 
described in this report will have any adverse impacts on people with protected 
characteristics. The Combined Authority will ensure that the equality impact assessments 
are reviewed throughout the devolution implementation process. 

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 13



 
4. Consultees and their opinions 
 
4.1 As part of the statutory process, as set out above, public consultation has been 

undertaken. The summary of the results must be submitted to the Secretary of State 
before an Order creating the West Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority can be made. 

 
4.2 The Leader of the Council supports the recommendations. 
 
4.3 The consultation was discussed by Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee 

formally 9th June and informally 10th July. The Committee also considered the latest 
progress on the devolution deal for West Yorkshire, particularly the draft Order currently 
being developed by Government 29th October 2020. 

 

5. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 

5.1 To consider and comment on the content of this report, along with the draft Order 
attached as Appendix 2. 
 

5.2 To endorse the draft Order attached as Appendix 2, to establish a mayoral combined 
authority and associated changes as set out in the ‘minded to’ Devolution Deal. 

 
5.3 To note the updated timetable set out in Appendix 1 to this report and the next steps 

which are subject to the consent being given by the Constituent Councils and Combined 
Authority, to the Order that the SoS will lay the Order in parliament in December 2020. 
 

5.4 To note Corporate Governance and Audit Committee are currently considering proposed 
governance and reporting arrangements between the proposed Mayoral Authority and 
the Council. 
 

5.5 To note that the decision by Cabinet is exempt and the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee has exempted it from call in on urgency grounds as set out in 
paragraph 3.6 of this report. 
 
Reasons 

 
5.6 The draft Order is consistent with principles set out in  previous cabinet reports and the 

Governance Review and Scheme and the outcome of the consultation that no 
amendments to the  Scheme were submitted to the Secretary of State  save for 
comments by Leeds and Kirklees. Not to consent to the draft Order will mean in all 
practical terms that a Mayoral Combined Authority which was agreed in the” minded to” 
devolution deal could not be implemented. 

 
6. Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s recommendations 

 
6.1 The Leader of the Council supports the recommendations at Paragraph 5 above which 

will support his vision to secure additional investment and opportunities for Kirklees and 
to take decisions affecting our communities within the region. 

 
6.2 The Leader thanks all Kirklees councillors from across different parties in working 

together with us on this to deliver such a ground-breaking deal for West Yorkshire. 
 
7. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Timetable for Implementation 
Appendix 2 – Draft Order Page 14



 
Appendix 3 – Letter from Minister for Regional Growth and Local Government 
 

8. Contact officer  
 
Julie Muscroft – Service Director, Legal Governance and Commissioning – 
julie.muscroft@kirklees.gov.uk– 01484 221000 
Nick Howe – Partnerships and Corporate Planning –  
nick.howe@kirklees.gov.uk– 01484 221000 
Karl Larrad – Legal Governance and Commissioning –  
karl.larrad@kirklees.gov.uk - 01484221000 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

The ‘minded to’ Devolution Deal is referenced as a background document within this 
report. 
 
West Yorkshire Devolution Deal – Review of Governance Arrangements: Cabinet 24th 
March 2020 
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s35794/West%20Yorkshire%20Devolution
%20Deal.pdf 
 
Devolution Deal for West Yorkshire – Review, Scheme and Consultation: Cabinet May 
21st 2020 
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g5962/Agenda%20frontsheet%2021st-
May-2020%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=0 
 
Devolution Deal for West Yorkshire – Consultation outcomes: Cabinet 1st September 
2020 and Council 9th September 2020 
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g6485/Public%20reports%20pack%2001st-
Sep-2020%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 
 
MCA Ready Devolution Implementation – Equality Impact Assessment 

 https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/consultations/west-yorkshire-devolution-consultation/ 
 

 
10. Service Director responsible 

Jacqui Gedman – Chief Executive – 
jacqui.gedman@kirklees.gov.uk – 01484 221000 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 15

mailto:julie.muscroft@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:nick.howe@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:karl.larrad@kirklees.gov.uk
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s35794/West%20Yorkshire%20Devolution%20Deal.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s35794/West%20Yorkshire%20Devolution%20Deal.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g5962/Agenda%20frontsheet%2021st-May-2020%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g5962/Agenda%20frontsheet%2021st-May-2020%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g6485/Public%20reports%20pack%2001st-Sep-2020%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g6485/Public%20reports%20pack%2001st-Sep-2020%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/consultations/west-yorkshire-devolution-consultation/
mailto:jacqui.gedman@kirklees.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 - Devolution Implementation Timetable 

Step
   

Action/Decision  When – proposed 
timescales  
  

Who  

 1  
  

Carry out statutory Review   April - May 2020  Each Constituent Council 
and the Combined Authority 
jointly 

Consider Review outcome and 
resolve:  
 that an Order would be 
likely to improve statutory 
functions  
 agree Scheme for 
publication  
 agree to consult public 
on the Scheme  

W/c 18 May 2020 
 

Each Constituent 
Council, and  
the Combined Authority  
  

 2  Publish Scheme  25 May 2020  Constituent Councils and 
the Combined Authority 
jointly 

 3 Consultation 25 May 2020 - 19 July 2020  Constituent Councils and 
the Combined Authority 
jointly 

 4  Consider outcome of 
consultation and resolve to 
submit a summary of 
responses to the Secretary 
of State  

1-8 September 2020  Each Constituent Council  
and the 
Combined Authority  
  

 5  Secretary of State approves 
proposals set out in Scheme 
and decides to lay draft 
Order/Regulations 

November 2020  Secretary of State  

 5 Consent to draft Order w/c 23 November 2020  Each Constituent Council 
and the 
Combined Authority  

 Draft order scrutinised by the 
JCSI legal advisers 

November 2020 
 

Joint Committee on 
Statutory Instruments 

 Final consent to the order 
sought  

30 November  Constituent Councils and 
the Combined Authority by 
delegation 

 6 Order laid  Early December 2020  Secretary of State  

  Order made and final deal 
published  

January/February 2021  Secretary of State  

- Notice of Mayoral Election  March 2021  Mayoral Combined 
Authority  

-  Election of Mayor  
  

May 2021  -  

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Draft Order laid before Parliament under section 117(2) of the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009, for approval by resolution of each House of Parliament. 

S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

2020 No. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, ENGLAND 

TRANSPORT, ENGLAND 

EDUCATION, ENGLAND 

POLICE, ENGLAND AND WALES 

 

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority (Election of Mayor 

and Functions) Order 2020 

Made - - - - *** 

Coming into force - - *** 

CONTENTS 

PART 1 

General 

 

1. Citation and commencement 4 

2. Interpretation 5 

 

PART 2 

Election of Mayor 

 

3. Election of Mayor 6 

4. Political adviser 6 

 

PART 3 

Education, skills and training functions 

 

5. Concurrent exercise of local authority functions 7 

6. Transfer of functions from the Secretary of State to the Combined Authority 

in relation to the Area 8 

7. Functions of the Secretary of State to be exercisable concurrently with the 

Combined Authority in relation to the Area 9 

Page 19



 

 2 

8. Conditions on the exercise of functions mentioned in articles 6 and 7 9 

9. Modification of provisions in the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and 

Learning Act 2009 9 

 

PART 4 

Housing, regeneration and planning 

 

10. Conferral of functions corresponding to functions that the HCA has in relation 

to the Area 9 

11. Acquisition and appropriation of land for planning and public purposes 10 

12. Condition on the exercise of the functions conferred by articles 10 and 11 11 

13. Application of provisions of 1985 Act, the 1990 Act and the 2008 Act 11 

 

PART 5 

Mayoral development corporation 

 

14. Mayoral development corporation 11 

15. Application of provisions in the 2011 Act 12 

16. Mayoral development corporation: incidental provisions 13 

 

PART 6 

Transport 

 

17. Power to pay grant 14 

18. Grants to bus service operators 15 

19. Agreements between authorities and strategic highways companies 15 

20. Traffic regulation 16 

21. Transport functions related to traffic signs and pedestrian crossings 16 

22. Apparatus affected by highway, bridge or transport works 17 

23. Permit Schemes 17 

24. Bus lane contraventions 18 

 

PART 7 

Additional functions 

 

25. Other functions 19 

26. Data sharing 19 

 

PART 8 

Mayoral functions 

 

27. Functions exercisable only by the Mayor 19 

28. Joint committees 21 

 

PART 9 

Funding 

 

29. Funding 21 

30. Transitional provision 21 

31.–32. Conferral of Business Rate Supplements Functions 22 

Page 20



 

 3 

33. Adaptation of BRS in consequence of article 31 22 

 

PART 10 

Police and Crime Commissioner functions 

 

34. Police and Crime Commissioner functions 22 

35. Transfer of police and crime commissioner functions 23 

36. Transfer of property, rights and liabilities 23 

37. Secondments 24 

38. Continuity 24 

39. Foreign property etc, perfection of vesting 24 

40. Transfers: supplementary provision 24 

41. Extension of financial year of Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief 

Constable for West Yorkshire 25 

42. Modifications to the Local Government Act 1972 26 

 

PART 11 

Amendment of the 2014 Order 

 

43.–44. Amendment of the 2014 Order 26 

 

 SCHEDULE 1 — Modification of provisions of the Apprenticeships, Skills, 

Children and Learning Act 2009 in their application to the 

Combined Authority  

 26 

 SCHEDULE 2   28 

 PART 1 — Modification of the application of Chapter 2 of Part 1 of the 

2008 28 

 PART 2 — Modification of the application of Schedules 2 to 4 to the 2008 

Act 28 

 SCHEDULE 3 — Modification of the application of Part 8 of the 2011 Act 29 

 SCHEDULE 4 — Permit schemes: modification of the application of part 3 of the 

2004 32 

 SCHEDULE 5 — Modifications of police and crime commissioner enactments in 

their application to the mayor 33 

 PART 1 — Primary Legislation 33 

 PART 2 — Secondary Legislation 45 

 SCHEDULE 6 — Exclusion of legislation from application to the combined 

authority mayor with policing and crime functions 52 

 SCHEDULE 7  Schedule 1 - Constitution 54 

 

The Secretary of State makes the following Order in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 

104(1), 105(1) and (3), 105A(1), (2), (3) and (7), 107A, 107D(1), (5), (7) and (8), 107(E)(1) to (4), 

107F(1), (5) and (6),  114(1) and (3), 115, 116, 117(5), paragraph 3 of Schedule 5B and Schedule 

Page 21



 

 4 

5C to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009(a) (“the 2009 

Act”). 

The Secretary of State, having had regard to a scheme prepared and published under section 112 

of the 2009 Act(b), considers that— 

(a) the making of this Order is likely to improve the exercise of statutory functions in the area to 

which the Order relates, and; 

(b) any consultation required by section 113(2) of the 2009 Act(c) has been carried out. 

In making this Order, the Secretary of State has had regard to the need to reflect the identities and 

interests of local communities and the need to secure effective and convenient local 

government(d). 

In accordance with sections 105(3A) and 105B(1) and (2) of the 2009 Act, the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority (“the Combined Authority”) and the councils whose areas are comprised in 

the area of the Combined Authority have consented to the making of this Order(e). 

In accordance with sections 107D(9) and 107F(4) of the 2009 Act the Combined Authority, and 

the councils whose areas are comprised in the area of the Combined Authority have consented to 

the making of this Order. 

In accordance with section 105B(9) of the 2009 Act the Secretary of State has laid before 

Parliament a report explaining the effect of this Order and why the Secretary of State considers it 

appropriate to make this Order. 

A draft of this instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, each House of 

Parliament pursuant to section 117(2) of the 2009 Act. 

Accordingly, the Secretary of State makes the following Order: 

PART 1 

General 

Citation and commencement 

1.—(1) This Order may be cited as the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (Election of Mayor 

and Functions) Order 2020. 

 
(a) 2009 c. 20. Section 104 was amended by sections 8 and 14 of, and Schedule 5 to, the Cities and Local Government 

Devolution Act 2016 (c.1) (“the 2016 Act”). Section 105 was amended by sections 6, 9, and 14 of the 2016 Act. Section 

105A was inserted by section 7 of the 2016 Act. Sections 107D and 107E were inserted by section 4 of the 2016 Act. 
Section 114 was amended by Schedule 5 to the 2016 Act. Section 117 was amended by section 13(2) of the Localism Act 

2011 (c. 20) and Schedule 5 to the 2016 Act. 
(b) Section 112 was amended by sections 6 and 23 of, and paragraphs 17 and 23 of Schedule 5 to, the 2016 Act. 

(c) Section 113 was amended by sections 12, 14 and 23 of, and paragraph 24 of Schedule 5 to, the 2016 Act. 
(d) Section 113(3) of the 2009 Act requires the Secretary of State, when making an order under sections 104, 105, 106 or 107 

of the 2009 Act in relation to an existing combined authority, to have regard to these matters. 
(e) This Order relates to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, which was established by the West Yorkshire Combined 

Authority Order (S.I. 2014/864). 

Page 22



 

 5 

(2) Save as provided in paragraphs (3) and (4) this Order comes into force on the day after the 

day on which it is made. 

(3) Articles 4 and 27 come into force on the fourth day after the day of the election for the return 

of the Mayor. 

(4) Articles 34(1), 35, 36, 37 and 38 come into force on 10th May 2021. 

(5) Articles 6 and 7 of this Order only apply in relation to the provision of education or training 

in an academic year beginning on or after 1st August 2021. 

(6) In paragraph (5), “academic year” means a period beginning with 1st August and ending 

with the next 31st July. 

Interpretation 

2. In this Order— 

“the 1984 Act” means the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984(a); 

“the 1985 Act” means the Housing Act 1985(b); 

“the 1988 Act” means the Road Traffic Act 1988(c); 

“the 1989 Act” means the Local Government and Housing Act 1989(d); 

“the 1990 Act” means the Town and Country Planning Act 1990(e); 

“the 1999 Act” means the Greater London Authority Act 1999(f); 

“the 2003 Act” means the Local Government Act 2003(g); 

“the 2008 Act” means the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008(h); 

“the 2009 Act” means the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 

2009(i); 

“the 2011 Act” except in Part 10 and Schedule 5 means the Localism Act 2011(j), 

“the BRS Act” means the Business Rate Supplements Acts 2009(k); 

“the 1996 Regulations” mean the Local Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 1996(l); 

“the 2014 Order” means the West Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2014(m); 

“adult detention” has the meaning given by section 121(4) of the Apprenticeships, Skills, 

Children and Learning Act 2009; 

“apprenticeship training” has the meaning given by section 83(5) of the Apprenticeships Skills 

Children and Learning Act 2009; 

“the Area” means the area of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority; 

“the Combined Authority” means the West Yorkshire Combined Authority; 

 “Corporation” means a corporation established by the Secretary of State in accordance with 

the provisions in section 198 of the 2011 Act, as modified by Schedule 3, following the 

designation of an area of land by the Combined Authority; 

 
(a) 1984 c. 27. 
(b) 1985 c. 68. 

(c) 1988 c. 52 
(d) 1989 c. 42. 

(e) 1990 c. 8. 
(f) 1999 c. 29. 

(g) 2003 c. 26. 
(h) 2008 c. 17. 

(i) 2009 c. 20. 
(j) 2011 c. 20. 

(k) 2009. C.7. 
(l) S.I. 1996/2489 amended in relation to England by S.I. 2009/1116. 

(m) S.I. 2014/864. 

Page 23



 

 6 

“constituent councils” means the metropolitan district councils for the local government areas 

of Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield; 

“the deputy mayor for policing and crime” means the deputy mayor for policing and crime for 

the Area; 

“election for the return of the mayor” means an election held pursuant to article 3 of this 

Order; 

“the ordinary day of election”, in relation to any year means the day which is the ordinary day 

of election in that year of councillors for counties in England and districts as determined in 

accordance with sections 37 and 37A of the Representation of the People Act 1983. 

“Mayor” means the mayor for the Area, except in the term “Mayor of London”; 

“non-constituent council” means the council for the local government area of York; 

“the police and crime commissioner” means the police and crime commissioner for West 

Yorkshire; 

“the PCC component” means the component of the precept under section 40 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992(a) (as modified by the Combined Authorities (Finance) Order 

2017)(b) in respect of the mayor’s PCC functions; and 

“the PCC component council tax requirement” means the component of the council tax 

requirement calculated under section 42A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as 

modified by the Combined Authorities (Finance) Order 2017) in respect of the mayor’s PCC 

functions. 

PART 2 

Election of Mayor 

Election of Mayor 

3.—(1) There is to be a mayor for the Area. 

(2) The first election for the return of a mayor for the Area is to take place on 6th May 2021. 

(3) Subsequent elections for the return of a mayor for the Area shall take place— 

(a) on the ordinary day of election in 2024, and 

(b) in every fourth year thereafter on the same day as the ordinary day of election. 

(4) The term of office of the mayor returned at an election for the return of a mayor for the 

Area— 

(a) begins with the fourth day after the day of the poll at the election for the return of a mayor 

for the Area, and 

(b) ends with the third day after the day of the poll at the next election for the return of a 

mayor for the Area. 

Political adviser 

4.—(1) The Mayor may appoint one person as the Mayor’s political adviser. 

(2) Any appointment under paragraph (1) is an appointment as an employee of the Combined 

Authority. 

(3) No appointment under paragraph (1) may extend beyond— 

 
(a) 1992 c. 14. Section 42A was inserted by section 75 of the Localism Act 2011 (c. 20) and amended by article 3 of S.I. 

2014/389. Section 107G of the Local Government and Devolution Act 2016 (c.1) provides that, wherever a mayor exercises 

policing and crime commissioner functions, there must be a separate component of the council tax requirement in respect of 
the mayor’s PCC functions. 

(b) S.I. 2017/611. 

Page 24



 

 7 

(a) the term of office for which the Mayor who made the appointment was elected; or 

(b) where the Mayor who made the appointment ceases to be the Mayor before the end of the 

term of office for which the Mayor was elected, the date on which the Mayor ceases to 

hold that office. 

(4) A person appointed under paragraph (1) is to be regarded for the purposes of Part 1 of the 

1989 Act (political restriction of officers and staff) as holding a politically restricted post under a 

local authority. 

(5) Subject to paragraph (6), section 9(1), (8), (9) and (11) of the 1989 Act (assistants for 

political groups(a)), apply in relation to an appointment under paragraph (1) as if— 

(a) any appointment to that post were the appointment of a person in pursuance of that 

section; and 

(b) the Combined Authority were a relevant authority for the purposes of that section. 

(6) Subsection (3) of section 9 of the 1989 Act applies in relation to an appointment under 

paragraph (1) as if the words “and that the appointment terminates” to the end of that subsection 

were omitted. 

PART 3 

Education, skills and training functions 

Concurrent exercise of local authority functions 

5.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils described in the provisions set out in paragraph 

(2), are exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation to the Area. 

(2) The provisions referred to in paragraph (1) are— 

(a) section 51A of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 (duty to provide for named 

individuals(b); 

(b) section 13A of the Education Act 1996 (duty to promote high standards and fulfilment of 

potential(c); 

(c) section 560A of the Education Act 1996 (work experience for persons over compulsory 

school age)(d); 

(d) section 10 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (local authority to promote fulfilment of 

duty imposed by section 2)(e); 

(e) section 12 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (duty to make arrangements to identify 

persons not fulfilling duty imposed by section 2)(f); 

(f) section 68 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (support services: provision by local 

authorities)(g); 

(g) section 70 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (local authorities: supplementary 

powers)(h); 

 
(a) Section 9 was amended by sections 61 and 204 of, and paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to, the Local Government and Public 

Involvement in Health Act 2007 and by S.I. 2001/2237. There are other amendments not relevant to this Order. 
(b) Section 51A was inserted by section 44 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 and was amended 

by S.I. 2010/1158. 
(c) 1996 c. 56. Section 13A was inserted by section 59 of, and paragraph 3 of Schedule 2 to, the Apprenticeships, Skills, 

Children and Learning Act 2009 (c. 22) and amended by section 82 of, and paragraph 4 of Schedule 3 to, the Children and 
Families Act 2014 (c. 6) and by S.I. 2010/1158. 

(d) Section 560A was inserted by section 47 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009. 
(e) Section 10 was amended by S.I. 2010/1158. 

(f) Section 12 was amended by S.I. 2010/1158. 
(g) Section 68 was amended by section 28 of the Education Act 2011 (c. 21) and by S.I. 2010/1158 

(h) Section 70 was amended by section 28 of the Education Act 2011 and by S.I. 2010/1158. 

Page 25



 

 8 

(h) section 71 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (provision of support on conditional 

basis: learning and support agreements)(a); and 

(i) section 85 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (co-operation as regards provision of 14–

19 education and training)(b). 

(3) The functions are exercisable concurrently with the constituent councils. 

(4) Any requirement in any enactment for a constituent council to exercise any of the functions 

referred to in paragraph (1) may be fulfilled by the exercise of that function by the Combined 

Authority. 

(5) The provisions referred to in paragraph (1) apply to the Combined Authority as they apply to 

a constituent council. 

(6) Section 10(c) of the Children Act 2004 (co-operation to ensure well-being) applies to the 

Combined Authority as it applies to a constituent council for the purposes of the provision of 14-

19 education or training in the Area within the meaning of section 85(5) of the Education and 

Skills Act 2008. 

Transfer of functions from the Secretary of State to the Combined Authority in relation to 

the Area 

6.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), the functions of the Secretary of State set out in the following 

provisions of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009(d)are exercisable by 

the Combined Authority in relation to the Area— 

(a) section 86 (education and training for persons aged 19 or over and others subject to adult 

detention)(e); 

(b) section 87 (learning aims for persons aged 19 or over: provision of facilities)(f); and 

(c) section 88 (learning aims for persons aged 19 or over: payment of tuition fees)(g). 

(2) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) do not include — 

(a) any functions relating to apprenticeship training; 

(b) any functions relating to persons subject to adult detention; or 

(c) any power to make regulations or orders. 

(3) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) are exercisable by the Combined Authority instead 

of by the Secretary of State. 

 
(a) Section 71 was amended by section 28 of the Education Act 2011.  

(b) Section 85 was amended by S.I. 2010/1158. 
(c) 2004 c. 31. Section 10 was amended by section 39 of and paragraph 4 of Schedule 3 to the Offender Management Act 2007 

(c. 21), section 169 of and paragraphs 82 and 83 of Part 2 of Schedule 1 to the Education and Skills Act 2008, section 193 
and 266 of and Part 5 of Schedule 16 to the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009, sections 99 of and 

paragraphs 330 and 331 of Part 3 of Schedule 16 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (c. 13), section 
67 of and paragraph 23 of Schedule 16 to the Education Act 2011 (c. 21), section 55 of and paragraphs 127 and 128 of 

Schedule 5 to the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c. 7), section 82 of and paragraph 80 of Part 2 of Schedule 3 to the 
Children and Families Act 2014 (c. 6), and by SI 2010/1158. 

(d) 2009 c. 22. 
(e) Section 86 was amended by paragraphs 1, 2 and 9 of Part 1 of Schedule 14 to the Deregulation Act 2015 (c.20); by 

paragraphs 88 and 90 of Part 2 of Schedule 3 to the Children and Families Act 2014 (c. 6); and by section 30 of, and 
paragraphs 1 and 7 of Schedule 18 to, the Education Act 2011 (c.21). 

(f) Section 87 was amended by paragraphs 1 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 14 to the Deregulation Act 2015; and by paragraph 
91 of Part 2 of Schedule 3 to the Children and Families Act 2014. 

(g) Subsection (1) is amended by section 114(2) of the Digital Economy Act 2017 (c. 30), on a date to be appointed. Section 88 
was amended by paragraph 11 of Part 1 of Schedule 14 to the Deregulation Act 2015 and by section 73 of the Education 

Act 2011. 

Page 26



 

 9 

Functions of the Secretary of State to be exercisable concurrently with the Combined 

Authority in relation to the Area 

7.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), the functions of the Secretary of State set out in the following 

provisions of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 are exercisable by the 

Combined Authority in relation to the Area— 

(a) section 90 (encouragement of education and training for persons aged 19 or over and 

others subject to adult detention); and 

(b) section 100(1) (provision of financial resources)(a). 

(2) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) do not include— 

(a) any function relating to apprenticeships training; or 

(b) any function relating to persons subject to adult detention. 

(3) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) are exercisable concurrently with the Secretary of 

State in relation to the Area. 

Conditions on the exercise of functions mentioned in articles 6 and 7 

8.—(1) The Combined Authority must adopt rules of eligibility for awards by an institution to 

which it makes grants, loans or other payments under section 100 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, 

Children and Learning Act 2009 in accordance with any direction given by the Secretary of State. 

(2) In exercising the functions mentioned in articles 6 and 7, the Combined Authority must have 

regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State for the purpose of this article (as amended from 

time to time or as replaced by a subsequent document)(b). 

(3) In subsection (1), “award” has the same meaning as in regulation 2 of the Fees and Awards 

(England) Regulations 2007(c). 

Modification of provisions in the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 

9.—(1) For the purpose of the exercise by the Combined Authority of the functions mentioned 

in articles 6 and 7 sections 86 to 88, 90, 100, 101, 103, 115 and 121 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, 

Children and Learning Act 2009 apply in relation to the Combined Authority with the 

modifications set out in Schedule 1. 

PART 4 

Housing, regeneration and planning 

Conferral of functions corresponding to functions that the HCA has in relation to the Area 

10.—(1) The functions of the Homes and Communities Agency (“HCA”) which are specified in 

the following provisions of the 2008 Act are to be functions of the Combined Authority that are 

exercisable in relation to the Area— 

(a) section 5 (powers to provide housing or other land); 

(b) section 6 (powers for regeneration, development or effective use of land); 

(c) section 7 (powers in relation to infrastructure); 

 
(a) Section 100 was amended by section 27 of the Enterprise Act 2016 (c. 12); by Schedules 1 and 14 to the Deregulation Act 

2015; and by paragraphs 1 and 9 of Schedule 18 to the Education Act 2011. 
(b) The Secretary of State’s guidance was published on 23rd July 2018 and is available at 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/730012/The_exercise_of_ 
devolved_adult_education_functions.pdf. Copies are available on request from the Department for Education, 20 Great 

Smith Street, London SW1P 3BT. 
(c) S.I. 2007/779, as amended by S.I. 2007/2263, S.I. 2010/1172, S.I. 2010/1941, S.I. 2011/87, S.I. 2011/1043, S.I. 2011/1987, 

S.I. 2012/765, S.I. 2012/956, S.I. 2012/1653, S.I. 2015/971, S.I. 2016/584, S.I. 2017/114, and S.I. 2018/137. 

Page 27



 

 10 

(d) section 8 (powers to deal with land etc); 

(e) section 9 (acquisition of land); 

(f) section 10 (restrictions on disposal of land); 

(g) section 11 (main powers in relation to acquired land)(a); 

(h) section 12 (powers in relation to, and for, statutory undertakers); 

(i) paragraphs 19 and 20 of Schedule 3 (powers in relation to burial grounds and consecrated 

land etc); and 

(j) paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 10 and 20 of Schedule 4 (extinguishment or removal powers for 

the HCA). 

(2) The Combined Authority must exercise the functions described in the provisions specified in 

paragraph (1) for the purposes of, or for purposes incidental to the objective of — 

(a) improving the supply and quality of housing in the Area; 

(b) securing the regeneration or development of land or infrastructure in the Area; 

(c) supporting in other ways the creation, regeneration or development of communities in the 

Area or their continued well-being; and 

(d) contributing to the achievement of sustainable development and good design in the Area, 

with a view to meeting the needs of people living in the Area. 

(3) The functions described in the provisions specified in paragraph (1) are— 

(a) exercisable concurrently with the HCA; and 

(b) subject to Schedules 2 (acquisition of land) and 3 (main powers in relation to land 

acquired by the HCA) to the 2008 Act. 

(4) In paragraph (2) “good design” and “needs” have the meanings given by section 2(2) of the 

2008 Act and the reference to improving the supply of housing includes a reference to improving 

the supply of particular kinds of housing. 

Acquisition and appropriation of land for planning and public purposes 

11. The functions of the constituent councils specified in the following provisions as applied by 

article 13(2) to (5) are exercisable by the combined authority in relation to the Area— 

(a) section 226 of the 1990 Act (compulsory acquisition of land for development and other 

planning purposes)(b); 

(b) section 227 of the 1990 Act (acquisition of land by agreement); 

(c) section 229 of the 1990 Act (appropriation of land forming part of common, etc); 

(d) section 230(1)(a) of the 1990 Act (acquisition of land for purposes of exchange); 

(e) section 232 of the 1990 Act (appropriation of land held for planning purposes); 

(f) section 233 of the 1990 Act (disposal by local authorities of land held for planning 

purposes)(c); 

(g) section 235 of the 1990 Act (development of land held for planning purposes); 

(h) section 236 of the 1990 Act (extinguishment of rights over land compulsorily 

acquired)(d); 

(i) section 238 of the 1990 Act (use and development of consecrated land); 

(j) section 239 of the 1990 Act (use and development of burial grounds); 

 
(a) Section 11 was amended by section 32(1) and (2) of the Infrastructure Act 2015. 
(b) Section 226 was amended by sections 79, 99 and 120 of, and paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 and paragraph 1 of Schedule 9 to, 

the 2004 Act. 
(c) Section 233 was amended by section 8 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 (c. 27). 

(d) Section 236 was amended by section 406 of, and paragraph 103 of Schedule 17 to, the Communications Act 2003 (c. 21). 

Page 28

http://uk.westlaw.com/Document/I11EC09A0E44C11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.DocLink)


 

 11 

(k) section 241 of the 1990 Act (use and development of open spaces); 

(l) section 17 of the 1985 Act (acquisition of land for housing purposes)(a); and 

(m) section 18 of the 1985 Act (duties with respect to buildings acquired for housing 

purposes). 

(2) The functions are exercisable concurrently with the constituent councils. 

Condition on the exercise of the functions conferred by articles 10 and 11 

12. The exercise of the functions in section 17 of the 1985 Act (insofar as this function is 

exercised for the compulsory purchase of land), 9(2) of the 2008 Act and section 226 of the 1990 

Act by the Combined Authority requires the consent of — 

(a) each member of the Combined Authority appointed under paragraph 1 (2) of Schedule 7 

to this Order whose area contains any part of the land subject to the proposed compulsory 

acquisition, or 

(b) substitute members acting in place of those members, 

to be provided at a meeting of the Combined Authority. 

Application of provisions of 1985 Act, the 1990 Act and the 2008 Act 

13.—(1) This article has effect in consequence of articles 10 and 11. 

(2) The provisions set out in section 17 of the 1985 Act (acquisition of land for housing 

purposes) apply to the Combined Authority as they apply to a constituent council. 

(3) For the purposes of article 11(1)(l) and (m) the Combined Authority is to be treated as a 

local housing authority for the Area(b). 

(4) Part 9 of the 1990 Act (acquisition and appropriation of land for planning purposes, etc) 

applies in relation to the Combined Authority and land which has been vested in or acquired by 

the Combined Authority for planning and public purposes as it applies to a constituent council and 

land vested in or acquired by a constituent council for planning and public purposes. 

(5) Chapters 1 and 2 of Part 1 of and Schedules 2 to 4 to, the 2008 Act apply in relation to the 

powers of the Combined Authority to acquire land for housing and infrastructure under those 

functions as they apply to the HCA and land acquired by the HCA with the modifications made by 

Parts 1 and 2 of Schedule 2. 
 

PART 5 

Mayoral development corporation 

Mayoral development corporation 

14.—(1) The Combined Authority has, in relation to the Area, functions corresponding to the 

functions described in the provisions in the 2011 Act referred to in paragraph (2), that the Mayor 

of London has in relation to Greater London. 

(2) The provisions in the 2011 Act referred to in paragraph (1) are— 

(a) section 197 (designation of Mayoral development areas); 

(b) section 199 (exclusion of land from Mayoral development areas); 

(c) section 200 (transfers of property etc to a Mayoral development corporation)(a); 

 
(a) Section 17 was amended by section 222 of, and paragraph 24 of Schedule 18 to, the Housing Act 1996 (c. 52). 
(b) In section 1 of the 1985 Act “local housing authority” means a district council, a London borough council, the Common 

Council of the City of London, a Welsh county council or county borough council or the Council of the Isles of Scilly. 

Page 29



 

 12 

(d) section 202 (functions in relation to town and country planning); 

(e) section 204 (removal or restriction of planning functions); 

(f) section 214 (powers in relation to discretionary relief from non-domestic rates); 

(g) section 215 (reviews); 

(h) section 216 (transfers of property, rights and liabilities)(b); 

(i) section 217 (dissolution: final steps); 

(j) section 219 (guidance by the Mayor); 

(k) section 220 (directions by the Mayor); 

(l) section 221 (consents); 

(m) paragraph 1 of Schedule 21 (membership); 

(n) paragraph 2 of Schedule 21 (terms of appointment of members); 

(o) paragraph 3 of Schedule 21 (staff); 

(p) paragraph 4 of Schedule 21 (remuneration etc: members and staff); 

(q) paragraph 6 of Schedule 21 (committees); and 

(r) paragraph 8 of Schedule 21 (proceedings and meetings). 

Application of provisions in the 2011 Act 

15.—(1) Chapter 2 of Part 8 of the 2011 Act (Mayoral development corporations) applies in 

relation to the Combined Authority as it applies in relation to the Mayor of London, with the 

modifications made by Schedule 3. 

(2) Chapter 2 of Part 8 of the 2011 Act applies in relation to a Corporation as it applies in 

relation to a Mayoral development corporation, with the modifications made by Schedule 3. 

(3) Subject to paragraph (6), in any enactment (whenever passed or made)— 

(a) any reference to a Mayoral development corporation; or 

(b) any reference which falls to be read as a reference to a Mayoral development corporation, 

is to be treated as including a reference to a Corporation. 

(4) For the purposes of any transfer scheme relating to a Corporation under any provisions of the 

2011 Act applied with modifications by this Order, paragraph 9 of Schedule 24 to the 2011 Act 

(transfers under scheme under section 200(1) or (4) or 216(1)) applies in relation to— 

(a) any property, rights or liabilities transferred to or from a Corporation in accordance with a 

transfer scheme; or 

(b) anything done for the purposes of, or in relation to, or in consequence of, the transfer of 

any property, rights or liabilities to or from a Corporation in accordance with such a 

transfer scheme, 

as it applies in relation to a Mayoral development corporation. 

(5) For the purposes of establishing a Corporation, giving the Corporation a name, giving effect 

to any decisions notified to the Secretary of State (under sections 199(4) (exclusion of land from 

Mayoral development areas), 202(8) (decisions about planning functions), or 214(6) (powers in 

relation to discretionary relief from non-domestic rates) of the 2011 Act or in relation to the 

transfer of land to or from a Corporation under any provision of the 2011 Act, applied with 

modifications by this Order, section 235 of the 2011 Act (orders and regulations) applies in 

relation to— 

 
(a) Section 200 was amended by section 151(1) of, and paragraphs 174 and 178 of Part 2 of Schedule 4 to, the Co-operative 

and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 (c. 14). 
(b) Section 216(4) was amended by section 151(1) of, and paragraphs 174 and 179 of Part 2 of Schedule 4 to, the Co-operative 

and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

Page 30



 

 13 

(a) the power of a Minister of the Crown to make an order under sections 198(2) (mayoral 

development corporations: establishment) and 200(6) (transfers of property etc to a 

Mayoral development corporation) of that Act; and 

(b) the power of the Treasury to make regulations under paragraph 9(2) of Schedule 24 to 

that Act, 

as it applies in relation to the establishment of a Mayoral development corporation, giving the 

corporation a name, giving effect to any decisions notified to the Secretary of State (under sections 

199(4), 202(8) and 214(6) of the 2011 Act) or in relation to the transfer of land to or from a 

Mayoral development corporation. 

(6) Paragraph (3) does not apply to— 

(a) paragraph 9(8)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Channel Tunnel Rail Link Act 1996 (works: 

further and supplementary provisions)(a); 

(b) section 31(1A) of the 1999 Act (limits of the general power)(b); 

(c) section 38 of the 1999 Act (delegation)(c); 

(d) section 60A(3) of the 1999 Act (confirmation hearings etc for certain appointments by the 

Mayor)(d); 

(e) section 68(6) of the 1999 Act (disqualification and political restriction)(e); 

(f) section 73 of the 1999 Act (monitoring office(f); 

(g) section 403B of the 1999 Act (acquisition of land by MDC and TFL for shared 

purposes)(g); 

(h) section 424 of the 1999 Act (interpretation)(h); 

(i) section 24(4) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (conformity with 

spatial development strategy)(i); and 

(j) paragraph 8(8)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Crossrail Act 2008 (works: further and 

supplementary provisions)(j). 

(7) In this article “transfer scheme” means a transfer scheme under section 200(1) or (4) or 

216(1) of the 2011 Act. 

Mayoral development corporation: incidental provisions 

16.—(1) The following provisions of the 1989 Act apply in relation to a Corporation as if it 

were a local authority— 

(a) section 1 (disqualification and political restriction of certain officers and staff)(a), and 

 
(a) 1996 c. 61. Paragraph 9(8) of Schedule 2 was amended by paragraph 43 of Schedule 22 to the 2011 Act 

(b) Section 31 was amended by section 186 of, and paragraphs 44 and 45 of Schedule 22 and Parts 31 and 32 of Schedule 25 to, 
the 2011 Act, section 33 of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and by S.I. 2012/1530. 

(c) Section 38 was amended by paragraphs 36 and 37 of Schedule 19, paragraphs 4 and 5 of Schedule 20, paragraphs 44 and 46 
of Schedule 22 and Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2011 Act, section 28 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 (c. 27) and 

article 2 of S.I. 2012/1530. 
(d) Section 60A was inserted by section 4 of the Greater London Authority Act 2007 (c. 24) and amended by section 224 of the 

Planning Act 2008 (c. 29), section 20 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, paragraphs 44 and 47 of 
Schedule 22 and Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2011 Act and articles 1, 2 and 36 of S.I. 2008/2038. 

(e) Section 68 was amended by paragraphs 44 and 48 of Schedule 22 and Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2011 Act. 
(f) Section 73 was amended by sections 7 and 9 of, and Schedule 2 to, the Greater London Authority Act 2007, paragraph 16 of 

Part 2 of Schedule 12 to the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, paragraphs 36 and 38 of 
Schedule 19, paragraphs 44 and 49 of Schedule 22, Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2009 Act and paragraphs 1 and 5 of Part 1 

to the Schedule to S.I. 2000/1435. 
(g) Section 403B was inserted by section 36(1) and (2) of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 

(h) Section 424 was amended by section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006 (c. 46), sections 11, 12, 21, 22 of the Greater London 
Authority Act 2007, section 3 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and paragraphs 44 and 52 of 

Schedule 22 and Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2011 Act. 
(i) 2004 c. 5. Section 24 was amended by paragraph 15 of Schedule 5 and paragraph 1 of Part 4 of Schedule 7 to the 2009 Act 

and by paragraphs 54 and 55 of Schedule 22 to the 2011 Act 
(j) 2008 c. 18. Paragraph 8 of Schedule 2 to the Crossrail Act 2008 was amended by paragraph 58 of Schedule 22 to the 2011 

Act. 

Page 31



 

 14 

(b) sections 2 and 3A (politically restricted posts and exemptions from restriction) so far as 

they have effect for the purposes of that section. 

(2) Section 5 of the 1989 Act (designation and reports of monitoring officer)(b) applies in 

relation to the Combined Authority as if a Corporation were a committee of the Combined 

Authority. 

(3) Section 32 of the 2003 Act applies in relation to expenditure of a Corporation but as if— 

(a) each reference to a functional body were a reference to a Corporation; 

(b) each reference to the Greater London Authority were a reference to the Combined 

Authority; 

(c) each reference to the Mayor of London were a reference to the Mayor; and 

(4) subsection (7) were omitted. 

PART 6 

Transport 

Power to pay grant 

17.—(1) The functions of a Minister of the Crown specified in section 31 of the 2003 Act 

(power to pay grant) are functions of the Combined Authority that are exercisable in relation to the 

Area. 

(2) The functions are exercisable by the Combined Authority concurrently with a Minister of the 

Crown. 

(3) Paragraph (4) applies where, in exercising functions referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2), the 

Combined Authority determines an amount of grant to be paid towards expenditure incurred or to 

be incurred by a constituent council in relation to the exercise of its highway functions. 

(4) In determining that amount, the Combined Authority must have regard to the desirability of 

ensuring that the constituent council has sufficient funds to facilitate the effective discharge of 

those functions. 

(5) To comply with paragraph (4), the Combined Authority must take into account any other 

sources of funding available to the constituent council for expenditure incurred or to be incurred in 

relation to the exercise of its highway functions. 

(6) For the purposes of the exercise by the Combined Authority of the functions specified in 

paragraphs (1) and (2), section 31 of the 2003 Act has effect as if— 

(a) in subsection (1)— 

(i) the reference to a Minister of the Crown were a reference to the Combined 

Authority; 

(ii) the reference to a local authority in England were a reference to a constituent 

council; 

(b) subsection (2) were omitted; 

 
(a) Section 1 was amended by section 80 of the Local Government Act 1972 , Part 3 of Schedule 1 to the House of Commons 

Disqualification Act 1975 (c. 24), paragraphs 199 and 200 of Part 2 of Schedule 16 to the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 and by section 123 of and paragraph 61 of Schedule 1 to the Policing and Crime Act 2017 (c. 3). 

(b) Section 5 was amended by Part 1 of Schedule 4 to the Police and Magistrates’ Courts Act 1994 (c. 29), paragraph 1 of 
Schedule 7 to the Police Act 1996 (c. 16), section 132 of the 1999 Act, paragraph 24 of Schedule 5 to the Local Government 

Act 2000 (c. 22), paragraph 14 of Part 2 to Schedule 12 and Part 14 of Schedule 18 to the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007, paragraphs 12 and 13 of Schedule 14 and Part 4 of Schedule 22 to the Marine and Coastal 

Access Act 2009 (c. 23), paragraphs 199 and 202 of Part 3 of Schedule 16 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility 
Act 2011, sections 6 and 9 of and paragraph 63 of Schedule 1 and paragraph 88 of Schedule 2 to the Policing and Crime Act 

2017 and articles 1(2), 2(l) and 23(1)(a) to (f) of SI 2001/2237. 

Page 32



 

 15 

(c) in subsections (3) and (4), the references to the person paying it (the grant) were 

references to the Combined Authority; 

(d) subsection (6) were omitted. 

(7) In this article “highway functions” means functions exercisable by a constituent council (in 

whatever capacity) in relation to the highways for which it is the highway authority. 

Grants to bus service operators 

18.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) to (4), the Combined Authority shall have in relation to the 

Area a function corresponding to the function in section 154(1) of the Transport Act 2000 (grants 

to bus service operators) which the Secretary of State has in relation to England. 

(2) For the purpose of paragraph (1), section 154(1) of the Transport Act 2000 shall have effect 

as if “with the approval of the Treasury” were omitted. 

(3) Grants made under paragraph (1) must be— 

(a) calculated in accordance with such method as may be provided by any regulations made 

by the Secretary of State by virtue of section 154(2) of the Transport Act 2000; and 

(b) subject to sub-paragraph (a), of such amount and subject to such conditions (including 

conditions requiring their repayment in specified circumstances) as may be determined by 

the Secretary of State by virtue of section 154(3) of the Transport Act 2000 and notified 

to the Combined Authority. 

(4) Grants must not be made under paragraph (1) to the extent that eligible bus services operate 

outside the Area. 

(5) In this article, “eligible bus services” has the meaning given by section 154(5) of the 

Transport Act 2000. 

Agreements between authorities and strategic highways companies 

19.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils specified in section 6 of the 1980 Act (powers 

to enter into agreements with the Minister or strategic highways companies relating to the exercise 

of functions with respect to trunk roads etc)(a) are exercisable by the Combined Authority in 

relation to the Area. 

(2) The functions of the constituent councils as local highway authorities specified in section 8 

of the 1980 Act (power to enter into agreements with local highway authorities and strategic 

highways companies for the doing of certain works)(b) are exercisable by the Combined Authority 

in relation to the Area. 

(3) The functions referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2) are exercisable by the Combined 

Authority concurrently with the constituent councils. 

(4) In this article— 

(a) “the 1980 Act” means the Highways Act 1980(c); 

(b) “local highway authority” has the meaning given by section 329(1) of the 1980 Act(d). 

(5) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraph (1) requires the consent of each 

member of the Combined Authority appointed by a constituent council pursuant to paragraph 1 (2) 

of Schedule 7 to this Order.  
 

 
(a) Section 6 was amended by section 8 of, and paragraph 4 of Schedule 4 to, the Local Government Act 1985 (c. 51), section 

22 of, and paragraph 2 of Schedule 7 to, the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 (c. 19), section 1 of, and paragraph 7 of 

Schedule 1to, the Infrastructure Act 2015, and S.I. 1995/1986. 
(b) Section 8 was amended by section 22 of, and paragraph 3 of Schedule 7 to, the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994, 

section 8 of, and paragraph 5 of Schedule 4 to, the Local Government Act 1985, and section 1 of, and paragraph 8 of 
Schedule 1to, the Infrastructure Act 2015. 

(c) 1980 c. 66. 
(d) This definition in section 329(1) of the 1980 Act was amended by paragraph 60(1) of Schedule 1 to the Infrastructure Act 

2015 

Page 33



 

 16 

Traffic regulation 

20.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils as local traffic authorities specified in the 

following provisions of the 1984 Act are exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation to the 

Area— 

(a) section 1 (traffic regulation orders outside Greater London)(a); 

(b) section 2(4) (what a traffic regulation order may provide)(b); 

(c) section 9 (experimental traffic schemes)(c); 

(2) The functions specified in paragraph (1) are exercisable by the Combined Authority 

concurrently with the constituent councils. 

(3) Part 1 of, and Schedule 9 to, the 1984 Act apply in relation to the exercise by the Combined 

Authority of the functions specified in paragraph (1) as they apply in relation to the exercise by the 

constituent councils of those functions. 

(4) The 1996 Regulations apply in relation to orders made or proposed to be made by the 

Combined Authority in exercise of the functions specified in paragraph (1) as they apply in 

relation to orders made or proposed to be made by the constituent councils in exercise of those 

functions. 

(5) For the purposes of paragraph (4), references in the 1996 Regulations to an order making 

authority are to be read as including references to the Combined Authority. 

(6) In this article “local traffic authority” has the meaning given by section 121A(d) of the 1984 

Act. 

(7) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraph (1) requires the consent of each 

member of the Combined Authority appointed by a constituent council pursuant to paragraph 1 (2) 

of Schedule 7 to this Order.  

Transport functions related to traffic signs and pedestrian crossings 

21.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils as local traffic authorities specified in the 

following provisions of the 1984 Act are exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation to the 

Area— 

(a) section 23 (pedestrian crossings); and 

(b) section 65 (placing of traffic signs). 

(2) The functions specified in paragraph (1) are exercisable by the Combined Authority 

concurrently with the constituent councils. 

(3) ) In consequence of subparagraphs (a) and (b) of paragraph (1) the Combined Authority, in 

the discharge of the functions conferred on it by those provisions— 

(a) is to be treated as a highway authority for the purposes of sections 62 and 278 of the 

Highways Act 1980(e); and 

(b) is to be treated as a local traffic authority for the roads over which the functions are 

exercised. 

 
(a) Section 1 was amended by paragraph 17 of Schedule 8 to the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, paragraph 36 of 

Schedule 22 to the Environment Act 1995 (c. 25), paragraph 7 of Schedule 11 to the Transport Act 2000, section 45 of the 

Local Transport Act 2008, and paragraph 71 of Schedule 1 to the Infrastructure Act 2015. 
(b) Subsection (4) was amended by paragraph 18 of Schedule 8 to the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991. 

(c) Section 9 was amended by paragraph 23 of Schedule 8 to the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, paragraph 24 of 
Schedule 4 to the Road Traffic Act 1991 (c. 40), paragraph 4 of the Local Government Act 1985 (c. 51), and paragraph 74 

of Schedule 1 to the Infrastructure Act 2015. 
(d) Section 121A was inserted by paragraph 70 of Schedule 8 to the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (c. 22). It was 

subsequently amended by section 271 of the 1999 Act, paragraph 95 of Schedule 1 to the Infrastructure Act 2015, and S.I. 
1999/1820 and S.I. 2001/1400. 

(e) 1980 c. 66; section 62 was amended by the Transport Act 1981 (c. 56), Schedule 10, paragraph 1, by the Traffic Calming 
Act 1992 (c. 30) section 1(1), 3 and by the Local Government Act 1985 (c. 51) Schedule 17; section 278 was substituted by 

the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 section 23. 

Page 34

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I61556470E44A11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6453B050E44A11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IEFD4FEF0E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Default)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I750B20A0E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Default)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6033D990E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Default)


 

 17 

(4) In this article “local traffic authority” has the meaning given by section 121A(a) of the 1984 

Act. 

(5) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraph (1) requires the consent of each 

member of the Combined Authority appointed by a constituent council pursuant to paragraph 1 (2) 

of Schedule 7 to this Order. 

Apparatus affected by highway, bridge or transport works 

22.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils as highway authorities specified in the 

following enactments are exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation to the Area— 

(a) Sections 83, 84 and 85 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991(b); and 

(b) the 2000 Regulations. 

(2) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) are exercisable by the Combined Authority 

concurrently with the constituent councils. 

(3) The 2000 Regulations apply in relation to the sharing of costs of diversionary works between 

the Combined Authority and undertakers as they apply in relation to the sharing of costs of 

diversionary works between a constituent council and undertakers. 

(4) For the purposes of paragraph (3), references in the 2000 Regulations to an authority are to 

be read as including references to the Combined Authority. 

(5) In this article— 

(a) “the 2000 Regulations” means the Street Works (Sharing of Costs of Works) (England) 

Regulations 2000(c); 

(b) “undertaker” has the same meaning as in sections 48(4) and (5) (streets, street works and 

undertakers) and 89(4) (public sewers, sewer authorities and related matters) of the 1991 

Act(d); and 

(c) “diversionary works” has the meaning given by regulation 2(1) of the 2000 Regulations. 

(6) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraph (1) requires the consent of each 

member of the Combined Authority appointed by a constituent council pursuant to Article 1(2) of 

Schedule 7 to this Order. 

Permit Schemes 

23.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils as local highway authorities specified in the 

following provisions of the 2004 Act are exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation to the 

Area— 

(a) section 33 (preparation of permit schemes)(e); 

(b) section 33A (implementation of permit schemes of strategic highways companies and 

local highway authorities in England)(f); and 

(c) section 36 (variation and revocation of permit schemes)(g). 

(2) The functions of the constituent councils as permit authorities specified in the 2007 

Regulations are exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation to the Area. 

 
(a) Section 121A was inserted by paragraph 70 of Schedule 8 to the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (c. 22). It was 

subsequently amended by section 271 of the 1999 Act, paragraph 95 of Schedule 1 to the Infrastructure Act 2015, and S.I. 

1999/1820 and S.I. 2001/1400. 
(b) Section 83 was amended by section 40 of, and Schedule 1 to the Traffic Management Act 2004 (c. 18). 

(c) S.I. 2000/3314. 
(d) Section 48 was amended by section 124 of the Local Transport Act 2008 (c. 26) and section 89 was amended by Schedule 1 

to the Water Consolidation (Consequential Provisions) Act 1991 (c. 60) and section 57 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 
(c. 18). 

(e) Section 33 was amended by section 51 of, and Schedule 10 to, the Deregulation Act 2015 (c. 20). 
(f) Section 33A was inserted by section 51 of, and Schedule 10 to, the Deregulation Act 2015. 

(g) Section 36 was substituted by section 51 of, and Schedule 10 to, the Deregulation Act 2015. 

Page 35

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I7051D390E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I7051D390E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I319310A0E44C11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I31C3BD90E44C11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I3590FFF1E45111DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2008/26
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1991/60
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2004/18
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2004/18


 

 18 

(3) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) and (2) are exercisable by the Combined Authority 

concurrently with the constituent councils. 

(4) Part 3 of the 2004 Act (permit schemes) applies in relation to the preparation, 

implementation, variation and revocation of permit schemes by the Combined Authority as it 

applies in relation to the preparation, implementation, variation and revocation of permit schemes 

by a constituent council, subject to the modifications in Schedule 4. 

(5) The 2007 Regulations apply in relation to the content, preparation, operation, variation and 

revocation of permit schemes by the Combined Authority as they apply in relation to the content, 

preparation, operation, variation and revocation of permit schemes by a constituent council. 

(6) For the purposes of paragraph (5), references in the 2007 Regulations to a Permit Authority 

are to be read as including references to the Combined Authority. 

(7) In this article— 

(a) “permit scheme” is to be construed in accordance with section 32 of the 2004 Act; and 

(b) “the 2007 Regulations” means the Traffic Management Permit Scheme (England) 

Regulations 2007(a). 

(8) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraphs (1) and (2) requires the consent of 

each member of the Combined Authority appointed by a constituent council pursuant to Article 

1(2) of Schedule 7 to this Order. 

Bus lane contraventions 

24.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils in relation to each of their civil enforcement 

areas are exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation to the Enforcement Area. 

(2) The functions are exercisable by the Combined Authority (in relation to the Enforcement 

Area) concurrently with each constituent council (in relation to its civil enforcement area). 

(3) For the purposes of this article, the Combined Authority is to be treated as an approved local 

authority(b) for the Enforcement Area, and references in the 2005 Regulations to an approved 

local authority or to the combined area of such an authority are to be construed accordingly. 

(4) In this article— 

(a) “the 2005 Regulations” means the Bus Lane Contraventions (Penalty Charges, 

Adjudication and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2005(c); 

(b) “civil enforcement area” means an area falling within Schedule 8 to the Traffic 

Management Act 2004 (civil enforcement areas and enforcement authorities)(d) and 

which falls within a constituent council’s area; 

(c) “Enforcement Area” means the area comprising the civil enforcement areas of the 

constituent councils. 

(5) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraph (1) requires the consent of each 

member of the Combined Authority appointed by a constituent council pursuant to Article 1(2) of 

Schedule 7 to this Order. 

 
(a) S.I. 2007/3372, amended by S.I. 2015/958. 

(b) Under section 144(3) of the 2000 Act an authority is an approved local authority if an order has been made designating the 
whole or any part of its area as a civil enforcement area for parking contraventions, and the Secretary of State has made an 

order specifying it as an approved local authority 
(c) S.I. 2005/2757. 

(d) 2004 c. 18. 

Page 36



 

 19 

PART 7 

Additional functions 

Other functions 

25.—(1) The function of the constituent councils described in section 69 of the 2009 Act (duty 

to prepare an assessment of economic conditions) is exercisable by the Combined Authority in 

relation the Area. 

(2) The function referred to in paragraph (1) is exercisable concurrently with the constituent 

councils. 

(3) Any requirement in any enactment for a constituent council to exercise such a function may 

be fulfilled by the exercise of that function by the Combined Authority. 

(4) The provisions referred to in paragraph (1) apply to the Combined Authority as they apply to 

a constituent council. 

Data sharing 

26.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils described in section 17A (sharing of 

information) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998(a) are exercisable by the Combined Authority in 

relation to the Area. 

(2) The Combined Authority is a relevant authority for the purposes of section 115 (disclosure 

of information) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998(b). 

(3) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) are exercisable concurrently with the constituent 

councils. 

PART 8 

Mayoral functions 

Functions exercisable only by the Mayor 

27.—(1) The functions of the Combined Authority specified in paragraph (2) are general 

functions exercisable only by the Mayor. 

(2) The functions referred to in paragraph (1) are the functions of the Combined Authority 

corresponding to the functions in the following enactments— 

(a) sections 197, 199, 200, 202, 204, 214 to 217, 219 to 221 of and paragraphs 1 to 4, 6 and 8 

of Schedule 21 to the 2011 Act; 

(b) section 154(1) of the Transport Act 2000 (grants to bus service operators); 

(c) section 17(3) of the 1985 Act; 

(d) section 9 (2) of the 2008 Act; 

(e) Section 31 of the 2003 Act; and 

(f) sections 108 (local transport plans), 109 (further provision about plans: England) and 112 

(plans and strategies: supplementary) of the Transport Act 2000 Act(a); 

 
(a) Section 17A was inserted by section 22 of, and paragraph 5 of Schedule 9 to, the Police and Justice Act 2006 (c. 48) 

(b) Section 115 was amended by section 74 of, and paragraphs 150 and 151 of Part 2 of Schedule 7 to, the Criminal Justice and 
Court Services Act 2000 (c. 43); section 97 of the Police Reform Act 2002 (c. 30); section 219 of the Housing Act 2004 (c. 

34); section 22 of, and paragraph 7 of Schedule 9 to, the Police and Justice Act 2006; section 29 of the Transport for 
London Act 2008 (c. 1); section 99 of, and paragraphs 231 and 238 of Part 3 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibility Act 2011; section 55 of, and paragraphs 83 and 90 of Schedule 5 to, the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 (c. 7); section s 6 and 9 of and paragraph 80 of Schedule 1 and paragraph 106 of Schedule 2 to the Policing and Crime 

Act 2017; and by S.I. 2000/90, S.I. 2002/2469, S.I 2007/961, S.I 2008/912, S.I. 2010/866 and S.I. 2013/602. 

Page 37

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6E6D04807D2211DB9833E1CC4921FF0C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FB6BA51E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I28CCCA30E44F11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FB6BA51E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.DocLink%29&comp=wluk
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6E6D04807D2211DB9833E1CC4921FF0C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.DocLink%29&comp=wluk
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5F8F64A07D2011DB9833E1CC4921FF0C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I01D858707D2111DB9833E1CC4921FF0C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I87D6EC507CF611DB8CB9C33D1B0B4462/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I28CCCA30E44F11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.DocLink%29&comp=wluk
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I43864D90E45111DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I4636C790E45111DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FABE4E0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FABE4E0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I20FE1510E45011DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FA2E430E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I2167FA70E45011DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5F9353D0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5F9353D0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5F8F64A07D2011DB9833E1CC4921FF0C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FB42AB07D2011DB9833E1CC4921FF0C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I87D6EC507CF611DB8CB9C33D1B0B4462/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.DocLink%29&comp=wluk
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I03BA4DF0433211DDB78BF2774264CE4B/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6BBB336044DB11DDB35FB11E8DBEBFD4/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6BBB336044DB11DDB35FB11E8DBEBFD4/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I2044D602E8BD11E0B267C6FC150056EE/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I214C0CD3E8BD11E0B267C6FC150056EE/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I214D6C61E8BD11E0B267C6FC150056EE/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IFC99D2F0E8BC11E0953A83229903EB8E/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IFC99D2F0E8BC11E0953A83229903EB8E/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I33C061E07A9411E1810BB1779DBAD809/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I343607127A9411E1810BB1779DBAD809/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I34378DB07A9411E1810BB1779DBAD809/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I339EA9107A9411E1810BB1779DBAD809/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I339EA9107A9411E1810BB1779DBAD809/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IE51E6990EA8E11E68406A1E16C4EABC9/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I2659A190EA8F11E68406A1E16C4EABC9/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IEF1427F0EA8E11E68406A1E16C4EABC9/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IE8BFD340EA8E11E68406A1E16C4EABC9/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I396B0770EA8E11E6A5D78EE54DEEB02B/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I396B0770EA8E11E6A5D78EE54DEEB02B/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6FE29701E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6C32FC80E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I3FA250C0EAF911DBBAFEB006C2FB8E92/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I50384020054C11DDACCD92382233340F/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IBBBCEDF038A311DFA10AA959AB433ADC/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IFCE28FF0923311E2ACC7E415BDC3083E/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)


 

 20 

(3) Any exercise by the Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions contained in 

section 197(1) (designation of Mayoral development areas) of the 2011 Act requires the consent 

of— 

(a) each member of the Combined Authority appointed under article 1 (2) of Schedule 7 to 

this Order by a constituent council whose local government area contains any part of the 

area to be designated as a Mayoral development area; or 

(b) substitute members acting in place of those members; and 

(c) the National Park authority if the Combined Authority proposes to exercise the function 

in respect of the whole or any part of the area of the Peak District National Park. 

(4) Any exercise by the Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions contained in 

section 199(1) (exclusion of land from Mayoral development areas) of the 2011 Act in respect of 

any Mayoral development area requires the consent of— 

(a) each member of the Combined Authority appointed under paragraph 1 (2) of Schedule 7 

to this Order by a constituent council whose local government area contains any part of 

the area to be excluded from a Mayoral development area; or 

(b) substitute members acting in place of those members. 

(5) Any exercise by the Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions contained in 

section 202(2) to (4) of the 2011 Act (functions in relation to town and country planning) in 

respect of any Mayoral development area requires the consent of— 

(a) each member of the Combined Authority appointed under article 1 (2) of Schedule 7 to 

this Order whose local government area contains any part of the area to be designated as a 

Mayoral development area; or 

(b) substitute members acting in place of those members; and 

(c) the National Park Authority if the Combined Authority proposes to exercise the functions 

in respect of the whole or any part of the area of the Peak District National Park. 

(6) Any exercise by the mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions contained in 

section 17 (3) of the 1985 Act (acquisition of land for housing purposes) and section 9 (2) of the 

2008 Act (acquisition of land) requires the consent of— 

(a) each member of the Combined Authority appointed under article 1 (2) of Schedule 7 to 

this order whose local government area contains any part of the land to subject to the 

proposed compulsory acquisition; or 

(b) substitute members acting in place of those members. 

(7) For the purposes of the exercise of the general functions mentioned in paragraph (2) the 

members and officers may assist the Mayor in the exercise of the function. 

(8) The members of the Combined Authority can amend the plans made pursuant to article 27 

(2) (f) if a majority of members agree. 

(9) For the purpose of paragraphs (3), (4), (5)(a), 5(b) and (6) the consent must be given at a 

meeting of the Combined Authority. 

(10) For the purposes of the exercise of the functions mentioned in paragraph (2) the Mayor may 

do anything that the Combined Authority may do under Section 113A of the 2009 Act (general 

power of EPB or combined authority).  

 
(a) 2000 c .38. Section 108 was amended by section 3 of and paragraph 2 of the Schedule to the Transport (Wales) Act 2006 (c. 

5); sections 7 to 9, 77 and 131 of and paragraphs 41 and 42 of Schedule 4 to and Part 1 of Schedule 7 to the Local Transport 

Act 2008; and by section 119 and paragraph 96 of Schedule 6 to the 2009 Act. Section 109 was amended by section 3 of 
and paragraph 3 of the Schedule to the Transport (Wales) Act 2006, section 9 of the Local Transport Act 2000, and by 

section 119 of and paragraph 97 of Schedule 6 to the 2009 Act. Section 112 was amended by sections 10, 11 and 131 of and 
Part 1 of Schedule 7 to the Local Transport Act 2008, and by section 222 of and paragraph 48 of Schedule 26 to the 

Equality Act 2010 

Page 38



 

 21 

Joint committees 

28.—(1) The Mayor may enter into arrangements jointly with the Combined Authority, the 

constituent councils and other councils in accordance with section 101(5) of the Local 

Government Act 1972 for the discharge general functions of the Combined Authority which are 

exercisable only by the Mayor pursuant to article 27. 

(2) In this article “other council” means the council for a county or district in England.  

PART 9 

Funding 

Funding 

29.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (5), the constituent councils must ensure that the costs of 

the Combined Authority reasonably attributable to the exercise of its functions are met. 

(2) Subject to paragraph (4), the constituent councils must meet the costs of the expenditure 

reasonably incurred by the Mayor in, or in connection with, the exercise of the functions specified 

in article 27(1), to the extent that the Mayor has not decided to meet these costs from other 

resources available to the Combined Authority. 

(3) Any amount payable by each of the constituent councils to ensure that the costs of the 

Combined Authority referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2) are met is to be determined by 

apportioning such costs between the constituent councils in such proportions as they may agree or, 

in default of such agreement, in accordance with the proportion to the total resident population of 

the Combined Authority which resides in the area of each constituent council at the relevant date 

as estimated by the Statistics Board. 

(4) In relation to the expenditure mentioned in paragraph (2)— 

(a) to the extent to which such expenditure is met by amounts payable under arrangements 

made under paragraph (3)— 

(i) the Mayor must agree with the Combined Authority the total expenditure mentioned 

in paragraph (2) in advance of incurring this expenditure; and 

(ii) in the absence of the agreement specified in paragraph (i), no such expenditure may 

be incurred; and 

(b) any precept issued in relation to such expenditure under section 40 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 is to be disregarded from any calculation of the costs of 

the expenditure. 

(5) The costs of the Combined Authority reasonably attributable to the exercise of its functions 

relating to transport must be met by means of a levy issued by the Authority to the constituent 

councils under section 74 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and in accordance with the 

Transport Levying Bodies Regulations 1992(a). 

(6) For the purposes of paragraph (3) the relevant date in relation to a payment for a financial 

year is 30th June in the financial year which commenced two years prior to the financial year in 

which such payment is made. 

Transitional provision 

30.—(1) This article applies in relation to— 

(a) a billing authority(b) whose area is within the Area; and 

(b) the financial year commencing on 1st April 2021 (“the relevant year”). 

 
(a) S.I. 1992/2789. 

(b) See section 1(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for meaning of “billing authority”. 

Page 39



 

 22 

(2) The costs of the Mayor that are incurred in, or in connection with, the exercise of mayoral 

functions in the relevant year shall be met in the case of the Mayor’s PCC functions, from precepts 

issued by the Police and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire under section 40 (issue of 

precepts by major precepting authorities) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992(a). 

(3) A billing authority that has been issued with a precept by the Police and Crime 

Commissioner for West Yorkshire in respect of the relevant year must, on and after 10th May 

2021, pay to the Mayor out of its collection fund(b) the amounts owing in respect of that precept 

in accordance with the Local Authorities (Funds) (England) Regulations 1992. 

Conferral of Business Rate Supplements Functions 

31.—(1) The Combined Authority has, in relation to its area, functions corresponding to the 

functions conferred on the Greater London Authority in relation to Greater London by the BRS 

Act. 

(2) Paragraph (1) does not apply in relation to the function conferred by section 3(5) of the BRS 

Act. 

32.—(1) The functions of the Combined Authority specified in article 31 are exercisable only by 

the Mayor. 

(2) The members or officers of the Combined Authority may assist the Mayor in the exercise of 

the functions specified in article 31. 

(3) For the purposes of the exercise of the functions specified in article 30 the Mayor may do 

anything that the Combined Authority may do under section 113A of the 2009 Act (general power 

of EPB or combined authority)(c). 

(4) The Mayor must not make arrangements under section 107D(3)(b) of the 2009 Act 

(functions of mayors: general) in relation to the functions specified in paragraph (1), in relation to 

a political adviser appointed under Article 4 of this Order. 

Adaptation of BRS in consequence of article 31 

33.—(1) For the purposes of article 31, the BRS Act applies to the Combined Authority as if — 

(a) references to the Greater London Authority in section 2(1) (levying authorities) and in 

section 5(2) (prospectus) of the BRS Act include references to the Combined Authority. 

(b) references in that Act to a lower-tier authority are, in relation to the Combined Authority, 

references to a district council whose area forms part of the Combined Authority’s area. 
 

PART 10 

Police and Crime Commissioner functions 

Police and Crime Commissioner functions 

34.—(1) The mayor for the Area shall exercise functions of a police and crime commissioner in 

relation to the Area. 

(2) There is to be no police and crime commissioner for the Area from 10th May 2021. 

 
(a) 1992. c.14. 

(b) See section 89 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (c. 41) for requirement for a billing authority to maintain a 
collection fund and section 90(2)(a) of that Act for the obligation to make payments out of that fund in respect of a precept 

issued by a major precepting authority. 
(c) Section 113A was inserted by section 13 of the Localism Act 2011 and amended by section 23 of, and paragraph 25 of 

Schedule 5 to, the Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016. 

Page 40



 

 23 

(3) Any election of a police and crime commissioner for the area that would otherwise take 

place (whether before, on, or after 10th May 2021) by virtue of section 50(1)(b) of the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011(a) is not to take place. 

(4) The term of office of the police and crime commissioner for West Yorkshire is to continue 

until 10th May 2021. 

(5) Any election to fill a vacancy in the office of police and crime commissioner for West 

Yorkshire which would otherwise take place under section 51 of the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011 is not to take place if the vacancy occurs within the period starting on the 

day on which this article comes into force and ending on 10th May 2021.  

(6) For the purpose of this Part “the 2011 Act” means the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011(b). 

Transfer of police and crime commissioner functions 

35.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (3), the mayor is to be treated, in relation to the mayor’s 

PCC functions, as a police and crime commissioner for the purposes of all police and crime 

commissioner enactments (whenever passed or made)(c). 

(2) In their application to the mayor, the police and crime commissioner enactments set out in 

Schedule 5 apply with the modifications set out in that Schedule. 

(3) Paragraph (1) does not apply to those enactments set out in Schedule 6. 

Transfer of property, rights and liabilities 

36.—(1) All property, rights and liabilities (including rights and liabilities in relation to 

contracts of employment) which immediately before 10th May 2021 were property, rights and 

liabilities of the police and crime commissioner are to transfer to, and by virtue of this paragraph 

vest in, the combined authority on 10th May 2021. 

(2) In relation to the property, rights and liabilities transferred by paragraph (1) and any 

property, rights and liabilities acquired in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions on or after 10th 

May 2021— 

(a) all functions in relation to such property, rights and liabilities are to be exercised by the 

mayor; 

(b) all decisions relating to such property, rights and liabilities are to be made by the mayor; 

(c) any receipts arising from such property, rights and liabilities (whether arising from their 

use, sale, disposal or otherwise) are to be paid into the police fund kept by the mayor by 

virtue of section 21 of the 2011 Act. 

(3) All monies held in the police fund kept by the police and crime commissioner under section 

21 of the 2011 Act immediately before 10th May 2021 are, on that date, to transfer to the police 

fund kept by the mayor by virtue of that section (as applied in accordance with article 35 above). 

(4) Nothing in paragraph (2) prevents the mayor from making arrangements under section 18(d) 

of the 2011 Act (as applied in accordance with article 35) in relation to the matters mentioned in 

paragraph (2). 

 
(a) 2011 c. 13. 
(b) 2011 c. 13. 

(c) The definition of “police and crime commissioner enactment” is at paragraph 12(5) of Schedule 5C to the 2009 Act. 
(d) 2011 c. 13. Section 18 makes provision to permit (with certain restrictions) the delegation of functions by a police and crime 

commissioner to the deputy police and crime commissioner and to other persons. Section 18 has been amended by section 
79 of, and paragraph 53 of Schedule 7 to, the Localism Act 2011 (c. 20); and by section 45 of, and paragraph 116 of 

Schedule 12 to, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (c. 2) 

Page 41



 

 24 

Secondments 

37. In the case of a person who, immediately before 10th May 2021 is seconded to the police 

and crime commissioner, the secondment is to have effect, after that time, as a secondment to the 

combined authority. 

Continuity 

38.—(1) The abolition of the police and crime commissioner, the transfer or abolition of the 

commissioner’s functions, and the transfer of the commissioner’s property, rights and liabilities, 

do not affect the validity of anything done before the abolition or transfer. 

(2) Paragraphs (3) to (5) apply where any functions, property, rights or liabilities are transferred 

by or under this Order from the commissioner to the combined authority. 

(3) There may be continued by or in relation to the combined authority anything (including legal 

proceedings) which— 

(a) relates to any of the functions, property, rights or liabilities transferred; and 

(b) is in the process of being done by or in relation to the commissioner immediately before 

10th May 2021. 

(4) Anything which— 

(a) was made or done by or in relation to the commissioner for the purposes of, or otherwise 

in connection with, any of the functions, property, rights or liabilities transferred; and 

(b) is in effect immediately before 10th May 2021; 

has effect as if made or done by or in relation to the combined authority. 

(5) The combined authority is to be substituted for the commissioner in any instruments, 

contracts or legal proceedings which— 

(a) relate to any of the functions, property, rights or liabilities transferred; and 

(b) are made or commenced before 10th May 2021. 

(6) In this paragraph a reference to the transfer of a function includes a reference to the abolition 

of the function and the conferral of a corresponding function on another person. 

Foreign property etc, perfection of vesting 

39.—(1) Subsections (2) to (8) of section 414 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999(a) 

(foreign property, rights and liabilities: perfection of vesting) apply to the transfer by this Order of 

any foreign property, rights or liabilities. 

(2) In the application of those provisions by virtue of paragraph (1)— 

(a) references to a transfer or pension instrument have effect as references to the transfer by 

or under this Order; and 

(b) references to the transferor and the transferee are to be construed accordingly. 

Transfers: supplementary provision 

40.—(1) All property, rights and liabilities transferred by this Order are to be transferred, 

notwithstanding that they may be or include— 

(a) property, rights and liabilities that would not otherwise be capable of being transferred; or 

(b) rights and liabilities under enactments. 

(2) No right of reverter, right of pre-emption, right of forfeiture, right of re-entry, right to 

compensation, option or similar right affecting any land or other property is to operate or become 

 
(a) 1999 c. 29. 

Page 42



 

 25 

exercisable as a result of any transfer of land or other property by virtue of this Order (whether or 

not any consent required to the transfer has been obtained). 

(3) No right to terminate or vary a contract or instrument is to operate or become exercisable, 

and no provision of a contract or relevant document, is to operate or become exercisable or be 

contravened, by reason of the transfer made by this Order. 

(4) Paragraphs (1) to (3) above have effect in relation to— 

(a) the grant or creation of an estate or interest in, or right over, any land or other property; or 

(b) the doing of any other thing in relation to land or other property, as they have effect in 

relation to the transfer made by this Order of land or other property. 

(5) In this article— 

“relevant document” means— 

(a) any enactment, other than an enactment contained in the 2009 Act; 

(b) any subordinate legislation made otherwise than under that Act; or 

(c) any deed or other instrument 

Extension of financial year of Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable for West 

Yorkshire 

41.—(1) The requirement in section 3(3) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014(a) for 

a relevant authority to prepare a statement of accounts for each financial year ending on 31st 

March is modified in the case of the police and crime commissioner and chief constable for the 

financial year which began on 1st April 2020 to require— 

(a) the police and crime commissioner, or after the transfer made by this Order, the combined 

authority in respect of the police and crime commissioner’s accounts; and 

(b) the chief constable; 

to prepare a statement of accounts from that date for the period which ends on 9th May 2021. 

(2) The requirement in regulation 15(1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015(b) (“the 

Regulations”) concerning the commencement of the period for the exercise of public rights under 

regulation 9(1)(b) of the Regulations, is modified in the case of the police and crime commissioner 

and the chief constable for the financial year which began on 1st April 2020 so as to require the 

relevant responsible financial officer to ensure that the commencement of the period for the 

exercise of public rights takes place on such a day that ensures that the period referred to in 

regulation 14(1) of the Regulations begins on 19th July 2021. 

(3) In this article— 

“the chief constable” means the chief constable of the police force for West Yorkshire; 

“the relevant responsible financial officer” means— 

(a) in relation to the police and crime commissioner, the responsible financial officer for the 

combined authority; and 

(b) in relation to the chief constable, the responsible financial officer for the police force for 

West Yorkshire; 

“responsible financial officer” has the same meaning as in the Regulations (see regulation 

2(2)) 

 

 
(a) 2014 c. 2. 

(b) S.I. 2015/234 

Page 43



 

 26 

Modifications to the Local Government Act 1972 

42.—(1) Section 86 of the Local Government Act 1972(a) applies in relation to the mayor with 

the following modification. 

(2) After section 86(1)(c), insert— 

“(d) ceases to be the mayor by virtue of section 63 of the 2011 Act;” 
 

PART 11 

Amendment of the 2014 Order 

Amendment of the 2014 Order 

43. Article 5 of the 2014 Order is omitted. 

44. For Schedule 1 to the 2014 Order substitute the Schedule in Schedule 7 to this Order. 
 

 

 

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 Name 

 Parliamentary Under Secretary of State 

Date Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
 

 SCHEDULE 1 Article 9 

Modification of provisions of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and 

Learning Act 2009 in their application to the Combined Authority  

 

1. All references to provisions in this Schedule are to provisions in the Apprenticeships, Skills, 

Children and Learning Act 2009. 

2. Section 86 has effect as if—  

 

(a) in subsection (1), for each reference to “Secretary of State” there were substituted a 

reference to “Combined Authority”; 

(b) subsection (1)(b) were omitted but not “and” at the end; 

(c) in subsection (1)(c), for “paragraphs (a) and (b)”, there were substituted “paragraph (a)”; 

(d) in subsection (5), the words “(except so far as relating to facilities for persons subject to 

adult detention)” were omitted; 

(e) in subsection (6), paragraph (c) in the definition of “training” were omitted; and 

(f) in subsection (7), the words “or (b)” were omitted. 

3. Section 87 has effect as if for each reference to “Secretary of State”, there were substituted a 

reference to “Combined Authority”.  

 

 
(a) 1972 c. 70.  Section 86(2) was amended by section 59 of, and paragraph 6(1) and (7)(d) of Schedule 13 to the Deregulation 

Act 2015 (c. 20).  There are other amendments, but none is relevant. 

Page 44



 

 27 

4. Section 88 has effect as if in subsections (1), (2)(b), (2A), (3), (4)(b) and (6)(a) for each 

reference to “Secretary of State”, there were substituted a reference to “Combined Authority”.  

 

5. Section 90 has effect as if— 

(a) in subsection (1), for the first reference to “Secretary of State”, there were substituted a 

reference to “Combined Authority”; 

(b) in subsection (1)(a), for “section 86(1)(a) and (b)”, there were substituted “section 

86(1)(a)”; and 

(c) in subsection (1)(a), (b) and (c) for each reference to “Secretary of State’s remit” there 

were substituted the words “Combined Authority’s remit”. 

6. Section 100 has effect as if—  

 

(a) in subsection (1), for the reference to “Secretary of State” there were substituted 

“Combined Authority”; 

(b) in subsection (1)(a), for the reference to “Secretary of State’s remit” there were 

substituted “Combined Authority’s remit”; 

(c) in subsection (3), for each reference to “Secretary of State” there were substituted a 

reference to “Combined Authority”; and 

(d) in subsection (4), for the reference to “Secretary of State” there were substituted a 

reference to “Combined Authority”. 

7. Section 101(a) has effect as if for each reference to “Secretary of State” there were substituted 

a reference to “Combined Authority”. 

8. Section 103(b) has effect as if— 

(a) for the reference to “Secretary of State” there were substituted a reference to “Combined 

Authority”; and 

(b) the words “or (1A)” were omitted. 

9. Section 115(c) has effect as if— 

(a) for the reference to “Secretary of State”, there were substituted “Combined Authority”; 

(b) in subsection (2)(a), the word “, and” were omitted; and 

(c) in subsection (2), paragraph (b) were omitted. 

10. Section 121(d) has effect as if— 

(a) in subsection (1), there were added at the appropriate place— 

“Combined Authority” means the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, a body corporate 

established under the West Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2014;”; 

(b) in subsection (2)— 

(i) for the reference to “Secretary of State’s remit”, there were substituted the words 

“Combined Authority’s remit”; and 

(ii) in paragraph (a), the words “or (b)” were omitted; and 

(c) in subsection (3)— 

 
(a) Section 101 was amended by paragraphs 3 and 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 14 to the Deregulation Act 2015. 
(b) Section 103 was amended by paragraphs 4 and 16 of Part 1 of Schedule 14 to the Deregulation Act 2015. 

(c) Section 115 was amended by paragraph 23 of Part 1 of Schedule 14 to the Deregulation Act 2015; and by paragraphs 88 and 
93 of Part 2 of Schedule 3 to the Children and Families Act 2014 (c. 6). 

(d) Subsection (1) is amended by paragraphs 1 and 30 of Schedule 1 to the Technical and Further Education Act 2017 (c. 19) 
on a date to be appointed. Section 121 was amended by paragraph 22 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 and paragraph 27 of Part 1 of 

Schedule 14 to the Deregulation Act 2015; and by paragraphs 1 and 12 of Schedule 18 to the Education Act 2011 (c.21). 

Page 45



 

 28 

(i) for the reference to “Secretary of State’s remit”, there were substituted the words 

“Combined Authority’s remit”; and 

(ii) paragraphs (a) and (aa) were omitted. 
 

 SCHEDULE 2 Article 13 

PART 1 

Modification of the application of Chapter 2 of Part 1 of the 2008 

1.—(1) Chapters 1 and 2 of Part 1 of the 2008 Act apply in relation to the Combined Authority 

as modified in accordance with the following provisions. 

(2) Sections 5 (powers to provide housing or other land), 6 (powers for regeneration, 

development or effective use of land), 7 (powers in relation to infrastructure), 8 (powers to deal 

with land etc), 9 (acquisition of land), 10 (restrictions on disposal of land), 11 (main powers in 

relation to acquired land) of, and Schedules 2 to 4 to, the 2008 Act, have effect as if for each 

reference to— 

(a) “the HCA” there were substituted a reference to “the Combined Authority”; 

(b) “Part 1” of that Act there were substituted a reference to “Part 4 of the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) Order [2020/2021]”; and 

(c) land acquired or held by the HCA there were substituted a reference to land acquired or 

held by the Combined Authority. 

(3) Sections 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10 of the 2008 Act have effect as if for every reference to “land” there 

were substituted a reference to “land in the area of the Combined Authority”; 

(4) Section 57(1) of the 2008 Act is to have effect as if before “develop” there were inserted— 

““Combined Authority” means the body corporate established by the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority Order 2014;”. 

PART 2 

Modification of the application of Schedules 2 to 4 to the 2008 Act 

2.—(1) Schedules 2 to 4 to the 2008 Act apply in relation to the Combined Authority as 

modified in accordance with the following provisions. 

(2) Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 2008 Act (compulsory acquisition of land) has effect as if for 

every reference to “section 9” of that Act there were substituted a reference to article 10 of the 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) Order [2020/2021]”; 

(3) Schedule 3 to the 2008 Act (main powers in relation to land acquired by the HCA) is to have 

effect as if for references to land which has been vested in or acquired by the HCA there were 

substituted references to land which has been vested in or acquired by the Combined Authority. 

(4) Schedule 4 to the 2008 Act (powers in relation to, and for, statutory undertakers) has effect 

as if for every reference to the HCA under Part 1 of that Act there were substituted a reference to 

the functions conferred on the Combined Authority under article 10 of the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) Order [2020/2021]. 
 

 

Page 46



 

 29 

 SCHEDULE 3 Article 15 

Modification of the application of Part 8 of the 2011 Act 

1.—(1) Chapter 2 of Part 8 of the 2011 Act (Mayoral development corporations) applies in 

relation to the Combined Authority as modified in accordance with the following provisions. 

(2) Section 196 of the 2011 Act (interpretation of Chapter) has effect as if for the definitions of 

“the Mayor” and “MDC” there were substituted— 

“the Area” means the area of the Combined Authority; 

“the Combined Authority” means the Combined Authority, established by West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2014; 

“Corporation” means a corporation established by the Secretary of State in accordance 

with the provisions in section 198 following the designation of an area of land by the 

Combined Authority; 

“National Park” means a National Park mentioned in column 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 

to the National Park Authorities (England) Order 2015; and 

“National Park authority” means a National Park authority for a National Park.” 

(3) Sections 197 to 222 of the 2011 Act have effect as if for each reference to— 

(a) “the Greater London Authority” there were substituted “the Combined Authority”; 

(b) “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Combined Authority” except for the occurrences 

in sections 197(3)(d) and (e), 199(2), 202(7)(a) and 214(4)(a); and 

(c) “MDC” there were substituted “Corporation”. 

(4) Section 197 of the 2011 Act (designation of Mayoral development areas) has effect as if— 

(a) in subsection (1) for “Greater London” there were substituted “the Area”; 

(b) in subsection (3)(a) for, “any one or more of the Greater London Authority’s principal 

purposes”, there were substituted “economic development and regeneration in the Area”; 

(c) in subsection (3)(d)— 

(i) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the members of the Combined 

Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils (including substitute 

members, acting in place of those members)”; 

(ii) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”; and 

(iii) for “subsection (4)(d), (e), (f) or (g)” there were substituted “subsection (4)(d) or 

(e)”; and 

(d) in subsection (3)(e)— 

(i) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”; and 

(ii) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined Authority”; 

(e) in subsection (3)(f) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined 

Authority”; 

(f) in subsection (4)— 

(i) in paragraph (a) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the members of 

the Combined Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils (including 

substitute members, acting in place of those members)”; 

(ii) paragraph (b) were omitted; 

(iii) in paragraph (d) for “each London borough council whose borough” there were 

substituted “each district council whose local government area”; 

(iv) in paragraph (e) for “the Common Council of the City of London if any part of the 

area is within the City” there were substituted “a National Park authority if any part 
of the area is within a National Park,”; 

Page 47



 

 30 

(v) paragraphs (f) and (g) were omitted; 

(g) in subsection (5)— 

(i) in paragraph (a) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined 

Authority”; 

(ii) in paragraph (b) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined 

Authority”; 

(iii) in paragraph (b)(i) for “the Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined 

Authority”; 

(iv) in paragraph (b)(ii) for “the Assembly members voting” there were substituted “all 

members of the Combined Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils 

(including substitute members, acting in place of those members) present and voting 

on that motion”; 

(h) in subsection (6)(c) for “Mayoral development corporation” there were substituted 

“Corporation”; and 

(i) subsection (7) were omitted. 

(5) Section 198 of the 2011 Act (Mayoral development corporations: establishment) has effect 

as if— 

(a) in the heading for “Mayoral development corporations” there were substituted 

“Corporations”; and 

(b) for every reference to “Mayoral development corporation” there were substituted 

“Corporation”. 

(6) Section 199 of the 2011 Act (exclusion of land from Mayoral development areas) has effect 

as if— 

(a) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the members of the Combined 

Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils (including substitute members, 

acting in place of those members)”; and 

(b) in subsection (2) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”. 

(7) Section 200 of the 2011 Act (transfers of property etc to a Mayoral development 

corporation) has effect as if— 

(a) in subsection (3)— 

(i) in paragraph (a), for “a London borough council” there were substituted a reference 

to “a district council wholly or partly in the Area”; 

(ii) paragraph (b) were omitted; 

(iii) in paragraphs (d) and (e), for “in Greater London” there were substituted a reference 

to “in the Area”; 

(iv) paragraph (k) were omitted; 

(b) in subsection (4) paragraph (b) were omitted; and 

(c) in subsection (10), the definitions of a “functional body” and “public authority” were 

omitted. 

(8) Section 201 of the 2011 Act (object and powers) has effect as if subsection (8)(b) were 

omitted. 

(9) Section 202 of the 2011 Act (functions in relation to town and country planning) has effect 

as if— 

(a) in subsection (7)(a) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”; 

(b) in subsection (7)(c) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the members of 

the Combined Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils (including 

substitute members, acting in place of those members)”, and 

(c) in subsection (7), in the definition of “affected authority”, “(f) or (g)” were omitted. 

Page 48



 

 31 

(10) Section 203 of the 2011 Act (arrangements for discharge of, or assistance with, planning 

functions) has effect as if— 

(a) for each reference to “a London borough council or the Common Council of the City of 

London” there were substituted “a district council, county council or a National Park 

authority”; and 

(b) in sub-sections (1) and (5), for each reference to “council” there were substituted “council 

or National Park Authority”. 

(11) Section 207 of the 2011 Act (acquisition of land) has effect as if— 

(a) in subsection (2) for “in Greater London” there were substituted a reference to “in the 

Area”; and 

(b) in subsection (3) for “the Mayor of London” there were substituted “the Combined 

Authority”. 

(12) Section 214 of the 2011 Act (powers in relation to discretionary relief from non-domestic 

rates) has effect as if— 

(a) in subsection (4)(a) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”; 

(b) in subsection (4)(c) for “the London Assembly or an affected local authority” there were 

substituted “the members of the Combined Authority who are appointed by the 

constituent councils (including substitute members, acting in place of those members) or 

a district council wholly or partly in the Area”; and 

(c) in subsection (4) the definition of “an affected local authority” were omitted. 

(13) Section 216 of the 2011 Act (transfers of property, rights and liabilities) has effect as if— 

(a) in subsection (2) “, (e)” were omitted; and 

(b) in subsection (4)— 

(i) the definition of “functional body” were omitted; and 

(ii) in the definition of “permitted recipient”— 

(aa) paragraph (b) were omitted, 

(bb) in paragraph (d) for “a London borough council” there were substituted “a 

district council wholly or partly within the Area”, and 

(cc) paragraph (e) were omitted. 

(14) Schedule 21 of the 2011 Act (Mayoral development corporations) has effect as if— 

(a) for each reference to— 

(i) “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Combined Authority”, except for the 

reference in paragraph 1(1); 

(ii) “the Mayor’s” there were substituted “the Combined Authority’s”; 

(b) for each reference to “an MDC” there were substituted “the Corporation”; 

(c) in paragraph 1(1)— 

(i) “the Mayoral development corporation (“MDC”)” there were substituted 

“Corporation”; 

(ii) for the reference to “the Mayor of London (“the Mayor”) there were substituted “the 

Combined Authority”; 

(d) in paragraph 1(2) for the reference to “each relevant London council” there were 

substituted a reference to “each relevant district council”; 

(e) in paragraph 1(3)— 

(i) sub-paragraph (a) were omitted; and 

(ii) in sub-paragraph (b) for “a London council” there were substituted “a district 

council”; 

(f) in paragraph 1(5), for “MDC’s” there were substituted “Corporation’s”; 

Page 49



 

 32 

(g) in paragraph 2(5)(d) for “a relevant London council” there were substituted “a relevant 

district council”; 

(h) in paragraph 3, for “MDC’s” there were substituted “Corporation’s”; 

(i) in paragraph 4(4) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted a reference to “the 

Combined Authority”; 

(j) in paragraph 9(c) for “each relevant London council” there were substituted “each 

relevant district council”; and 

(k) in paragraph 10(1)(c) the reference to “and to the London Assembly” were omitted. 
 

 

 SCHEDULE 4 Article 23 

Permit schemes: modification of the application of part 3 of the 2004 

1.—(1) Part 3 of the 2004 Act is modified as follows. 

(2) Section 33A (implementation of permit schemes of strategic highways companies and local 

highway authorities in England) has effect as if— 

(a) subsection (1) were omitted; 

(b) for subsection (2) there were substituted— 

“(2) A permit scheme prepared in accordance with section 33(1) or (2) by the Combined 

Authority shall not have effect in the combined area unless the Combined Authority gives 

effect to it by order.” And 

(c) subsection (3) were omitted. 

(3) Section 36 (variation and revocation of permit schemes) has effect as if, for subsections (1) 

to (3) there were substituted— 

“(1) The Combined Authority may by order vary or revoke a permit scheme to the extent 

that it has effect in the combined area by virtue of an order made by the Combined 

Authority under section 33A(2). 

(2) The Secretary of State may direct the Combined Authority to vary or revoke a permit 

scheme by an order under subsection (1). 

(3) ) An order made by the Combined Authority under subsection (1) may vary or revoke 

an order made by the Combined Authority under section 33A(2), or an order previously 

made by the Combined Authority under subsection (1).” 
 

 

Page 50

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I11CEB970E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.DocLink)


 

 33 

 SCHEDULE 5 Article 35 (2) 

Modifications of police and crime commissioner enactments in their 

application to the mayor 

PART 1 

Primary Legislation 

Police (Property) Act 1897 

1.—(1) The Police (Property) Act 1897(a) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 2(2A), for the last reference to “relevant body” substitute “combined authority”. 

Trustee Investment Act 1961 

2.—(1) The Trustee Investments Act 1961(b) is modified as follows. 

(2) In paragraph 9 of Part 2 of Schedule 1, for “similar officer of the authority” substitute 

“similar officer of the combined authority deployed wholly or partly in relation to the PCC 

functions of the mayor”. 

Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 

3.—(1) The Pensions (Increase) Act 1971(c) is modified as follows. 

(2) In paragraph 51(aa) of Schedule 2, for “a police and crime commissioner” substitute “the 

police and crime commissioner for West Yorkshire or of the combined authority deployed wholly 

or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

4.—(1) The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976(d) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 29(1)(e), for “or transferred to the authority”, substitute “to the mayor, or 

transferred to the combined authority in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions.”. 

(3) In section 30(3)(a)(f) , for “maintained by a local authority”, substitute “maintained by the 

mayor of the combined authority”. 

(4) In section 44(1), in paragraph (a)(g) of the definition of “local authority”, for “13 to 16, 29, 

30, 38, 39 and 41” substitute “13, 14, 16, 29 and 38”. 

Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980 

5.—(1) The Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980(h) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 99— 

 
(a) 1897 c. 30. Section 2(2A) was inserted by section 1(2) and (3) of the Police (Property) Act 1997 (c. 30) 

(b) 1961 c. 62. 
(c) 1971 c. 56. Paragraph 51(aa) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 97 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibility Act 2011. 
(d) 1976 c. 57. 

(e) Section 29(1) was amended by section 190 of, and paragraph 14 of Schedule 16 to, the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (c. 
22). 

(f) Section 30(3)(a) was inserted by paragraph 126 of Schedule 16 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act (c. 13). 
(g) Section 44(1) was amended by section 119 of, and paragraph 43(a) of Schedule 6 to, the Local Democracy, Economic 

Development and Construction Act 2009 (c. 20); and section 99 of, and paragraph 127 of Schedule 16, to the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011; there are other amendments to this section, but none is relevant. 

(h) 1980 c. 65. 

Page 51



 

 34 

(a) After subsection (2), insert— 

“(2A) Where a notice under subsection (1) is received by the combined authority and it 

relates to land used wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions, the mayor is 

to make any representations (referred to in subsection (2)) on behalf of the combined 

authority to the Secretary of State.”; 

(b) in subsection (4)— 

(i) in paragraph (dbzb) after “that Act”, insert “or (as the case may be) the mayor”(a); 

(ii) omit paragraph (dc)(b). 

Dartford-Thurrock Crossing Act 1988 

6.—(1) The Dartford-Thurrock Crossing Act 1988(c) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 19(a)(i), for “a local policing body” substitute “the combined authority for use in 

relation to the exercise of the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

Local Government Finance Act 1988 

7.—(1) The Local Government Finance Act 1988(d) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 114(e) — 

(a) for subsection (4)(b)(i) substitute— 

 “(i) a report relating to the mayor’s PCC functions, each member of the combined 

authority (including the mayor) and each member of the police and crime 

panel for the mayor’s area;” 

(b) in subsection (8A)(b)(f) , for “relevant authority”, substitute “mayor”. 

(3) In section 115— 

(a) subsection (1B)(g) for “elected local policing body, that body”, substitute “of the 

combined authority in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions, the mayor (“the body”)”; 

(b) in subsection (1F)(b), for “elected local policing body’s” substitute “combined 

authority’s”; 

(c) in subsection (2)(h), for “any authority other than an elected local policing body”, 

substitute “any report other than one relating to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

(4) For section 116(2B)(i), substitute: 

“(2B) In the case of the mayor, the chief finance officer of the combined authority must 

notify the auditor of the combined authority of any decision taken by the mayor in 

accordance with section 115” 

 
(a) Section 99(4)(dbzb) was inserted by paragraph 51 of Schedule 6 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 

Construction Act 2009 (c. 20). 

(b) Section 99(4)(dc) was substituted by section 99 of, and paragraph 141 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011. 

(c) 1988 c. 20; section 19(a)(i) was substituted by section 99 of, and paragraph 177 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011. There are other amendments to section 19(a) that are not relevant to this Order. 

(d) 1988 c. 41. 
(e) Section 114(4)(b) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 188(5) and of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(f) Subsection (8A)(b) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 188(6) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(g) Subsections (1B) to (1F) were inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 189(2) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibility Act 2011. 
(h) Subsection (2) was amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 189(3) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(i) Subsection (2B) was amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 190(3) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 

Page 52



 

 35 

Road Traffic Act 1988 

8.—(1) The Road Traffic Act 1988(a) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 144(2)(b)— 

(a) for “a local policing body” substitute “the combined authority for use in relation to the 

mayor’s PCC functions”; 

(b) for “a police and crime commissioner’s staff (within the meaning of Part 1 of the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011)” substitute “the combined authority’s staff 

deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

9.—(1) The Local Government and Housing Act 1989(b) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 1— 

(a) in subsection (9)(c), for “an elected local policing body” substitute “the combined 

authority deployed predominantly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”; 

(b) in subsection (10)(d), for “an elected local policing body does not include a deputy police 

and crime commissioner” substitute “the combined authority deployed predominantly in 

relation to the mayor’s PCC functions does not include the deputy mayor for policing and 

crime.” 

(3) In section 4— 

(a) omit subsections (1) and (1A)(e); 

(b) for subsection (4)(f) substitute— 

“(4) It shall be the duty of the head of the combined authority’s paid service, as soon as 

practicable after he has prepared a report relating to the mayor’s PCC functions under this 

section, to arrange for a copy of it to be sent to the members of the combined authority 

(including the mayor) and to the police and crime panel.”; 

(c) in subsection (5)(g), omit “(other than an elected local policing body)”; 

(d) in subsection (5A)(h), for “by the head of the body’s paid service” substitute “that relates 

to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

(4) In section 5— 

(a) omit subsection (1C)(i); 

(b) for subsection (3)(b)(a)(j), substitute— 

“(a) in the case of a report relating to the mayor’s PCC functions, to the 

members of the combined authority (including the mayor) and to the police 

and crime panel; and”; 

 
(a) 1988 c. 52; section 144(2)(b) was amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 197(3)(a) and (b) of Schedule 16 to, the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  There are other amendments the section, but none is relevant. 
(b) 1989 c. 42. 

(c) Subsection (9) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 200 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011; and was amended by section 123 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 (c. 3). 

(d) Subsection (10) was inserted by section 123 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 
(e) Subsection (1A) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 201(2) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(f) Subsection (4) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 201(3) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(g) Subsection (5) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 201(4) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(h) Subsection (5A) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 201(5) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(i) Subsection (1C) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 202(3) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(j) Subsection (3)(b)(a) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 202(4) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 

Page 53



 

 36 

(c) in subsection (5) 

(i) for “a relevant authority” substitute “the mayor”; 

(ii) in paragraph (a)(a) — 

(aa) in sub-paragraph (i), omit “in the case of an elected local policing body”; 

(bb) omit sub-paragraph (ii) 

(d) in subsection (8)(b) , in the definition of “relevant authority” omit “and an elected local 

policing body”. 

(5) Omit section 7(1)(aa)(c). 

(6) Omit section 13(5ZA)(d). 

Police Act 1996 

10.—(1) The Police Act 1996(e) Act is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 22A(9)(a)(f), for “that body” substitute “the combined authority deployed wholly 

or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

(3) In section 41(g) — 

(a) in subsection (1), for “commissioner’s council tax requirement (under section 42A of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992) or budget requirement (under section 43 of that 

Act)” substitute “PCC component council tax requirement”; 

(b) in subsection (4), for “precept issued or calculation made by the commissioner under Part 

1 of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992”, substitute “determination by the 

mayor of the final amount of the PCC component”. 

(4) In section 53E(h) — 

(a) in subsection (1)(a), for “a local policing body” substitute “the combined authority and 

are deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”; 

(b) in subsection (1)(b), for “the body” substitute “the combined authority”; 

(5) In section 88(i) — 

(a) in subsection (5A)(j), for the first reference to “local policing body” substitute “combined 

authority deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”; 

(b) in subsection (6)(a)(k), for “local policing body” substitute “combined authority deployed 

wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

(6) In section 92(1)(a), for “parish or community” substitute “parish, community, or combined 

authority”. 

 
(a) Subsection (5)(a) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 202(5) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 

(b) Subsection (8) was amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 202(6)(b) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011. There are other amendments to the section, but none is relevant. 

(c) Section 7(1)(aa) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 203(b) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011. 

(d) Section 13(5ZA) was inserted by section 7 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 (c. 3). 
(e) 1996 c.16. 

(f) Section 22A was inserted by section 89(2) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (c. 13). 
(g) Section 41 was amended by paragraph 28 of Schedule 2 to the Police and Justice Act 2006 (c. 48); section 22 of the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011; and by paragraph 33 of Schedule 7 to the Localism Act 2011 (c. 20). 
(h) Section 53E was inserted by section 125 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (c. 12). 

(i) Section 88 was amended by paragraph 85 of Schedule 9 to the Police Act 1997 (c. 50); sections 102(1) and (4) and 103(1) 
of the Police Reform Act 2002; paragraph 80(3) of Schedule 4 and paragraph 1 of Schedule 17, to the Serious Organised 

Crime and Police Act 2005 (c. 15); paragraph 42 of Schedule 16 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011; 
by S.I. 2012/1809, and by paragraph 45 of Schedule 8 to the Crime and Courts Act 2013 (c. 22). 

(j) Subsection (5A) was inserted by section 59 of, and paragraph 80(3) of Schedule 4 to, the Serious Organised Crime and 
Police Act 2005 (c. 15); and amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 42(4) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibility Act 2011; and by paragraph 45 of Schedule 8 to the Crime and Courts Act 2013 (c. 22). 
(k) Subsection (6)(a) was amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 42(5) of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 

Page 54



 

 37 

(7) In section 96(1B)(b), for “precept for a financial year is issued by the police and crime 

commissioner under section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992” substitute “PCC 

component is determined by the mayor”. 

Police Reform Act 2002 

11.—(1) The Police Reform Act 2002 Act(c) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 40(7)(d)(d), for “local policing body” substitute “combined authority and are 

deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

(3) In section 42(7)(e) — 

(a) for the first reference to “local policing body” substitute “combined authority deployed 

wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”; 

(b) for the second reference to “local policing body” substitute “combined authority”; 

(c) for “or body” substitute “or authority”. 

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

12.—(1) The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002(f) is modified as follows. 

(2) For section 55(8)(aa) substitute— 

“(aa) a member of the combined authority’s staff deployed wholly or partly 

in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions;”. 
 

Local Government Act 2003 

13.—(1) The Local Government Act 2003(g) is modified as follows. 

(2) In section 7— 

(a) in subsection (1)(a), for “its part”, substitute “the part of the combined authority”; 

(b) in subsection (2), for “on the part of the authority”, substitute “on the part of the 

combined authority”. 

Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003 

14.—(1) The Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003(h) is modified as follows. 

(2) For paragraph 7(2)(c) of Schedule 4, substitute— 

“(c) a member of staff of the combined authority deployed wholly or partly in relation 

to the mayor’s PCC functions.”. 

 
(a) Section 92(1) was amended by section 25(4)(a) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  There are other 

amendments, but none is relevant. 

(b) Section 96(1B) was inserted by section 14(3) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 
(c) 2002 c. 30. 

(d) Section 40(7) was amended by section 99 of, and paragraphs 277 and 295 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011. 

(e) Section 42(7) was amended by section 99 of, and paragraphs 277 and 295 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011. 

(f) 2002 c. 29; paragraph (aa) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 305 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

(g) 2003 c. 26. 
(h) 2003 c. 20; paragraph 7(2)(c) was inserted by section 99 of, and paragraph 328 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

Page 55



 

 38 

Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

15.—(1) The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007(a) is modified as 

follows. 

(2) For section 15(1)(a), substitute— 

“(a) for the transfer of functions, property, rights or liabilities from a local authority, 

combined authority in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions, or local policing 

body for any area to another local authority, combined authority in relation to the 

mayor’s PCC functions, or local policing body whose area consists of or includes 

the whole or part of that area;”. 

Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 

16.—(1) The 2009 Act is modified as follows 

(2) In paragraph 9(1)(a) of Schedule 5B(b), for “or deputy mayor” substitute “, deputy mayor or 

deputy mayor for policing and crime”. 
 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

17.—(1) The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 is modified as follows. 

18. In section 5(c)— 

(a) in subsection (1), for “ordinary election” substitute “election for the return of a mayor”; 

(b) in subsection (13)— (i) in the definition of “financial year”, for “year of the police and 

crime commissioner” substitute “year of the combined authority”; (ii) omit the definition 

of “ordinary election”. 

19. In section 7(7)(d)— 

(a) in the definition of “financial year”, for “year of the elected local policing body” 

substitute “year of the combined authority” 

(b) omit the definition of “ordinary election”; 

(c) in the definition of “planning period” for “ordinary election” substitute “election for the 

return of a mayor”; 

(d) in the definition of “qualifying day” for “ordinary election” substitute “election for the 

return of a mayor”. 

20. In section 16— 

(a) for subsection (1), substitute— 

“(1) This section applies where the mayor is required or authorised by any Act— 

(a) to appoint a person to a specified post in the combined authority; or 

(b) to designate a person as having a specified duty or responsibilities 

in connection with the exercise of the mayor’s PCC functions.”; 

(b) in subsection (2), for “the body” substitute “the combined authority”. 

21. In section 18(a) — 

 
(a) 2007 c. 28; section 15(1)(a) was amended by section 74 of, and paragraph 14(2)(a) of Schedule 10 to, the Police Reform 

and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

(b) 2009 c. 20; paragraph 9(1) of Schedule 5B was inserted by section 2 of, and paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to, the Cities and 
Local Government Devolution Act 2016 (c. 1) 

(c) There are amendments to section 5, none of which are relevant to this Order. 
(d) Section 7 was amended by section 181 of, and paragraph 97 of Schedule 11 to, the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and 

Policing Act 2014 (c. 12) 

Page 56



 

 39 

(a) for each reference to “deputy police and crime commissioner” substitute “deputy mayor 

for policing and crime”; 

(b) in subsection (6)— 

(i) after paragraph (d), insert— 

“(da) a deputy mayor under section 107C of the 2009 Act;”; 

(ii) after paragraph (h), insert 

 (i) the combined authority”; 

(c) in subsection (7)— 

(i) for paragraph (f), substitute— 

“(f) calculating the PCC component council tax requirement.” 

(ii) omit paragraphs (g) and (h)(b); 

(iii) for subsection (10), substitute— 

“(10) The deputy mayor for policing and crime is a member of staff of the combined 

authority, unless they are a member of the combined authority.”. 

22. In section 21, after subsection (3) insert— 

“(3A) Expenditure may be paid out of the police fund only if, and to the extent that, it is 

incurred in or otherwise relates to, the exercise of the mayor’s PCC functions.”. 

23. In section 28— 

(a) omit subsections (1A) and (1B)(c); 

(b) in subsection (6)(a), after “police and crime commissioner” insert, “, the deputy mayor 

for policing and crime and any other person who exercises any function of the mayor 

pursuant to arrangements made under section 18”. 

24. In section 29— 

(a) for subsection (1), substitute— 

“(1) A police and crime panel may require— 

(a) the mayor; 

(b) the deputy mayor for policing and crime; 

(c) members of staff of the combined authority deployed wholly or partly in relation to 

the mayor’s PCC functions; and 

(d) any members of the combined authority who exercise any function of the mayor 

pursuant to arrangements made under section 18, 

to attend before the panel (at reasonable notice) to answer any question which appears to 

the panel to be necessary in order for it to carry out its functions.”. 

(b) for subsection (2), substitute— 

“(2) Nothing in subsection (1) requires a person to give any evidence, or produce any 

document, which discloses advice given to— 

(a) the mayor in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions; 

(b) the deputy mayor for policing and crime; or 

(c) a member of the combined authority who exercises any function of the mayor 

pursuant to arrangements made under section 18.”. 

 
(a) Section 18 was amended by section 79 of, and paragraph 53 of Schedule 7 to, the Localism Act 2011 (c. 20); and section 45 

of, and paragraph 116 of Schedule 12 to, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (c. 2). 
(b) Paragraphs (7)(g) and (h) were added by section 45 of, and paragraph 116 of Schedule 12 to, the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 (c. 2). 
(c) Subsections (1A) and (1B) were added by section 6 of, and paragraph 89 of Schedule 1 to, the Policing and Crime Act 2017 

(c. 3). 

Page 57



 

 40 

(c) for subsection (5), substitute— 

“(5) Any person referred to in subsection (1)(b), (c) or (d) must comply with any 

requirement imposed on them under that subsection.”; 

(d) in subsection (6), after “commissioner” insert “or “the deputy mayor for policing and 

crime”. 

25. In section 30— 

(a) in subsection (1), for “relevant police and crime commissioner” substitute “the mayor so 

far as acting in the exercise of PCC functions”; 

(b) for subsection (3), substitute— 

“(3) For the purposes of salary, pensions and allowances in respect of times during 

a period of suspension, the mayor is to be treated as holding that office during that 

suspension.”. 

26. In section 31(3), for paragraphs (b) to (d) substitute— 

 “(b) deputy mayor for policing and crime.”. 

27. In section 62— 

(a) for subsection (1), substitute— 

“(1) The police and crime panel must appoint a person to exercise the mayor’s PCC’s 

functions (the “acting commissioner”) if the mayor is suspended from the exercise of PCC 

functions in accordance with section 30.”; 

(b) in subsection (2), for “member of the police and crime commissioner’s staff” substitute 

“member of the staff of the combined authority deployed wholly or partly in relation to 

the mayor’s PCC functions or the deputy mayor for policing and crime”; 

(c) after subsection (2), insert— 

“(2A) The police and crime panel may not appoint as acting commissioner any person 

appointed as a deputy mayor under section 107C of the 2009 Act.”; 

(d) omit subsection (3); 

(e) for subsection (5), substitute— 

“(5) Any property or rights vested in the combined authority in relation to the mayor’s 

PCC functions can be dealt with by the acting commissioner.”; 

(f) omit subsection (6)(c); 

(g) in subsection (7)— 

(i) omit “incapacitated or”; 

(ii) omit “(6)(c) or”; 

(h) omit subsection (8). 

28. For section 63, substitute— 

“(1) Subsection (2) applies where— 

(a) the deputy mayor is appointed under section 107C of the 2009 Act to act for 

the mayor because the mayor is unable to act; and 

(b) the mayor does not cease to be unable to act during the period of 6 months 

beginning with the day on which the acting mayor was appointed. 

(2) At the end of that 6 month period— 

(a) the mayor ceases to be the mayor, and 

(b) accordingly, the office of mayor becomes vacant.”. 

Page 58



 

 41 

29. For section 64(3) to (4A)(a), substitute— 

(3) A person is disqualified from being elected at an election held under this Order if— 

(a) the person has been nominated as a candidate for election as police and 

crime commissioner for an election for any other police area at an ordinary 

election, and 

(b) the ordinary election is held on the same day as the election to return the 

mayor. 

(4) A person is disqualified from being elected as the mayor at an election other than an 

election held under this Order if— 

(a) the person is the police and crime commissioner for any other police area; 

or 

(b) the person has been nominated as a candidate for election as police and crime 

commissioner for any other police area for which an election is held on the 

same day.”. 

30. In section 65(b)— 

(a) in subsection (1)(e), insert after paragraph (ii)— 

 (iii) the combined authority.”; 

(b) for subsection (1A)(c) , substitute— 

“(1A) Subsection (1)(e)(i) does not prevent a deputy mayor for policing and crime— (a) 

from being elected as mayor at an election held under this Order; (b) from being elected at 

an election held otherwise than under this Order to fill a vacancy in the office of mayor if, 

on the day on which the person is nominated as a candidate at the election and at all times 

between that day and the declaration of the result of the election, the deputy is acting as 

acting commissioner under section 62.”. 

31. In section 70— 

(a) for subsection (1), substitute— 

“(1) A person elected to the office of mayor may not exercise police and crime 

commissioner functions unless that person has made the specified declaration to the 

appropriate officer.”; 

(b) omit subsection (2); 

(c) in subsection (5), for “office” substitute “the duty of exercising police and crime 

commissioner functions as mayor”; 

(d) for subsection (6), substitute— 

“(6) In this section— 

“appropriate officer” means the person designated as the head of paid service by 

the combined authority under section 4(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 1989; 

“specified declaration” means the following declaration— 

I [Full Name] of [Place] do hereby declare that I accept the duty of exercising 

Police and Crime Commissioner functions as West Yorkshire Mayor. 

In making this declaration, I solemnly and sincerely promise that in exercising 

Police and Crime Commissioner functions: 

I will serve all the people of West Yorkshire. 

 
(a) Subsections (3A) and (4A) were inserted into section 64 by article 10 of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

(Transfer of Police and Crime Commissioner Functions to the Mayor) Order 2017 (S.I. 2017/470).  
(b) Section 65(1) was amended by paragraph 184 of Schedule 8 to the Crime and Courts Act 2013 (c. 22). 

(c) Subsection (1A) was inserted by section 123 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 (c. 3). 

Page 59



 

 42 

I will act with integrity and diligence in my role and, to the best of my ability, 

will execute my duties to ensure that the police are able to cut crime and protect 

the public. 

I will give a voice to the public, especially victims of crime, and work with other 

services to ensure the safety of the community and effective criminal justice. 

I will take all steps within my power to ensure transparency of my decisions, so 

that I may be properly held to account by the public. 

I will not interfere with the operational independence of police officers.”; 

(e) omit subsection (7). 

32. In Schedule 1— 

(a) for paragraph 1, substitute— 

“1. This Schedule applies in relation to the mayor in the exercise of PCC functions.”; 

(b) for paragraph 4, substitute— 

“4. —(1) The mayor must make authorised pension payments. 

(2) In this paragraph “authorised pension payments” means— 

(a) pensions to, or in respect of, persons who have been the police and crime 

commissioner for West Yorkshire, and 

(b) amounts for or towards provision of pensions to, or in respect of, persons 

who have been the police and crime commissioner for West Yorkshire, 

which are of the kinds and amounts determined by the Secretary of State as payable in 

accordance with this paragraph,”; 

(c) in paragraph 5(2), for “any of paragraphs 2 to” substitute “paragraph”; 

(d) in paragraph 8(a)— 

(i) for each reference to “deputy police and crime commissioner” substitute “deputy 

mayor for policing and crime”; 

(ii) for sub-paragraph (3) and (3A), substitute— 

“(3) The terms and conditions of a person appointed as the deputy mayor for 

policing and crime must ensure that the person’s term of office ends no later 

than the third day after the day of the poll at an election for the return of a 

mayor. 

“(3A) The terms and conditions must also provide for the deputy mayor for 

policing and crime’s appointment to end when, following an election held to 

fill a vacancy in the office of the appointing mayor, the person elected 

makes and delivers a declaration under section 70.”. 

(e) for paragraph 9(1), substitute— 

“(1) The mayor must notify the police and crime panel of each proposed 

appointment by the mayor of a deputy mayor for policing and crime.”; 

(f) in paragraph 10(9)(a), for “ordinary election of a police and crime commissioner under 

section 50” substitute “election for the return of the mayor”; 

(g) for paragraph 13, substitute— 

“13. — (1) The mayor may pay — 

(a) remuneration, allowances and gratuities to members of the combined authority’s 

staff deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions; and 

 
(a) Paragraph 8 was amended by section 122(2) and (3) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 (c. 3) 

Page 60



 

 43 

(b) to the deputy mayor for policing and crime where that person is not a member of 

staff of the combined authority, allowances and gratuities. 

(2) The mayor may pay— 

(a) pensions to, or in respect of, persons who have been members of the combined 

authority’s staff deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC 

functions; and 

(b) amounts for or towards provision of pensions to, or in respect of, persons who have 

been members of the combined authority’s staff deployed wholly or partly in 

relation to the mayor’s PCC functions. 

(3) In this paragraph “allowances” — 

(a) in relation to a member of the combined authority’s staff deployed wholly or partly 

in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions, means allowances in respect of expenses 

incurred by the member of staff in the course of employment in relation to such 

functions; and 

(b) in relation to a deputy mayor for policing and crime who is not a member of the 

combined authority’s staff, means allowances in respect of expenses incurred by 

the deputy mayor for policing and crime in the course of that person’s duties as 

deputy mayor for policing and crime.”; 

(h) for paragraph 15(2), substitute— 

“(2) A person who is— 

(a) a member of staff of the combined authority deployed wholly or partly in 

relation to the mayor’s PCC functions; or 

(b) a member of the combined authority exercising the mayor’s PCC functions; 

has no personal liability for an act or omission done by the person, in the carrying 

out of duties relating to the mayor’s PCC functions as a member of staff or as a 

member of the combined authority, unless it is shown to have been done otherwise 

than in good faith.”; 

(i) for paragraph 16, substitute— 

“16. References to the financial year of the mayor are to be read as if they were 

references to the financial year of the combined authority.”. 

33. In Schedule 5— 

(a) in paragraph 1— 

(i) for sub-paragraph (1), substitute— 

“(1) The mayor may not determine the final amount of the PCC component for a 

financial year until the end of the scrutiny process is reached”; 

(ii) for sub-paragraph (3), substitute— 

“(3) References in this Schedule to the determining of the final amount of the PCC 

component include references to the determining of the amount of the PCC 

component of a substitute precept.”; 

(b) in paragraph 2, for “the precept which the commissioner is proposing to issue” substitute 

“the proposed amount of the PCC component”; 

(c) in paragraph 3(3), for “the precept that should be issued” substitute “the amount of the 

PCC component”; 

(d) in paragraph 4(3), for “precept for the financial year” substitute “PCC component for the 

financial year”; 

(e) in paragraph 5(3)— 

(i) in paragraph (a), for “issue the proposed precept as the precept” substitute 
“determine that the proposed amount of the PCC component is the final amount of 

the PCC component”; 

Page 61



 

 44 

(ii) in paragraph (b), for “issue a different precept” substitute “determine a different PCC 

component”; 

(f) in paragraph 6(2), for “issue the proposed precept as the precept” substitute “determine 

that the proposed PCC component is to be the PCC component”; 

(g) in paragraph 8— 

(i) in sub-paragraph (1), for “issuing of precepts” substitute “determining the amount of 

the PCC component”; 

(ii) in sub-paragraph (4), for “precept that may be issued” substitute “amount of the PCC 

component”. 

34. In Schedule 6(a) — 

(a) for paragraph 21, substitute— 

“21. The mayor, a member of the combined authority appointed by the constituent 

councils, or substitute members acting in place of those members may not be a member of 

the police and crime panel for the area.”; 

(b) in paragraph 22(a), for the words “police and crime commissioner for that police area” 

substitute “combined authority”; 

(c) in paragraph 33, after sub-paragraph (1) insert— 

“(1A) But this paragraph does not apply if the elected mayor of that executive is a 

member of the combined authority appointed by the constituent councils.”. 

(d) in paragraph 34, after sub-paragraph (1) insert— 

“(1A) But this paragraph does not apply if the current mayor of that executive is a 

member of the combined authority appointed by the constituent councils.”. 

35. In Schedule 7— 

(a) in paragraph 3(1)(a)(ii), for “deputy police and crime commissioner” substitute “deputy 

mayor for policing and crime (unless the holder of that office is a member of the 

combined authority)”; 

(b) for paragraph 4, substitute— 

“4. — (1) This paragraph applies in relation to qualifying complaints which— 

(a) relate to a holder of the office of— 

 (i) mayor; or 

 (ii) deputy mayor for policing and crime, if the holder of that office is a member 

of the combined authority, and 

(b) are not, or cease to be, investigated by the Director General of the Independent 

Office for Police Conduct or a police force. 

(2) Regulations must secure that such complaints are dealt with in accordance with the 

combined authority’s code of conduct adopted under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 

2011.”. 

36. In Schedule 8— 

(a) for paragraph 4(10), substitute— 

“(10) For that purpose, “relevant post-election period” means the period that— 

(a) begins with the day of the poll at an election for the return of the mayor; and 

(b) ends with the day on which the person elected as mayor delivers a declaration 

under section 70.”; 

(b) for paragraph 15(8), substitute— 

 
(a) There are amendments to Schedule 6, none of which is relevant to this instrument. 

Page 62



 

 45 

“(8) For that purpose, “relevant post-election period” means the period that— 

(a) begins with the day of the poll at an election for the return of the mayor; and 

(b) ends with the day on which the person elected as mayor delivers a declaration under 

section 70.”. 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

37.—(1) The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014(a) is modified as follows. 

(2) In Schedule 4— 

(a) for paragraph 2(4)(a), substitute— 

 “(a) cases where the relevant authority referred to in the opening words of sub-

paragraph (2) (the “relevant authority concerned”) is a combined authority where 

the mayor exercises PCC functions;”; 

(b) for paragraph 2(5), substitute— 

“(5) Where the relevant authority concerned is a combined authority where the mayor 

exercises PCC functions, references to “the authority” include the chief constable for the 

area.”. 
 

PART 2 

Secondary Legislation 

Motor Vehicles (Third Party Risks) Regulations 1972 

38.—(1) The Motor Vehicles (Third Party Risks) Regulations 1972(b) are modified as follows. 

(2) For regulation 7(3), substitute— 

“(3) in the case of a motor vehicle owned by the combined authority for use wholly or 

partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions, a certificate in Form F signed by some 

person authorised in that behalf by the mayor that the motor vehicle is owned by the 

combined authority for use in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions.” 

Official Secrets Act 1989 (Prescription) Order 1990 

39.—(1) The Official Secrets Act 1989 (Prescription) Order 1990(c) is modified as follows. 

(2) In Schedule 2, for “a Deputy police and crime commissioner”, substitute “a Deputy mayor 

for policing and crime”. 
 

Police (Disposal of Sound Equipment) Regulations 1995 

40.—(1) The Police (Disposal of Sound Equipment) Regulations 1995(d) and modified as 

follows. 

(2) In regulation 4(4), for “local policing body” substitute “combined authority”. 

 
(a) 2014 c. 2. 
(b) S.I. 1972/1217; regulation 7(3) was amended by S.I. 2011/3058.  There are other amending instruments, but none is 

relevant. 
(c) S.I. 1990/200; amended by S.I. 2012/2900. There are other amending instruments, but none is relevant. 

(d) S.I. 1995/722; regulation 4 was amended by S.I. 2000/1549 and S.I. 2011/3058. 

Page 63



 

 46 

Police (Property) Regulations 1997 

41.—(1) The Police (Property) Regulations 1997(a) are modified as follows. 

(2) In regulation 6(6), for “relevant authority” substitute “combined authority”. 

(3) In regulation 7(1), for “vest in them” substitute “vest in the combined authority”. 

Health and Safety (Enforcing Authority) Regulations 1998 

42.—(1) The Health and Safety (Enforcing Authority) Regulations 1998(b) are modified as 

follows. 

(2) In regulation 4(3)(d), for “a local policing body” substitute “the combined authority in 

relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

Motor Vehicles (Driving Licences) Regulations 1999 

43.—(1) The Motor Vehicles (Driving Licences) Regulations 1999(c) are modified as follows. 

(2) In regulation 23(1)(c)(ii)(d), for “local policing body or” substitute “the combined authority 

deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions or a”. 

(3) In regulation 24(1)(d)(ii)(e), for “local policing body or” substitute “the combined authority 

deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions or a”. 

(4) In regulation 58(2)(c)(ii)(f), for “local policing body” substitute “the combined authority 

deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

Redundancy Payments (Continuity of Employment in Local Government, etc) 

(Modification) Order 1999 

44.—(1) The Redundancy Payments (Continuity of Employment in Local Government, etc) 

(Modification) Order 1999(g) is modified as follows. 

(2) For paragraph 2 of Section 6 of Schedule 1, substitute— 

“2. The combined authority in relation to employees deployed wholly or partly in relation 

to the mayor’s PCC functions.”. 

Motor Vehicles (Access to Driver Licensing Records) Regulations 2001 

45.—(1) The Motor Vehicles (Access to Driver Licensing Records) Regulations 2001(h) are 

modified as follows. 

(2) In regulation 3(2), for “local policing body or” substitute “the combined authority deployed 

wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions or a” 

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (Drug Testing of Persons in Police Detention) 

(Prescribed Persons) Regulations 2001 

46.—(1) The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (Drug Testing of Persons in Police 

Detention) (Prescribed Persons) Regulations 2001(i) are modified as follows. 

 
(a) S.I. 1997/1908; regulations 6 and 7 were amended by S.I. 2002/2313 and S.I. 2013/2318. 

(b) S.I. 1998/494; regulation 4(3)(d) was amended by S.I. 2011/3058. There are other amending instruments, but none is 
relevant. 

(c) S.I. 1999/2864. 
(d) Regulation 23(1)(c) was substituted by S.I. 2011/3058. There are other amending instruments, but none is relevant. 

(e) Regulation 24(1)(d) was inserted by S.I. 2011/3058. There are other amending instruments, but none is relevant. 
(f) Regulation 58(2)(c)(ii) was substituted by S.I. 2011/3058. 

(g) S.I. 1999/2277; paragraph 2 of Section 6 of Schedule 1 was substituted by S.I. 2012/2733. 
(h) S.I. 2001/3343; regulation 3 was amended by S.I. 2011/3058. 

(i) S.I. 2001/2645; regulation 2(1)(b) was amended by S.I. 2012/61. 

Page 64



 

 47 

(2) In regulation 2(1)(b), for “a local policing body or” substitute “the combined authority 

deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions or a”. 

Police Regulations 2003 

47.—(1) The Police Regulations 2003(a) are modified as follows. 

(2) In regulation 7(7)(a), for “a deputy appointed under section 18(1)(a) or 19(1)(a) of the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011” substitute “the deputy mayor for policing and crime”. 

(3) In regulation 24(1)(b), for “local policing body” substitute “combined authority deployed 

wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

Docking of Working Dogs’ Tails (England) Regulations 2007 

48.—(1) The Docking of Working Dogs’ Tails (England) Regulations 2007(b) are modified as 

follows. 

(2) In regulation 2, for the definition of “police identification” substitute— 

“police identification” means evidence that the person presenting the identification is— 

(a) a police officer; 

(b) employed by the combined authority and deployed wholly or partly in 

relation to the mayor’s PCC functions; 

(c) contracted to work for the mayor in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions; or 

(d) contracted to work for, or otherwise employed by, the chief officer of police.

”. 

REACH Enforcement Regulations 2008 

49.—(1) The Reach Enforcement Regulations 2008(c) are modified as follows. 

(2) In paragraph 5(c) of Part 3 of Schedule 3, for “local policing body” substitute “the combined 

authority in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011 

50.—(1) The Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011(d) is modified 

as follows. 

(2) In article 1(2)— 

(a) for the definition of “election” substitute— 

““election” means an election for the return of a mayor;””; 

(b) in the definition of “relevant office holder”, for “deputy police and crime commissioner” 

substitute “deputy mayor for policing and crime” 

(c) for the definition of “senior employee”, substitute— 

““senior employee” means a member of staff of the combined authority 

deployed wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions and whose 

salary exceeds £50,000;” 

 

and; 

(d) for the definition of “staff”, substitute— 

 
(a) S.I. 2003/527; regulation 24(1)(b) was amended by S.I. 2011/3026. 
(b) S.I. 2007/1120; regulation 2 was amended by S.I. 2012/61. 

(c) S.I. 2008/2852; paragraph 5(c) of Part 3 of Schedule 3 was amended by S.I. 2011/3058. There are other amendments but 
none is relevant. 

(d) S.I. 2011/3050 

Page 65



 

 48 

““staff” means members of staff employed by the combined authority deployed 

wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions but does not include 

the deputy mayor for policing and crime.””. 

(3) In the Schedule— 

(a) in paragraph 2— 

(i) omit the first reference to “of the elected local policing body”; 

(ii) for each of the remaining two references to “elected local policing body” substitute 

“combined authority”; 

(b) in paragraph 3(a) — 

(i) for sub-paragraph (b), substitute— 

“(b) the PCC component;”; 

(ii) in sub-paragraph (c), for “the precept” substitute “the PCC component”; 

(c) in paragraph 4(b) — 

(i) for the first reference to “elected local policing body”, substitute “combined 

authority in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”; 

(ii) in sub-paragraph (a), for “by, or occupied for the purposes of” substitute “by the 

combined authority in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions, or occupied for the 

purpose of”; 

(iii) in sub-paragraphs (b) and (c), for “£10,000” substitute “£5,000”; 

(iv) for sub-paragraph (d), substitute— 

“(d) a list of every contract with a value not exceeding £5,000 — 

 (i) which the mayor has entered into, or is to enter into, on behalf of the 

combined authority in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions; or 

 (ii) to which the chief officer of the police force maintained by the mayor 

is, or is to be, a party, 

including the value of the contract, the identity of every other party to the 

contract and the purpose of the contract”. 

Policing Protocol Order 2011 

51.—(1) The Policing Protocol Order 2011(c) is modified as follows. 

(2) In the Schedule— 

(a) in paragraph 5, for “each PCC” substitute “the combined authority deployed wholly or 

partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”; 

(b) for paragraph 13, substitute— 

“13. Chief Constables are established in law as corporations sole within the 2011 Act. In 

doing so Chief Constables are enabled by law to employ staff and hold funds. Chief 

Constables are charged with the impartial direction and control of all constables and staff 

within the police force that they lead. 

13A. The staff of the combined authority deployed wholly or partly in relation to the 

mayor’s PCC functions are accountable to the directly elected mayor to enable the mayor to 

exercise their PCC functions.”; 

(c) in paragraph 16, for “precept” substitute “PCC component”; 

(d) in paragraph 17(d), for “precept” substitute “PCC component”; 

 
(a) Paragraph 3 of the Schedule was amended by S.I. 2012/2479 and by S.I. 2013/1816. 
(b) Paragraph 4 of the Schedule was amended by S.I. 2012/2479. 

(c) S.I. 2011/2744. 

Page 66



 

 49 

(e) in paragraph 24— 

(i) in sub-paragraph (a), for “precept” substitute “PCC component”; 

(ii) in sub-paragraph (h), for “incapacitated, resigns or is disqualified” substitute 

“suspended from the exercise of PCC functions”; 

(iii) omit sub-paragraph (i); 

(f) after paragraph 24, insert— 

“24A. Complaints against the mayor and deputy mayor for policing and crime (if that 

person is a member of the combined authority) will be dealt with in accordance with the 

combined authority’s existing standards regime, which operates under local government 

legislation. Serious complaints and conduct matters must be passed to the Director General 

of the Independent Office for Police Conduct in line with legislation.”. 

Elected Local Policing Bodies (Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2012 

52.—(1) The Elected Local Policing Bodies (Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2012(a) 

are modified as follows. 

(2) In regulation 2— 

(a) after the definition of “document”, insert— 

“head of paid service” means the head of paid service designated by the combined 

authority under section 4(1)(a) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989(b); 

(b) in the definition of “police and crime panel”, in paragraph (a), for “deputy police and 

crime commissioner” substitute “deputy mayor for policing and crime”; 

(c) in the definition of “relevant office”, for paragraph (b) substitute— 

“(b) deputy mayor for policing and crime;”. 

(3) In regulation 7— 

(a) for paragraph (1)(a), substitute— 

“(a) the monitoring officer appointed by the combined authority under section 5(1)(a) 

of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989;”; 

(b) in paragraph (2), omit “a chief executive or”; 

(c) for paragraph (3), substitute— 

“(3) Where the police and crime panel delegates powers or duties conferred or imposed 

by or under regulation 9 (notification and recording of complaints), 11 (notification and 

recording of conduct matters arising in civil proceedings) or 12 (recording of conduct 

matters in other cases) to the monitoring officer appointed by the combined authority, the 

monitoring officer shall notify the head of paid service of any complaint or conduct matter 

considered by the monitoring officer in accordance with those regulations.”. 

(4) In regulation 15(3)(a), for “the office holder’s staff” substitute “staff deployed by the 

combined authority wholly or partly in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions” 

(5) For regulation 28(1)— 

(a) omit paragraph (a); 

(b) for paragraph (b), substitute— 

“(b) the deputy mayor for policing and crime who is not a member of the combined 

authority at the time when the complaint is recorded;”. 

(6) For regulation 29, substitute— 

 
(a) S.I. 2012/62, to which there are amendments not relevant to this Order. 

(b) 1989 c. 42. 

Page 67



 

 50 

“29.— Resolution in accordance with the combined authority’s code of conduct. 

(1) If a complaint to which this Part applies concerns the conduct of— 

(a) the mayor; or 

(b) the deputy mayor for policing and crime who is a member of the combined 

authority at the time when the complaint is recorded, 

the police and crime panel shall pass the complaint to the monitoring officer appointed 

by the combined authority under section 5(1)(a) of the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989 (“the monitoring officer”). 

(2) On receiving a complaint in accordance with paragraph (1), the monitoring officer 

shall deal with it in accordance with the combined authority’s code of conduct adopted 

under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011(a). 

(3) The monitoring officer shall as soon as practicable inform the police and crime panel 

of the outcome of the complaint.”. 

Police Appeals Tribunals Rules 2012 

53.—(1) The Police Appeals Tribunals Rules 2012(b) are modified as follows. 

(2) In rule 15(4) for “relevant local policing body” substitute “combined authority”. 

Police and Crime Commissioner (Disqualification) (Supplementary Provisions) Regulations 

2012 

54.—(1) The Police and Crime Commissioner (Disqualification) (Supplementary Provisions) 

Regulations 2012(c) are modified as follows. 

(2) In regulation 3(2)— 

(a) in sub-paragraph (c), omit “or”; 

(b) in sub-paragraph (d), after “(c).” insert “, or”; 

(c) after sub-paragraph (d) insert— 

“(e) the combined authority.”. 

Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and Chief Constable Appointments) Regulations 2012 

55.—(1) The Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and Chief Constable Appointments) 

Regulations 2012(d) are modified as follows. 

(2) In regulation 4(2), for “may issue the proposed precept as the precept” substitute “may 

determine that the proposed PCC component is the final amount of the PCC component”. 

(3) In regulation 5(2), for “precept that he now proposes to issue” substitute “PCC component 

that he now proposes to determine”. 

(4) In regulation 6(2)— 

(a) in sub-paragraph (a), for “issuing the revised precept as the precept” substitute “finalising 

the revised precept as the PCC component to be determined”; 

(b) in sub-paragraph (b), for “precept that should be issued” substitute “PCC component that 

should be determined”. 

(4A) In regulation 7 (police and crime commissioner’s consideration of second report), for “1st 

March” substitute “the penultimate working day in February” 

 
(a) 2011 c. 20. 

(b) S.I. 2012/2630, to which there are amendments not relevant to this Order. 
(c) S.I. 2012/2087. 

(d) S.I. 2012/2271. 

Page 68



 

 51 

(5) In regulation 8— 

(a) in paragraph (2)— 

(i) in sub-paragraph (a), for “issue the revised precept as the precept” substitute “finalise 

the revised precept as the PCC component to be determined”; 

(ii) in sub-paragraph (b), for “issue a different precept” substitute “finalise a different 

amount of the PCC component”. 

(b) in paragraph (3)— 

(i) in sub-paragraph (a), for “issue a precept” substitute “finalise the PCC component”; 

(ii) in sub-paragraph (b), for “issue a precept” substitute “finalise the PCC component” 

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 
 

56.—(1) The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013(a) are modified as follows. 

(2) After regulation 64(8), insert— 

“(8A) Paragraph (8B) applies where the exiting employer is the Police and Crime 

Commissioner for the area and the liabilities of the fund in respect of benefits due to the 

commissioner’s current and former employees (or those of any predecessor authority) have 

been or are to be transferred to the combined authority by virtue of The West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) Order [2020/2021]. 

(8B) Where this paragraph applies, no exit payment is due under paragraph (1) and 

paragraph (2) does not apply.” 

Local Audit (Auditor Resignation and Removal) Regulations 2014 

57.—(1) The Local Audit (Auditor Resignation and Removal) Regulations 2014(b) are modified 

as follows. 

(2) In regulation 2— 

(a) in paragraph (3), for “police and crime commissioner” substitute “combined authority”; 

(b) in paragraph (4), for “a police and crime commissioner” substitute “the combined 

authority in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions”. 

Combined Authorities (Mayors) (Filling of Vacancies) Order 2017 

58.—(1) The Combined Authorities (Mayors) (Filling of Vacancies) Order 2017(c) is modified 

as follows. 

(2) In article 4(d)— 

(a) omit “or” at the end of paragraph (ii); 

(b) insert “or” at the end of paragraph (iii); 

(c) after paragraph (iii), insert— 

 “(iv) the mayor ceasing to hold office by virtue of section 63 of the 2011 Act.”. 
 

 
(a) S.I. 2013/2356, to which there are amendments not relevant to this Order. 
(b) S.I. 2014/1710, to which there are amendments not relevant to this Order. 

(c) S.I. 2017/69. 

Page 69



 

 52 

 SCHEDULE 6 Article 35(3) 

Exclusion of legislation from application to the combined authority 

mayor with policing and crime functions 

Primary legislation 

1. Section 28 of the Leasehold Reform Act 1967(a). 

2. The following provisions of the Local Government Act 1972(b) — 

(a) section 102(6) to (11); 

(b) section 223(2); 

(c) paragraph 6ZA of Part 1 of Schedule 12. 

3. Section 5(3)(baa) of the Rent (Agriculture) Act 1976(c). 

4. Section 14(1)(caa) of the Rent Act 1977(d). 

5. Sections 95, 96A, 97 and 98 of the Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980(e). 

6. Sections 33 and 41 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982(f). 

7. Sections 13AB(8)(f) and 13B(4)(g) of the Representation of the People Act 1983(g). 

8. Section 60 of the County Courts Act 1984(h). 

9. Sections 80(1), 157(1), 171(2), 573(1), paragraph 2(1) of Schedule 1, grounds 7 and 12 in 

Schedule 2, ground 5 in Schedule 3, paragraph 7(1) of Schedule 4 and paragraph 5(1)(b) of 

Schedule 5 to the Housing Act 1985(i). 

10. Section 38 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985(j). 

11. Section 7 of the Local Government Act 1986(k). 

12. Section 58 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987(l). 

13. Paragraph 12(2)(g) of Schedule 1 to the Housing Act 1988(m). 

 
(a) 1967 c. 88. Section 28(5)(a) was amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 85 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 

Social Responsibility Act 2011 (c. 13). There are other amending Acts but none is relevant. 
(b) 1972 c. 70.  Section 102(6) to (11)  and paragraphs 6ZA and the quoted words in paragraph 6B of Schedule 12 were 

inserted by section 7 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 (c. 3).  Section 223 was amended by paragraph 24 of Schedule 6 to 
the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 and by section 99 of, and paragraph 109 of 

Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  There are other amending Acts but none is relevant 
(c) 1976 c. 80. Section 5(3)(baa) was inserted by section 43 of, and paragraph 52 of Schedule 4 to, the Police and Magistrates’ 

Courts Act 1994 (c. 29), and was amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 134 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

(d) 1977 c. 42. Section 14(1)(caa) was inserted by section 43 of, and paragraph 53 of Schedule 4 to, the Police and Magistrates’ 
Courts Act 1994, and was amended by section 99 of, and paragraph 135 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011. 
(e) 1980 c. 65. 

(f) 1982 c. 30. Section 33 was amended by paragraph 6 of Schedule 7 to the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 (c. 34); 
section 119 of and paragraph 56(2)(a) of Schedule 6, to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 

Act 2009; and section 99 of, and paragraph 156 of Schedule 16 to, the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011; 
section 59 of, and paragraphs 6(1) and 16(a) of Schedule 13 to the  Deregulation Act 2015 (c. 20). There are other 

amendments to section 33, but none is relevant.   
(g) 1983 c. 2.  Section 13AB was inserted by section 16(3) of the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 (c. 6). 

Section 13B was substituted by section 8 of, and paragraph 6 of Schedule 1 to, the Representation of the People Act 2000 
and amended by section 74 of, and paragraph 3 of Schedule 10 to, the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  

There are other amendments but none is relevant. 
(h) 1984 c. 28. 

(i) 1985 c. 68 
(j) 1985 c. 70. 

(k) 1986 c. 10. 
(l) 1987 c. 31. 

(m) 1988 c. 50. 

Page 70



 

 53 

14. Sections 111, 113, 114 and 114ALocal Government Finance Act 1988(a). 

15. Section 39 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992(b). 

16. Section 33 of the Value Added Tax Act 1994(c). 

17. Section 94 of the Police Act 1996(d). 

18. Paragraph 57 of Schedule 1 to the Freedom of Information Act 2000(e). 

19. Sections 21 and 22 of the Local Government Act 2003(f). 

20. The following provisions of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004(g)— 

(a) section 3(7) and (9); 

(b) section 4A; 

(c) Schedules A1 and A2. 

21. The following provisions of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011— 

(a) section 1, subsections (1) to (4)(h); 

(b) sections 50 to 61(i) ; 

(c) section 69; 

(d) sections 71 to 75; 

(e) section 102(3); 

(f) Schedule 1, paragraphs 2, 3, 5(1), 6(1), (2) and (4), and 7; 

(g) Schedule 6, paragraphs 33 to 35; 

(h) Schedules 9 and 10. 

22. Paragraph 19 of Schedule 2 to the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014(j). 

23. Sections 5(7)(a) and (9)(a) of, and paragraph 92 of Schedule 1 to, the Policing and Crime 

Act 2017(k). 

Secondary Legislation 

24. The Police and Crime Commissioner Elections (Declaration of Acceptance of Office) Order 

2012(l). 

25. Police and Crime Commissioner Elections (Functions of Returning Officers) Regulations 

2012(m). 

26. Police and Crime Commissioner Elections (Returning Officers’ Accounts) Regulations 

2012(n). 

27. Police and Crime Commissioner (Elections) Order 2012(o). 

 
(a) 1988 c. 41 
(b) 1992 c. 14 

(c) 1994 c. 23. 
(d) 1996 c. 16. 

(e) 2000 c. 36. 
(f) 2003 c. 26. 

(g) 2004 c. 21 
(h) 2011 c. 13. Section 1, to which there are amendments not relevant to this Order.   

(i) Section 42 was amended by section 140(5) and (6) of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (c. 12). 
(j) 2014 c. 2. 

(k) 2017 c. 3. 
(l) S.I. 2012/2553. 

(m) S.I. 2012/1918. 
(n) S.I. 2012/2088. 

(o) S.I. 2012/1917. 

Page 71



 

 54 

28. The following provisions of Schedule 2 to the Local Government Pension Scheme 

Regulations 2013(a)— 

(a) Part 1, Paragraph 6; 

(b) and Part 4. 

29. Article 7 of the Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster Order 2015(b). 

30. Police and Crime Commissioner (Elections) Order 2015(c). 

31. Transfer of Functions (Police and Crime Commissioner Elections) Order 2015(d). 

32. Police and Crime Commissioner (Designation of Police Area Returning Officers) Order 

2015(e). 

33. Police and Crime Commissioner (Designation of Local Authorities) Order 2015(f). 

34. Police and Crime Commissioner (Local Returning Officers’ and Police Area Returning 

Officers’ Charges) Order 2016(g). 

35. The Police and Crime Commissioner Elections (Amendment) Order 2016(h). 

36. Police and Crime Commissioner Elections (Returning Officers’ Accounts) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016(i). 

 SCHEDULE 7 Article 44 

“SCHEDULE 1 

Constitution 

Membership 

1.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), the Combined Authority shall comprise ten members in 

addition to the Mayor as provided for in the following sub-paragraphs. 

(2) Each of the constituent councils shall appoint one of its elected members as a member of the 

Combined Authority. 

(3) The constituent councils shall agree the appointment of another elected member from three 

of the constituent councils, so that the constituent council members taken as a whole reflect so far 

as reasonably practicable the balance of political parties for the time being prevailing among 

members of the constituent councils; in the absence of such agreement no members shall be 

appointed under this sub-paragraph. 

(4) The non-constituent council shall appoint one of its elected members to be a member of the 

Combined Authority. 

(5) Each constituent council and the non-constituent council shall appoint another of its elected 

members to act as a member of the Combined Authority in the absence of the members appointed 

under sub-paragraphs (2) to (4) (“the substitute member”). 

 
(a) S.I. 2013/2356. 
(b) S.I. 2015/1376. 

(c) S.I. 2015/665. 
(d) S.I. 2015/1526. 

(e) S.I. 2015/2031. 
(f) S.I. 2015/2028 

(g) S.I. 2016/514. 
(h) S.I. 2016/300. 

(i) S.I. 2016/488. 

Page 72



 

 55 

(6) The substitute members for members appointed under sub-paragraph (3) must be appointed 

jointly by the constituent councils. 

(7) The Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership shall nominate one of its members to be a 

member of the Combined Authority (“Local Enterprise Partnership Member”). 

(8) The Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership shall nominate another of its members to act 

as a member of the Combined Authority in the absence of the member appointed under sub-

paragraph (7) (“the substitute member”). 

(9) For the purposes of this Schedule any reference to a member is to be treated as including a 

reference to the Local Enterprise Partnership Member and substitute member. 

(10) A person ceases to be a member or substitute member of the Combined Authority if they 

cease to be— 

(a) a member of the constituent council or non-constituent council that appointed them; or 

(b) a member of the Local Enterprise Partnership that nominated them. 

(11) A person may resign as a member or substitute member of the Combined Authority by 

written notice served on the proper officer of the council, combined authority or the chair or vice-

chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership (as the case may be) of— 

(a) the constituent council or non-constituent council that appointed them; or 

(b) the Local Enterprise Partnership that nominated them, 

and the resignation shall take effect on receipt of the notice by the proper officer of the council, 

combined authority or chair or vice-chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership (as the case may be). 

(12) Where a member or substitute member’s appointment ceases by virtue of sub-paragraph 

(10) or (11)— 

(a) the constituent council or the non-constituent council that made the appointment shall, as 

soon as practicable, give written notice of that fact to the Combined Authority and 

appoint another of its elected members in that person’s place; 

(b) the Local Enterprise Partnership must, as soon as practicable, give written notice of that 

fact to the Combined Authority and nominate another of its members in that person’s 

place. 

(13) The Combined Authority shall appoint a member nominated under sub-paragraph (12)(b) at 

the next ordinary meeting of the Combined Authority. 

(14) A constituent council or the non-constituent council may at any time terminate the 

appointment of a member or substitute member appointed by it to the Combined Authority and 

appoint another of its elected members in that person’s place. 

(15) The appointment of the members and substitute members for members appointed under sub 

paragraph (3) can only be terminated jointly by the constituent councils. 

(16) Where a constituent council or the non-constituent council exercises its power under sub-

paragraphs (14) and (15), it shall give written notice of the new appointment and the termination 

of the previous appointment to the Combined Authority and the new appointment shall take effect 

and the previous appointment terminate at the end of one week from the date on which the notice 

is given or such longer period not exceeding one month as is specified in the notice. 

(17) The Local Enterprise Partnership may at any time terminate the appointment of a member 

or substitute member nominated by it to the Combined Authority and nominate another of its 

members in that person’s place. 

(18) Where the Local Enterprise Partnership exercises its power under sub-paragraph (17), it 

shall give written notice of the new nomination and the termination of the previous appointment to 

the Combined Authority. 

(19) The Combined Authority shall appoint a member nominated under sub-paragraph (18) and 

the new appointment shall take effect and the previous appointment terminate at the end of one 

week from the date on which the notice is given or such longer period not exceeding one month as 

is specified in the notice. 

Page 73



 

 56 

(20) For the purposes of this paragraph, an elected mayor of a constituent council or non-

constituent council is to be treated as a member of the constituent council or non-constituent 

council. 

Chairman and vice-chairman 

2.—(1) For the period up until the Mayor begins their term of office in accordance with article 3 

(4) (a) of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) [Order 

2020/2021, the Combined Authority must appoint a chairman and a vice chairman from amongst 

its members. 

(2) A person ceases to be chairman or vice-chairman of the Combined Authority if they cease to 

be a member of the Combined Authority. 

(3) If a vacancy arises in the office of chairman or vice-chairman, an appointment to fill the 

vacancy is to be made at the next ordinary meeting of the Combined Authority or, if that meeting 

is to be held within 14 days of the vacancy arising, at the meeting following that meeting. 

Proceedings 

3.—(1) Subject to the following sub-paragraphs, any questions that are to be decided by the 

Combined Authority are to be decided by a majority of the members and substitute members, 

acting in place of members, present and voting on that question at a meeting of the Combined 

Authority. 

(2) For the period up until the Mayor begins their term of office in accordance with article 3 (4) 

(a) of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) Order 

[2020/2021] no business shall be transacted at a meeting of the Combined Authority unless at least 

three members or substitute members appointed by the constituent councils are present. 

(3) Upon the Mayor beginning their term of office in accordance with article 3 (4) (a) the West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) [Order 2020/2021], no 

business shall be transacted at a meeting of the Combined Authority unless the Mayor or the 

deputy Mayor acting in place of the Mayor and at least three members of the Combined Authority 

appointed by Constituent Councils under paragraph 1(2) or the substitute member acting in their 

place are present. 

(4) Where the deputy mayor is acting in the place of the Mayor they cannot also act in their 

capacity as a Combined Authority Member. 

(5) The substitute member for the deputy mayor may act in the capacity of a Combined 

Authority member when the deputy mayor is acting in the place of the mayor.   

(6) Each member, or substitute member acting in that member’s place, is to have one vote and 

no member or substitute member is to have a casting vote. 

(7) If a vote is tied on any matter it shall be deemed not to have been carried. 

(8) Members appointed by the non-constituent council, the Local Enterprise Partnership 

Member and non-constituent council and Local Enterprise Partnership substitute members shall be 

non-voting members of the Combined Authority. 

(9) Proposals for decisions by the Combined Authority may be put forward by the Mayor or any 

member of the Combined Authority. 

(10) Questions relating to functions of the Combined Authority conferred by the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) Order [2020/2021] and not solely 

exercisable by the Mayor pursuant to Article 27 cannot be carried without the Mayor’s vote in 

favour of the question.  
 

(11) The following decisions of the Combined Authority require those voting in favour to 

include at least three members appointed under paragraph 1 (2)— 

(a) approving the Combined Authority’s budget; and 

Page 74



 

 57 

(b) issuing the levy pursuant to article 29 (5) of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

(Election of Mayor and Functions) [Order 2020/2021]. 

(12) Reference to a two thirds majority in article 8 (4) of the Combined Authorities (Finance) 

Order 2017(a) is to be read as reference to a five eights majority.  

(13) Any decision of the Mayor which gives rise to a financial liability for a constituent council 

requires the consent of the member appointed by that constituent council. 

(14) The proceedings of the Combined Authority shall not be invalidated by any vacancy among 

its members or substitute members or by any defect in the appointment or qualifications of any 

member or substitute member. 

Committees 

4.—(1) The Combined Authority shall appoint one or more committees as an overview and 

scrutiny committee, or as the case may be committees, of the Combined Authority. 

(2) The Combined Authority shall appoint at least one member of each of the constituent 

councils and the non-constituent council to an overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the 

Combined Authority. 

(3) Members appointed from the non-constituent council to the overview and scrutiny 

committee of the Combined Authority, and members appointed from the non-constituent council 

or the Local Enterprise Partnership to any other committee or sub-committee of the Combined 

Authority, shall be non-voting members of the committee or sub-committee but may be given 

voting rights by resolution of the Combined Authority. 

Records 

5.—(1) The Combined Authority must make arrangements for the names of members and 

substitute members present at any meeting to be recorded. 

(2) Minutes of the proceedings of a meeting of the Combined Authority, or any committee or 

sub-committee of the Combined Authority, are to be kept in such form as the Combined Authority 

may determine. 

(3) Any such minutes are to be signed at the same or next suitable meeting of the Combined 

Authority, committee or sub-committee as the case may be, by the person presiding at that 

meeting. 

(4) Any minute purporting to be signed as mentioned in sub-paragraph (3) shall be received in 

evidence without further proof. 

(5) Until the contrary is proved, a meeting of the Combined Authority, committee or 

subcommittee, a minute of whose proceedings has been signed in accordance with this paragraph, 

is deemed to have been duly convened and held, and all the members and substitute members 

present at the meeting are deemed to have been duly qualified. 

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3) the next suitable meeting is the next following 

meeting or, where standing orders made by the Combined Authority provide for another meeting 

of the authority, committee or sub-committee, to be regarded as suitable, either the next following 

meeting or that other meeting. 

Standing orders 

6. The Combined Authority may make standing orders for the regulation of its proceedings and 

business and may vary or revoke any such orders. 

 
(a) S.I. 2017/611. 

Page 75



 

 58 

Remuneration 

7.—(1) Subject to paragraphs 8 and 9 no remuneration is to be payable by the Combined 

Authority to its members, other than allowances for travel and subsistence paid in accordance with 

a scheme approved by the Combined Authority. 

8.—(1) The Combined Authority may establish an independent remuneration panel who may 

make recommendations to the Combined Authority regarding the allowances payable to— 

(a) the Mayor; and 

(b) the Deputy Mayor provided that the Deputy Mayor is not a leader or elected mayor of a 

Constituent or non- Constituent Council or the Chair of the LEP. 

(2) An independent remuneration panel must consist of at least three members none of whom— 

(a) is also a member of the Combined Authority or is a member of a committee or sub-

committee of the Combined Authority or a member of a constituent council of the 

Combined Authority; or 

(b) is disqualified from being or becoming a member of the Combined Authority. 

(3) The Combined Authority may pay the expenses incurred by the independent remuneration 

panel established under paragraph (2) in carrying out its functions and may pay the members of 

the panel such allowances or expenses as the Combined Authority may determine. 

9.—(1) The Combined Authority may only pay an allowance to the Mayor or the Deputy Mayor 

if— 

(a) the Combined Authority has considered a report published by the independent 

remuneration panel established under paragraph 7 (1) which contains recommendations 

for such an allowance; and 

(b) the allowance paid by the Combined Authority does not exceed the amount specified in 

the recommendation made by the independent remuneration panel. 

10. The Combined Authority must consider a report from the independent remuneration panel 

before approving a scheme under paragraph 7 (1). 

 

 

 

 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

 

(This note is not part of the Order) 

 

This Order provides for the conferral of functions of local authorities and other public authorities 

on the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (“the Combined Authority”). 
 

Part 6 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (“the 2009 

Act”) provides for the establishment of combined authorities for the areas of two or more local 

authorities in England. Combined authorities are bodies corporate which may be given power to 

exercise specified functions of a local authority under section 105 of the 2009 Act, and power to 

exercise specified functions of any other public authority under section 105A of the 2009 Act. 
 

Under sections 107A(1) and 107B(3) of the 2009 Act the Secretary of State may provide for there 

to be a mayor for the area of a combined authority with the consent of the constituent councils of 

the combined authority (each district council or county council whose area is within the area of the 

combined authority) and any existing combined authority. Paragraph 3 of Schedule 5B to the 2009 

Act provides that the Secretary of State may make provision for the dates on which and years in 

Page 76



 

 59 

which mayoral elections for the area of a combined authority may or must take place, the intervals 

between elections for the return of a mayor and the term of office of a mayor. 

 

Article 3 of the Order creates the position of mayor for the area of the West Yorkshire Combined 

Authority. Article 3 further specifies the term of office for the mayor for the area of the West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority, and the dates on which elections for the return of a mayor shall 

take place and the intervals between elections. Article 4 provides for the appointment of a political 

advisor to the Mayor. 
 

Article 5 of the order confers on the Combined Authority functions of the constituent councils in 

relation to education, skills and training to be exercisable by the Combined Authority in the 

Combined Authority’s area concurrently with the constituent councils. Article 6 of the Order 

provides for the transfer to the Combined Authority of adult education functions under 86 to 88 of 

the Apprenticeships, Skills Children and Learning Act 2009, with the exception of such functions 

relating to apprenticeships training, persons subject to adult detention or any power to make 

regulations or orders. The transferred functions will be exercisable by the Combined Authority 

instead of by the Secretary of State in relation to the area of the Combined Authority. 
 

Article 7 also provides for the functions of the Secretary of State under section 90 of the 

Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009, which relate to the encouragement of 

education and training for persons aged 19 or over, and under section 100(1) of that Act, which 

relate to the provision of financial resources, to be exercisable by the Combined Authority in 

relation to the area. The functions will be exercisable by the Combined Authority concurrently 

with the Secretary of State. 
 

Article 8 sets conditions on the exercise of the functions mentioned in Articles 6 and 7. The 

Combined Authority must adopt rules of eligibility for awards by an institution to which it makes 

grants, loans or other payments under section 100 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and 

Learning Act 2009 in accordance with any direction given by the Secretary of State. In addition, in 

exercising the transferred functions, the Combined Authority must have regard to guidance issued 

by the Secretary of State (as amended from time to time or replaced by a subsequent document). 

 

Article 9 and Schedule 1 to the Order apply certain provisions of the Apprenticeships, Skills, 

Children and Learning Act 2009 with modifications to the Combined Authority for the purpose of 

the Combined Authority exercising the functions conferred on it by articles 6 and 7. 
 

Article 10 to the Order confers on the Combined Authority functions in relation to housing and 

regeneration which are to be exercised concurrently with the Homes and Communities Agency. 
 

Articles 11 makes provision about the acquisition and appropriation of land for planning and 

public purposes. Article 12 sets out conditions on the exercise of various functions. Article 13 and 

Schedule 2 applies and modifies relevant provisions in legislation. 
 

Part 5 of the Order confers on the Combined Authority functions corresponding to those of the 

Mayor of London in relation to the designation of a Mayoral development area. Schedule 3 to the 

Order modifies Part 8 of and Schedule 21 to the Localism Act 2011 which makes provision about 

the establishment of a Mayoral development corporation, its objects and powers as well as its 

constitution and governance. 
 

Part 6 of the Order confers transport functions on the Combined Authority. Article 17 applies 

section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003 to ensure that a Minister of the Crown’s power to 

Page 77



 

 60 

pay a grant under section 31(1) of the Local Government Act 2003 is exercisable by the Combined 

Authority in relation to its area towards expenditure incurred or to be incurred by a constituent 

council. Article 18 confers on the Combined Authority functions to give grants to bus service 

operators. Article 19 confers functions to enter into agreements in respect of highways functions. 

Article 20 confers on the Combined Authority functions in relation to traffic regulation. 

 

Articles 21 to 24 provide for certain transport functions of the constituent councils to be 

exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation to the Combined Authority’s area. 
 

Part 7 of the Order confers additional functions to be exercisable by the Combined Authority. The 

functions are to be exercised concurrently.  

Article 27 sets out the functions of the Combined Authority which are to be only exercisable by 

the Mayor. Article 28 makes provision in relation to Joint Committees. 

Article 29 makes provision for the funding, by the constituent councils of those costs of the 

combined Authority that relate to the exercise of its functions.  

Article 30 is a transitional provision relating to the Police and Crime Commissioner precept.  

Article 31 provides that the Combined Authority is to have in relation to its area functions 

corresponding to the functions that the Greater London Authority has under the BRS Act to levy a 

supplement on business rates to raise money for expenditure on a project which will promote 

economic development in its area. Article 32 provides that the functions are exercisable only by 

the Mayor, that the Mayor may be assisted by members or officers of the authority in the exercise 

of the functions and that the general power of the Combined Authority under section 113A of the 

2009 Act is conferred on the Mayor for the purposes of those functions. Article 33 provides for 

modification of the Business Rate Supplements Act 2009. 

 

Part 10 of the Order makes provision for the Mayor for the area of the combined authority to 

exercise functions of a police and crime commissioner (“PCC”). Article 35 of this Order provides 

that, in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions, the mayor is to be treated as a PCC for the purposes 

of all legislation affecting PCCs. This is subject to certain modifications of such in their 

application to the mayor set out in Schedule 5 to the Order and does not apply in respect of the 

legislative provisions listed in Schedule 6 to the Order. 
 

Articles 36 to 40 make transitional provision in relation to the transfer of functions, in particular in 

relation to transfer of property, rights and liabilities. The property, rights and liabilities of the PCC 

for West Yorkshire are to transfer to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. In relation to such 

property, rights and liabilities (and any acquired in relation to the mayor’s PCC functions after the 

transfer) the mayor is to exercise all functions in relation to such property etc, make all decisions 

relating to it. Any receipts arising from such property, rights and liabilities or from property, rights 

and liabilities acquired in the future, are to be paid into the police fund. 
 

Article 41 extends the period in which the statement of accounts required by the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in relation to the PCC for West Yorkshire (or, after the transfer, the 

combined authority in respect of the PCC’s accounts), and the chief constable for that area is to be 

prepared. 
 

Article 42 applies section 86 of the Local Government Act 1972 (“the 1972 Act”) in relation to the 

mayor but with a modification to that section which has the effect that where a mayor ceases to be 

mayor by virtue of being unable to act for more than six months (see section 63 of the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011), the combined authority shall declare the office of 

mayor to be vacant, unless there is a High Court declaration under Part 5 of the 1972 Act. 

Page 78



 
Dear Susan, Shabir, Denise, Tim and Judith,  
 
West Yorkshire Devolution Deal  
 
Following your submission to the Secretary of State of the governance review, scheme and 
consultation required by statute for the implementation of the West Yorkshire devolution deal 
which we agreed and announced on 11 March, I am pleased to confirm that the Secretary of State 
is satisfied the statutory tests to implement the deal are met. We are now finalising the necessary 
Order and I enclose a copy of a near final draft which may be subject to further minor legal drafting 
amendments. We intend to lay the Order before Parliament in early December, subject to each of 
your councils and the combined authority consenting to the Order. Accordingly, I am now inviting 
you to put in place arrangements enabling your council’s formal consent to be confirmed.       
 
As you see, the Order will provide for certain functions of local and public authorities to be 
exercised by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (the “WYCA”), and for certain specified 
functions of the WYCA to be exercisable only by the Mayor of the WYCA.  It also amends certain 
governance arrangements. The provisions in the Order correspond to the proposals published in 
your Governance Review and Scheme with two exceptions in regard to strategic planning powers 
and strategic infrastructure tariff. Given our intention to reform the planning system (as set out in 
the "Planning for the Future" white paper) we are committing that we will seek to confer these 
powers (or equivalent as established through the ongoing planning reform process) to WYCA 
when the position is clearer.  
 
My officials will keep closely in touch with your officers as the legal drafting of the Order is finalised 
and your councils give formal consent to the finalised Order. 
 
Finally, thank you for all your hard work to get to this point. Implementing the West Yorkshire deal 
will be a significant step for everyone in West Yorkshire providing critical support to the economic 
recovery of West Yorkshire communities from the impact of Covid-19 and I am delighted we are 
moving forward. 

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 
 

LUKE HALL MP   
 

 
 

 
Cllr Susan Hinchcliffe  
Cllr Shabir Pandor  
Cllr Denise Jeffery  
Cllr Tim Swift  
Cllr Judith Blake  
  

Luke Hall MP 
Minister for Regional Growth and Local Government    
  
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 
Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
London  
SW1P 4DF 
   
Tel: 0303 444 3440 
Email: Luke.Hall@communities.gov.uk 
 
www.gov.uk/mhclg 
 
16 November 2020  

Page 79

http://www.gov.uk/mhclg


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
Name of meeting:  Council 
 
Date: 25 November 2020 
 
Title of report:  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report  2019/20   
  
In line with constitutional requirements, this report presents the Overview and 
Scrutiny Annual Report for the 2019/20 municipal year to Council.    
 

Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a 
significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards? 

Not applicable 

Is it in the Council’s Forward Plan? 
 
 

Not applicable 

Is it eligible for “call in” by Scrutiny? 
 

Not applicable 

Date signed off by Director & name 
 
 
Date signed off by Director & name 
 
 
Is it signed off by the Director of 
Finance? 
 
Is it signed off by the Service 
Director - Legal Governance and 
Commissioning? 

Rachel Spencer Henshall, 16 November 
2020  
 
Mel Meggs, 16 November 2020 
 
Not applicable 
 
 
Julie Muscroft, 17 November 2020 
 

Cabinet member portfolio 
 

Not applicable 
 

 
Electoral wards affected:  None specific 
  
Ward councillors consulted: Not applicable 
 
Public or private: Public Report 
 
Have you considered GDPR? 
 
Yes GDPR has been considered. The information in this report does not identify any 
individuals.   

Page 81

Agenda Item 6:

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/ForwardPlan/forwardplan.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/scrutiny/Scrutiny.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/cabinet/cabinet.asp
http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/councillors/yourcouncillors.asp


1. Information      
 
The Council’s Constitution requires the Chair of Scrutiny to submit a report to 
Council at the end of each municipal year, highlighting Overview and Scrutiny 
work in the previous twelve months.  The impact of the global pandemic has 
resulted in a delay to submission on this occasion.  
 
Attached at Appendix One is the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for 
2019/20.  The Council is asked to receive and note the Annual Report        

 
2. Implications for the Council  
 

The work of Overview and Scrutiny contributes to all the Council priorities set out 
below by considering proposals and pieces of work that contribute to delivering 
the priorities:    
 

 Working with People 

 Working with Partners 

 Place Based Working 

 Climate Change and Air Quality 

 Improving Outcomes for Children 
 

4. Consultees and their opinions 
 Not applicable 

 
5. Next steps  

 Following consideration by Council, the Annual Report will be available for 
information on the Council’s website. 

 
6. Officer recommendations and reasons 

That Council receive and note the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 
2019/20. 

 
7. Cabinet portfolio holder recommendation  

Not applicable 
 
8. Contact officer and relevant papers 

Samantha Lawton, Head of Governance  
Tel: 01484 221000    Email: samantha.lawton@kirklees.gov.uk  
 

8. Background papers and history of decisions 
 

 Minutes of Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee and Scrutiny 
Panels during 2019/20 

 Lead Member Reports to Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee in 
2019/20 
 

9. Service Director responsible  
Julie Muscroft, Service Director, Legal, Governance & Commissioning  

Page 82

mailto:samantha.lawton@kirklees.gov.uk


1

Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report

2019/20

Page 83



2

Chair’s Foreword

The start of the 2019/20 municipal year saw the 
appointment of 4 new Scrutiny Panel Chairs and I 
would like to thank them for their hard work during 
this difficult year.  

Further to the publication of new guidance for 
effective overview and scrutiny in local government, 
a workshop was held September 2019 facilitated by 
the Centre of Public Scrutiny – whilst some of this 
work has been put on hold due to the pandemic, we 
will be re-visiting this work for the new municipal 
year.  This year has seen a range of approaches 
utilised, including partnership visits and workshops, 
as well as an increase in pre-decision scrutiny 
which is something that we want to build on in the 
future.  Ad hoc panels included a time restricted 
examination of the allocation of the Council’s 
housing stock and a longer term review of Elective 
Home Education.  A further working group was also 
established to look at Place Based Working.

The onset of the coronavirus pandemic saw the 
cancellation of a number of public meetings, but 
informal scrutiny continued, particularly focusing 
on the Council’s response to the pandemic.  A full 
schedule of public scrutiny meetings resumed 
as soon as technology allowed and I would like 
to take this opportunity to thank officers for their 
work in facilitating this.  I would also like to thank 
all councillors and our invaluable voluntary and 
statutory scrutiny co-optees who took part in 
scrutiny work during this year, for their contribution 
and willingness to adapt to new methods of working 
and ensuring that effective scrutiny can continue in 
Kirklees’.

Chair of Scrutiny 

Councillor Liz Smaje

Page 84



3

Contents

Chair’s Foreword 2

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 2019/20 4

Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel – Future Arrangements for the Council’s 

Residential Housing Stock 6

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Panel 8

Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 11

Corporate Scrutiny Panel 14

Economy & Neighbourhood Scrutiny Panel 17

Children’s Scrutiny Panel 20

Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel – Elective Home Education 23

Work Programme 2020-21 24

Frequently Asked Questions  25

Page 85



4

Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee 2019/20  

Committee membership
Councillor Elizabeth Smaje  (Chair)  

Councillor Andrew Cooper    
Councillor Harpreet Uppal    

Councillor Andrew Marchington    
Councillor Habiban Zaman   

Committee Work Programme: 
• Leader of the Council - Portfolio Priorities 2019/20

• Leader of Council – Update on Priorities 2018/19

• Pre-decision discussion – Outcomes of Corporate Peer Review

• Outcomes of Peer Review and next steps

• Corporate Peer Challenge outcomes and proposed action plan

• Peer Challenge Feedback Report and Action Plan

• Transformation Programme progress report , including milestones and timescales for work streams

• Pre-decision discussion – Corporate Plan Refresh

• Effective Regional Working

• Regional Update, including inclusive growth

• Cohesion Review Progress Report

• Domestic Abuse Strategy 2019-21

• Place Based Working update

• Kirklees Climate Emergency Declaration – Update on work of Working Party

• Update on the Climate Emergency Working Party

• Annual Review of Flood Risk Management Action Plan

Committee Work Programme – Scrutiny Business
• Approval and monitoring of scrutiny work programme 2019/20

• Scrutiny communications

• Appointment and allocation of co-optees

• Re-establishment of Elective Home Education Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel

• Establishment of Ad-Hoc Scrutiny Panel - Future Arrangements for the Council’s Residential Housing
Stock

• Establishment of a Joint Health Scrutiny Committee

• Scrutiny Panel Lead Member Reports

• Report of the Scrutiny Ad Hoc Panel (Future Arrangements for the Council’s Residential Housing Stock)

Page 86



5

Committee Highlights

Place Based Working
At their meeting on 9 September 2019, the 
Management Committee considered an update 
on the work taking place to develop the Council’s 
approach to Place Based Working. 

The Committee noted that place based working 
was one of the core elements of Kirklees Council’s 
Corporate Plan. The developing approach 
was predicated on the view that citizens and 
communities were best placed to know their own 
challenges and their strengths but could not 
always achieve change alone. Communities and 
their representatives were being put at the heart of 
system design and delivery which could significantly 
increase the impact for citizens.

The committee members who had experience of 
using the place standard agreed that it was excellent 
for engaging local people in conversations. However, 
it was resource intensive and the council needed 
to ensure that work was properly resourced at all 
stages in order to maximise the effectiveness of the 
approach.

In providing feedback on the approach, it was 
suggested that councillors needed to be involved in 
the project a little earlier.  In welcoming the Place 
Partnership work the committee felt there needed 
to be clearer intelligence information available on 
mental health and domestic abuse. It was important 
to understand where gaps were in an area, where 
services were currently working and how the 
partnership monies could be used to add value and 
avoid duplication. 

 The committee discussed how it wished to 
scrutinise place based working moving forward and 
agreed that a subgroup would be formed, drawing 
membership from the Corporate Scrutiny Panel and 
the Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel. 
It was requested that future information coming 
to scrutiny should start to include timescales 
and specific priorities.   The sub-group was 
subsequently established and work is ongoing.

LGA Corporate Peer Challenge
At its’ meeting on 29 November 2019, the 
Management Committee considered a proposed 
approach to the development of an action plan in 
response to the recommendations from the Local 
Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge. 

The Committee resolved that there needed to 
be clarity around monitoring arrangements and 
ownership of agreed actions and recommended that 
a progress report should be considered at Cabinet 
and Council.  This recommendation was included 
within the report to Council on 15 January 2020 
where the Action Plan was approved.

Page 87



6

Ad hoc Scrutiny Panel 
Future arrangements for the council’s 
residential housing stock
Summary 
At its’ meeting on 4 November 2019, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Committee agreed to 
establish an Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel to carry out a 
focussed piece of work to identify the best option(s) 
for the Council to achieve the right balance of risk 
and outcomes for local residents in relation to the 
housing stock for which it is the landlord.   

In considering the request, it was emphasised that 
the work would need to have cognisance of the 
findings of the Hackitt Review and the changing risk 
and regulatory landscape.  The work also explored 
the risks and benefits of different models of housing 
delivery and associated opportunities to maximise 
the contribution of the Council’s housing stock to 
better outcomes for the borough’s more vulnerable 
residents. 

It was also important to note that the scrutiny remit 
was not to review the day to day operation of Kirklees 
Neighbourhood Housing (KNH) as the manager 
of the Council’s housing stock, but instead to have 
a broader focus on risk, outcomes and strategic 
direction moving forward. 

Terms of Reference
The approved terms of reference of the Ad Hoc 
Scrutiny Panel (Future Arrangements for the Council’s 
Residential Housing Stock) are set out below: 

In light of the findings of the Hackitt Review and the 
changing risk and regulatory landscape, the Ad Hoc 
Scrutiny Panel will consider the best options for the 
Council as landlord, to achieve the right balance 
between risk to the Council and outcomes for local 
residents.  The panel will consider the following;    

1. The background to the current model in Kirklees.

2. Information on the different models of housing
delivery, including governance  requirements.

3. The risks and benefits of each model.

4. How each model supports the Council’s strategic
priorities, in particular the Health and Wellbeing
Strategy and the Economic Strategy

5. The outcomes for residents, including how

outcomes can be maximised for the more 
vulnerable residents of Kirklees     

6. Evidence from other areas where similar
issues have been considered, to reflect on their
experience.

Work Undertaken
The Panel used a range of methods to gather the 
evidence that has been used to inform this report. 
The Panel held 7 informal and 3 public meetings 
between December 2019 and February 2020. 

The Panel heard from representatives from each of 
the 3 housing delivery models under consideration, 
which included a local authority who had been 
through the experience of bringing an Arms-Length 
Management Organisation (ALMO) back in house, 
the Chief Executive of an ALMO and the Chief 
Executive of an organisation which had moved from 
an ALMO delivery model to a housing association. 

From the outset of the process, the Panel 
recognised the importance of the tenant voice 
and were keen to hear from the tenant and as to 
their experiences and views.  Evidence was heard 
from TPA, representatives from the Tenants’ and 
Leaseholder Panel in Kirklees and residents from 5 
TRAs across the District. 

A questionnaire was also distributed to inform 
how Kirklees Council may approach the future 
management of its Council Housing stock.  The 
questionnaire was created as an alternative to 
attendance at a formal ad-hoc scrutiny meeting. 
A total of 7 responses were received from a mix 
of the 3 organisational delivery models under 
consideration.   

Supporting information 
The Panel considered a wide body of information 
to ensure that recommendations were robust and 
based on sound evidence. 

Page 88



7

Findings
The Panel’s work was progressed at pace so that a 
findings report could be finalised in early 2020 as 
requested.  

In considering the evidence presented, there was a 
differing of views during the Panel’s considerations 
as to whether a compelling case had been made for 
either model.  A view was expressed that the evidence 
presented did demonstrate that the in-house model 
would be most appropriate, citing the opportunities for 
synergy and alignment, with both strategy and other 
Council services such as social services, cleansing and 
waste.  

Reference was also made to the potential of the 
in-house model to provide a seamless service, 
particularly in relation to vulnerable tenants, as well 
as opportunities for efficiencies and savings. However, 
it was acknowledged that further consideration would 
need to be given to how the voice of the tenant would 
be heard within an in-house model.    

In deliberating the pros and cons of both the in-
house and ALMO models, the Panel concluded that 
there were positive elements within both models and 
resolved that consideration should be given as to how 
these could be combined into an appropriate structure 
that could deliver the best outcomes for tenants. 

The Panel therefore determined that the ‘form follows 
function’ approach outlined by TPAS should be taken 
to the development of housing delivery, with the 
desired aims and outcomes identified at the outset 
and appropriate arrangements put in place to achieve 
them, rather than the choice of model being the 
starting point for discussion.   

The Panel felt that it was crucial to involve tenants in 
the development of key outcomes and that this should 
be done at the earliest opportunity, so that they could 
have input into the model without a decision already 
being made. 

In terms of key outcomes, the Panel referred to 
good and transparent governance, effective risk 
management and compliance, meaningful tenant 
involvement and housing that was fit for the for the 
twenty first century. 

Outcomes
A report, which included an Action Plan detailing 
the Portfolio Holder and Directorate’s responses 
to the Panel’s 13 recommendations was submitted 
as planned to Cabinet on 24 March 2020, but 
unfortunately the meeting was cancelled due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.   

The report was subsequently received by Cabinet on 
21 May 2020.  The recommendations were agreed, 
with the caveat that Cabinet would have oversight of 
the implementation of all recommendations and the 
process going forward.  

Cabinet welcomed the Panel’s support and 
involvement around the process of engagement and 
OSMC were subsequently requested to re-convene 
the Ad Hoc Panel with revised terms of reference to 
carry out this work. 

As per the Panel’s recommendation, the Chair of the 
Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel was 
invited to attend any future meetings of the Ad Hoc 
Panel. 

Terms of Reference for Re-established 
Ad-Hoc Panel
The Ad Hoc Panel will:- 

1. Scrutinise, advise and contribute to tenant
engagement proposals, including the
Communication Plan and materials during the
phases of engagement;

2. Consider the consultation results and scrutinise,
advise and contribute to proposals for the way
forward with tenant engagement; and

3. Monitor progress on the responses to the Panel’s
recommendations outlined in the Action Plan,
agreed by Cabinet on 21 March 2020.

The work of the Ad-Hoc Panel is ongoing and they 
are due to report to Cabinet on 20 October 2020.

Page 89



8

Health And Adult Social Care Scrutiny 
Panel 2019/20

Health and Adult Social Care Work Programme 2019/20 
• Financial position of the Kirklees Health and Adult Social Care Economy.

• Care Closer to Home

• Integration of Health and Adult Social Care

• Integrated Wellness Model

• Quality of Care in Kirklees

• Suicide Prevention

• Mental Health Rehabilitation and Recovery Services Transformation Project.

• Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board (KSAB) 2018/19 Annual Report

• Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust (MYHT) Ambulatory Emergency Care (AEC) Services

• Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD) and Foetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS).

• Transforming Outpatient Care at Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust (CHFT)

• Yorkshire Ambulance Service (YAS) Response Times

• Primary Care Networks (PCNs)

• West Yorkshire and Harrogate Local Maternity Network

• Kirklees Immunisation Programme

• Update on Winter Planning

• Locala

• Mental Health Services – Single Point of Access

Panel membership
Cllr Habiban Zaman (Chair) 

Cllr Aafaq Butt (from August 2020)
Cllr Alison Munro 

Cllr Vivien Lees-Hamilton 
Cllr Lesley Warner

Cllr Fazila Loonat (until August 2020)
David Rigby –  Voluntary co-optee

Peter Bradshaw–  Voluntary co-optee
Lynne Keady –  Voluntary co-optee

Page 90



9continues overleaf...

The Financial Position of the Health and 
Social Care system in Kirklees  
In June 2019 the Panel received an update on 
the financial position of the health and social 
care system in Kirklees. The Panel considered 
presentations from key NHS and social care 
organisations in Kirklees, including details of 
their current financial position as well as 2019/20 
financial recovery plans and Cost Improvement 
Programmes.

The discussions covered a number of areas that 
included the commitment from local commissioners 
to invest in community services; the planned 
increase in funding for primary care services; a 
detailed explanation of the national challenges 
in dealing with a struggling independent sector 
homecare market; and the transformation work that 
was taking place to try and help drive efficiencies, 
improve outcomes and manage demand in adult 
social care

Outcome
The Panel felt that it was important to maintain a 
focus on the financial position of the local health 
and adult social care economy and agreed to receive 
further financial updates from each organisation 
later in the year to include an outline of the work 
that is being carried out to meet the 2019/20 budget 
plans.

Transforming Outpatient Care at 
Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS 
Foundation Trust (CHFT)
Since 2018 the panel has been maintaining an 
overview of the work that is being developed by 
Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust 
(CHFT) to introduce new models of outpatient care, 
enabled by the use of digital technology designed to 
improve the experience and convenience for patients 
in accessing outpatient services and offer a more 
efficient use of NHS resources.

Panel highlights

At a meeting in September 2019 the panel received 
an update on the Trust’s programme to transform 
the delivery of outpatient care that included 
details of progress of the implementation of the 
programme and an explanation of how the new 
model had improved patients experience and 
outcomes. 

In October 2019 arrangements were made for the 
panel to visit the outpatients’ areas located at the 
trust’s Acre Mills site and see first-hand how the 
changes had improved the patients experience and 
outcomes and to understand the benefits to the 
Trust. 

The tour was followed by a number of clinical 
presentations and a practical demonstration of an 
outpatients’ appointment by video link.

Outcome:
The visit was extremely helpful in providing 
the panel with a greater understanding of the 
transformation work taking place and resulted in 
a number of panel recommendations that were 
designed to help improve people’s experience of the 
Trust’s Outpatient Services. 

The recommendations included an agreement 
from the Trust that it would review its mobile text 
appointment system to include looking at the 
process for opting in and out of the text service

Because the focus of the programme was to 
improve the efficiency of appointments through the 
increased use of IT and electronic devices the Panel 
also focused its recommendations on ensuring 
equitable access for patients who either didn’t have 
appropriate electronic equipment or were not IT 
literate.t

Page 91



10

West Yorkshire and Harrogate Local 
Maternity Network
The West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care 
Partnership have developed a

vision for a West Yorkshire and Harrogate (WY&H) 
Local Maternity System (LMS)

which is based on the needs and collaboration of 
women, their partners, and families.

At its meeting in September 2019 the panel invited 
representatives from the two Kirklees Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and the WY&H Health 
and Care Partnership to provide details of the 
background and context to the work that was 
taking place to produce robust local maternity 
plans to provide safer maternity care and improved 
outcomes across the West Yorkshire and Harrogate 
footprint.

The panel were particularly interested in how the 
plans would be actioned in Kirklees by the two acute 
trusts; the impact and implications the changes 
could have on local services; and to explore the 
development of Community Hubs.

Outcome:
The discussions were very constructive and 
the panel agreed a number of actions and 
recommendations that included: a request that 
consideration was given to developing a strategy 
that would provide greater sustainability to the 
West Yorkshire and Harrogate LMS programme; a 
recommendation that the LMS team monitored the 
outcomes of its programme to assess the impact 
it was having on the quality, safety and experience 
of women, their babies and their families; and 
a recommendation that the LMS programme 
acknowledged diversity and took steps to engage 
with a wide range of communities

Page 92



11

Joint Health Scrutiny Committees’ 
Headlines

Calderdale and Kirklees Joint Health Scrutiny Committee (JHSC)

Kirklees membership
Councillor Liz Smaje

Councillor Andrew Cooper
Councillor Will Simpson

Councillor Alison Munro (from July 2019)
Councillor Richard Eastwood (until 2019).

During the 2019/20 municipal year the JHSC met 
twice in July 2019 and October 2019. A third meeting 
had been scheduled to take place in March 2020 but 
was postponed due to the restrictions that had been 
introduced in response to COVID-19.

As outlined in its revised terms of reference the 
JHSC has continued its work that focuses on 
reviewing the revised proposals to include assessing 
its impact on patients and the public.  

The meeting held in July 2019 covered a number 
of important areas that included an update on the 
financial position of the Calderdale and Huddersfield 
NHS Foundation Trust (CHFT); a review of the 
trust’s Strategic Outline Case (SOC) that addressed 
feedback from staff, patients and the public 
and the recommendations of the Independent 
Reconfiguration Panel (IRP); and an update on 
progress of the plans that were being developed for 
stakeholder and public engagement.

In October 2019, the JHSC considered the 
engagement involvement plan and the report of 
findings from the stakeholder event which took 
place earlier in the year to re-engage with key 
stakeholders and to provide an update on the 
reconfiguration plans. 

The JHSC also considered the progress report 
on the future arrangements for Hospital and 
Community Services in Calderdale and Huddersfield 
that was submitted to the Minister of State for 
Health in September 2019.

Other issues scrutinised by the JHSC included the 
work being undertaken by Kirklees Council and 
Calderdale Council to highway improvements to 
the A629 Halifax to Huddersfield corridor; and to 
formally receive from the independent chair the 
final report detailing the findings of the work carried 
out by the Travel and Transport Group

Page 93



12

The JHOSC met 3 times during 2019/20 and covered 
a variety of issues that had implications for the West 
Yorkshire and Harrogate area.

Issues covered by the Joint Committee included: 
receiving a report from West Yorkshire and 
Harrogate Health and Care Partnership presenting 
the first draft of their Five-Year Strategy: proposed 
changes to the delivery of specialised commissioned 
vascular services across West Yorkshire; an 
update on the West Yorkshire Association of Acute 
Trusts (WYAAT) collaborative forum; details of the 
Improving Planned Care Programme; an update on 
the Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism 

Programme; and the proposed changes to the West 
Yorkshire assessment and treatment units (ATU) for 
people with learning disabilities.

During the year work also took place to draft new 
rules of procedure and terms of reference for the 
Joint Committee. 

As a result of the Joint Committee’s initial 
discussions on the proposed changes to specialist 
vascular services for adults in West Yorkshire the 
five West Yorkshire authorities and North Yorkshire 
County Council agreed to establish a mandatory 
Joint Health and Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to formally review the proposals. 

West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview 
And Scrutiny Committee

Kirklees membership
Councillor Liz Smaje

Page 94



13

North Yorkshire And West Yorkshire 
Joint Health Overview And Scrutiny 
Committee (Vascular Services).

This Joint Health Scrutiny Committee was 
established to examine proposals from the National 
Health Service (NHS) North East & Yorkshire Region 
Specialised Commissioning Team on changes to 
specialised vascular services in West Yorkshire.

Two meetings were arranged in January and 
February 2020 to review the proposals and received 
input from a wide range of NHS professionals that 
included representation from NHS England, NHS 
Improvement and contributions from a wide range 
of clinical leads, consultants and front line clinicians 
from Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation 
Trust, Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust and Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust.

In a letter sent in March 2020 to the Interim Regional 
Director of Specialised Commissioning and Health 
Justice the Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 
concluded that it understood the reasons for the 
proposals and accepted them as a pragmatic 
approach to addressing the challenges in the 
service.

The letter also included comments and 
recommendations about the implementation of 
the proposal that related to a number of areas that 
included: Sustainability of Services; Impact of the 
proposals on Other Services at Calderdale and 
Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust; Repatriation 
and Rehabilitation; Transport and Travel; and 
Networking arrangements.

In May 2020 the Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 
received a letter from NSE England and 
Improvement’s Regional Commissioning Committee 
for North East and Yorkshire that confirmed that 
it had approved the proposals and accepted the 
recommendations made by the Joint Committee.

Further meetings will be arranged later in the year 
for the Committee to formally receive NHS England 
and Improvement’s response to its comments and 
recommendations and consider next steps. 

Kirklees membership
Councillor Liz Smaje

Page 95



14

Corporate Scrutiny Panel

Panel membership
Councillor Andrew Cooper (Lead Member) 

Councillor Mahmood Akhtar
Councillor James Homewood

Councillor John Lawson
Councillor Will Simpson
Councillor John Taylor

Councillor Philip Chaloner (Voluntary Co-optee)
Councillor Nathan Paul (Voluntary Co-optee)

Panel Work Programme 
• Corporate Plan

• Financial Monitoring

• Corporate Performance

• Approach to Commercialisation

• People Strategy

• Technology Strategy Development

• Leaving the EU preparations

• Inclusion and Diversity

• Procurement

• Organisational Communication Strategy

• Cabinet member priorities

Panel Highlights – 2019/2020
Financial Monitoring
The Panel continued to monitor the Council’s 
financial management and received reports which 
included information on:

• Issues arising from the Quarter 3 Financial
Monitoring Report 2018/19 and other key financial
management updates.

• Results for Quarter 1 2019-20 and updates on
preparation for the forthcoming budget strategy
update report to Cabinet/Council in early/mid-
October.

• The Panel also held an informal training session
in September on Council Finance which attracted
attendance by Members from across the Council;
positive feedback was received both on the
content and presentation.

Outcomes:
The Panel requested a report on management of 
the Capital Plan in terms of re-profiling and the 
availability of resources and capacity to deliver 
its ambitions.  It was also noted that the Panel 
may wish to consider the issue of delivery plans 
and tracking of progress associated with savings 
programmes in more detail, at a future meeting. 

Page 96



15

Leaving the EU
During the year, the Panel received regular 
progress updates in respect of Kirklees’ 
preparations associated with the departure of the 
UK from the European Union.  Some of the key 
information presented to the Panel was that:

• As of January 2020, the UK had signed continuity
deals with twenty of the thirty-seven non-EU
countries with block trade free trade agreements
in place. Those thirty-seven countries
corresponded to 11% of UK exports

• Kirklees officers continue to work closely with
the local Federation of Small Businesses and the
Chamber of Commerce to support businesses
as they considered the potential opportunities for
exports and changes to the associated technical
details and conditions. Businesses were being
kept informed of changes as they happened

• The next stage of this work was to match analysis
of Kirklees level export destinations with the
current position on free trade agreements. This
would be reported back to the Panel along with
information on local business confidence levels,
assessed using the results of the latest Leeds
City Region business survey, and an examination
of the implications of transition for particular
sectors such as social care

Outcomes:
The panel agreed to continue to monitor the 
progress and requested that further information be 
presented to a future meeting to include an update 
on:

• the analysis of the Kirklees level export
destinations with the current position on free
trade agreements

• an assessment of local business confidence

• an evaluation of the implications for social care

• an update on the wider economic and social
impacts of transition including those issues that
extend beyond the Council’s remit

People Strategy
In February 2020, the Panel received an update on 
activities associated with the People Strategy, with 
reference to the ‘attraction’ workstream, and the 
key achievements from the last 12 months.  The key 
achievements included:

• The development of community outreach
programmes to encourage people, particularly
from some of the most disadvantaged groups and
communities, to apply for jobs with Kirklees and
to assist them to do so by signposting to support
for the development of the necessary skills
and helping with the completion of application
forms. This initiative had resulted in an increase
in applications for apprenticeships from female
applicants and those over the age of 30. There
had also been an increase in job applications
from people with disabilities and from black and
minority ethnic applicants

• Kirklees being shortlisted for a Local Government
Chronicle diversity award

• The High Five employee recognition scheme. This
had proved to be hugely successful, with excellent
feedback being received from the workforce.
The first Staff Awards event had taken place in
October 2019

• The ongoing modernisation of the recruitment
process, including the introduction of a new
digital platform and development of the induction
process to include engagement with new
employees at an early stage

The Strategy had been launched in November 2017 
and spanned from 2017 – 2020.  The plan was to 
refresh the strategy and the Panel was invited to 
provide feedback and comment on the planned 
refresh of the strategy.  

Continues overleaf

Page 97



16

The Panel welcomed the comprehensive report and 
in response to the refresh of the strategy made the 
following comments:

• There should be explicit reference to those staff who
also had caring responsibilities. Real life examples
should be provided to illustrate how the Council
could put support into practice so that it was clear to
these employees that they were valued and that the
challenges they faced were recognised

• The ‘High Five’ scheme and awards event were
excellent initiatives

• The culture of the Council needed to encourage and
reward those who adopted a wider, holistic approach
to their role and demonstrated a pride in the district
through their behaviours

• The introduction of a new digital recruitment
platform was a positive development

• Outcomes could be captured in the form of
individual’s stories and experiences, as well as raw
data, as this could better illustrate the impact of
initiatives.

• The wellbeing of employees, including their status
and how they were treated by an organisation, was
a very important element in terms of attraction
and retention and this issue needed to be given
equivalent weight to salary and benefits packages
when considering the offer to employees.

Outcomes:
The positive work being undertaken in respect of 
attraction and retention including; the staff recognition 
scheme, wellbeing support for existing staff, the ongoing 
improvements to recruitment processes and schemes 
to improve diversity were welcomed and supported.

The Panel recommended that:

• consideration be given to using ‘real-life’ stories to
illustrate data.

• the strategy make reference to those staff who are
also carers and the support available to them.

• the induction process for the most senior
employees, should include introductory engagement
with the political groups.

• the volunteering opportunity for staff and the
employee benefit platform should continue to be
well promoted.

They also requested that a further report be submitted 
to the Panel in Autumn 2020 on the refreshed 
strategy and that this include the recommendations 
forthcoming from the current study of the reasons for 
people leaving the authority.

Corporate Performance Report
The Panel considered a report giving an overview of the 
Council’s corporate performance at the end of Quarter 
1 2019/20, in respect of those aspects that related 
to the Corporate Plan aspiration to ‘work smart and 
deliver effectively and efficiently’. 

Outcomes:
• It was recommended that consideration to be given

to the inclusion of information in relation to the
following matters in future reports:

• the Council’s future ambition on sickness absence,
benchmarking with other West Yorkshire Local
Authorities and good news stories

• Explanation of Transformation within the
organisation which has had an impact on the
reduction in agency spend.

• improvements on Local Wealth Creation, the
Council’s future ambition and benchmarking with
other West Yorkshire Local Authorities

It was also recommended that the Panel be consulted 
on the early development and testing of dashboards 
for self-service access to data.

In addition, officers were asked to explore whether 
mental health was effectively represented in the 
performance data and if it was having an impact 
in terms of staff absences; and the possibility of 
consultation and engagement with local businesses 
on performance data and whether this could then 
influence the Council’s strategies and priorities.

The Panel also expressed a wish to receive a report 
on the volunteering offer, including details of the 
prospectus and volunteering opportunities, and how 
this could be further promoted by the Council.

Page 98



17

Panel membership
Councillor Harpreet Uppal (Lead Member)

Councillor Martyn Bolt
Councillor Richard Eastwood

Councillor Yusra Hussain
Richard Murgatroyd

Councillor John Taylor 
Andrew Bird (Co-optee)
Chris Friend (Co-optee)
Eilidh Ogden (Co-optee)

Work Programme 2019/20
• Towns and Communities in Kirklees

• Greenspace Strategy

• Tree and Woodland Management Policy

• Playable Spaces Strategy

• Digital Strategy

• Active Travel

• Waste Strategy

• Air Quality

• Housing (Tennant Engagement/Homelessness)

• Community Infrastructure Levy/ Supplementary
Planning Documents

• Inward Investment Strategy

Committee Highlights
Huddersfield Blueprint
The Panel received a report in relation to the 
Huddersfield Blueprint; the ten-year master plan 
for the Town Centre, which had been launched in 
June 2019. The report placed a particular focus 
engagement and consultation. 

The Panel welcomed representatives of Kirklees 
Youth Council and a lengthy and wide ranging 
discussion took place which included; the 
importance of ease of travel to the town centre 
other than by private car; the need to ensure that 
the consultation was completely inclusive and 
involved those who did not currently use the town 
centre as well as those who did; the potential 
impact on other town centres in the district; and the 
environmental impact of the proposals.  

Outcomes:  
The Panel was able to contribute towards ensuring 
that the consultation/engagement process on the 
Huddersfield Blueprint is as robust and inclusive 
as possible. Members were also able to identify a 
number of important issues that they might wish 
to consider in relation to the master plan moving 
forward; they requested the provision of a range of 
additional detailed information from the Head of 
Development and Master Planning and proposed a 
focus on particular issues within future reports. 

Scrutiny of Waste Service
The Panel received a presentation on waste related 
issues and made a number of recommendations 
in respect of the service. The Panel welcomed the 
work being undertaken by the Ward Based Squads, 
and the opportunities being taken to further expand 
the skills of the members of the team. 

Economy & Neighbourhoods 
Scrutiny Panel

Page 99



18

Outcomes:  
Ward Councillors should be provided with an 
overview of the issues reported to the Council by 
residents (including on ROSS) to assist them in 
determining the priorities for action within their 
ward. 

• Consideration should be given to how best the
Service might be able to support ward members
in promoting and publicising this work to their
residents.

• The Service should consider raising awareness
within schools and colleges of the potential for
volunteering opportunities and work experience.

• A strategic environmental assessment should
be undertaken as part of the development of the
Kirklees Waste Strategy. Innovative approaches to
fly tipping should also be considered including the
potential of a once a year universal service to clear
unwanted items.

• Disposal of trade waste, including the potential
impact on the levels of fly tipping, should be
considered as part of the development of the new
waste strategy.

• Fly tipping should be retained on the Panel’s Work
Programme with a particular focus on the use of
an intelligence led approach.

• The service should increase awareness of
the concessions available for the bulky waste
collection service for those residents in receipt of
an assisted bin service, and the permit process for
the Household Waste Recycling Centres.

Homelessness 
The Panel received a Progress Report on. Preventing 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
received a post implementation update including 
statistics on housing need/waiting lists/rough 
sleepers. Going forward the panel recommended 
that reference be made in the strategy to ex-military 
personnel as a vulnerable group. 

Tree and Woodland Management Policy 
The Panel considered a report in relation to a 
proposed Council Owned Tree and Woodland 
Management Policy. The report also provided an 
update on the approach being taken to the White 
Rose Forest scheme. 

Outcome:  
The Panel suggested that the Greenspace Service 
should engage with uniformed groups in relation 
to tree planting volunteering opportunities and 
supported the engagement work being undertaken 
with schools. 

5 Year Air Quality Action Plan 
A report was submitted which provided an update 
in relation to the development of the Council’s Five 
Year Air Quality Action Plan. 

Outcome: 
The Panel noted that the action plan contained a 
wide array of actions and individual topic areas that 
could be brought back to the Panel for scrutiny 
in more depth and highlighted particular areas 
for future consideration, including looking at 
infrastructure to encourage sustainable and active 
transport. 

Playable Spaces Strategy 
The Panel considered a report and presentation on 
plans setting out the next steps in relation to the 
strategy, which focusses on engagement with the 
public 

Outcome:  
The Panel supported a proposal for consultations 
with a wide range of stakeholders on the Playable 
Space Strategy in advance of the local elections 
2020 supported and highlighted the vital role of 
ward members in contributing to the consultation to 
develop play opportunities to meet children’s needs

Page 100



19

Community Infrastructure Levy
The Panel received a report setting out details 
of the Community Infrastructure Levy charging 
schedule.

Outcomes:
The Panel provided the following feedback in 
respect of the Community Infrastructure Levy:

• That further consideration be given to the
instalment policy and the potential negative effect
on small and medium size companies

• That clarification be sought on the role of
neighbourhood forums and links be forged with
existing structure and mechanisms around place
based working.

• The importance of being able to communicate
the rationale behind decisions where
infrastructure spending from a development in a
particular area is being spent in a different area.
A clear policy is needed that justifies how money
is allocated across the borough.

Walking and Cycling
A joint meeting was arranged between the Panel 
and the Health and Adult Social Care Panel to look 
at cycling and walking in Kirklees. The report and 
presentation looked at the public health benefits of 
cycling and the measures to encourage modal shift 
along with the current and planned infrastructure.

Outcome:
The Panel recognised the importance of involving 
expert groups and wider stakeholders in collaborating 
on walking and cycling routes.  The panel also 
recognised that national government funding and 
intervention is important on this issue for local areas 
to be able to prioritise investment. However it was 
also agreed that balance is needed at a local level 
between behaviour change programmes and targeted 
infrastructure investments to encourage people from 
cars to walking and cycling. A walking and cycling 
study visit was arranged for the end of March 2020 but 
had to be postponed as a result of the pandemic. The 
visit will be re-arranged when it is safe to do so.

Learning Skills and Employment Plan 
The Panel acknowledged the partnership approach 
to develop the Plan and encouraged the use of 
procurement, social value interventions from the 
Council as well as considering the Real Living Wage 
to tackle inequalities in the Borough. The panel 
also asked about the focus on digital skills given 
the investment in gigabit broadband in parts of the 
Borough and the recent decision by Channel 4 to 
move to Leeds and nearby Media City. 

Outcome:  
The Panel encouraged alignment with the Digital 
Strategy.

Greenspace Policy
The Panel received a report on the issue of Greenspaces 
and agreed to support the approach of developing a 
council wide policy on this area rather than a strategy. 
As the Policy develops the Panel will be consulted. 

Outcome:
The Panel suggested a focus on making greenway’s 
safe and clean so people feel confident going off 
main highways to use them as preferred walking 
and cycling routes, trialling the use of moss walls 
to help tackle climate change and ensuring a 
programme is in place for habitat corridors

Digital Plan  
The Panel received a report and presentation on 
the Council’s Digital Programme. Representatives 
from private infrastructure providers, City Fibre and 
Fibre Nation were invited to attend and responded to 
questions relating to their ongoing work and investment 
plans for Kirklees. The Panel noted the positive work 
underway and undertook to receive a further update in 
12 months as the work and plans develop. 

Outcome:
The Panel stressed the importance of residents 
and businesses locally benefitting from the 
infrastructure investment and ensuring this strategy 
is aligned with the skills strategy.

Page 101



20

Children’s Scrutiny Panel

Work Programme 2019/20
• Special Education Needs

• Exploitation Strategy

• Kirklees Safeguarding Children’s Board

• Early Support Partnership (Edge of Care)

• Review of Improvement Journey

• Educational Outcomes and Learning Support
Strategy

• Number of Children in Care

• Future Options for Almondbury Community
School

• Performance Information (Children’s Services)

• CAHMS Transformation Plan

• Elective Home Education (Ad-hoc Panel)

The Panel have continued to work through an 
extensive work programme and encouraged 
Members to attend relevant Partnership meetings 
and visits to services as a means of seeking 
re-assurance, highlighting issues for further 
consideration and avoiding duplication. 

Panel membership
Councillor Andrew Marchington (Chair)

Councillor Paul White
Councillor Amanda Pinnock

Councillor Aafaq Butt,
Councillor Richard Smith

Councillor Paul Davies
Linda Summers (Education Co-optee)

Dale O’Neill (Co-Optee)
Toni Bromley (Co-Optee)

Committee Highlights
Future Options for Almondbury 
Community School
At a Scrutiny Call-in meeting, the Panel agreed 
that the Decision by Cabinet taken on the 16th July 
2019 on Future Options for Almondbury Community 
School could be freed for implementation, however, 
recommended that Cabinet consider a number of 
learning points relating to:- 

• Capacity - Whilst the Panel was reassured that
there was sufficient capacity in the system, they
acknowledged that if Almondbury Community
School closed there would be limited choice at
local schools from September 2020.  The Panel
felt it was not clear about where pupils would be
allocated places in September 2020.

• Openness - It appeared that an assumption
was made at the outset that the school was
not viable and would fail a due diligence test
for academisation.  The Panel agreed that
the rationale for making that assumption was
not fully explained in the Cabinet reports, for
example, the fact of the school operating a £500k
deficit budget only became apparent at the July
Cabinet meeting.  In future the Panel requested
that Cabinet ensured that there was better
explanation within reports.

Page 102



21

The Panel welcomed the Ofsted report following the 
Inspection of Children’s Services in June 2019 and 
agreed that arrangements should be put in place 
to organise an informal Panel session regarding 
improving partnership working and governance 
structures.

During the year, the Panel have continued to 
receive regular updates on Almondbury Community 
School as the decision progressed towards full 
implementation.

Review of Improvement Journey
Throughout 2019/20 the Panel considered reports 
giving an update on the Review of the Children’s 
Services Improvement Journey.  The Panel agreed 
that the voice of the child and their experiences 
should be reflected and lessons learned in all 
aspects of work undertaken by Children’s Services. 

SEND progress update on 
Recommendations
Building on its work for Children with Special 
Educational Needs, the Panel considered a report 
giving an update on the recommendations from the 
work that had previously been undertaken by the 
Panel relating to children with special educational 
needs.  The Panel agreed that greater clarification 
had been given on the timescales outlined in the 
SENDACT action plan, but that the voice of young 
people should be captured and reflected in the work 
of SENDACT.

Number and Age of Children in Care
The Panel continued to receive monthly reports 
giving the latest data on the number and age of 
Children in Care.  Lead Member Briefings were held 
to allow the Chair to receive updates and detailed 
breakdowns and report back to the Panel.

Partnership Visits 
The Panel have continued to use visits to services 
and partners as a means of gathering evidence and 
information to inform its work.

Multi-Agency meeting (Front 
Door Children’s Services) on 2nd 
December 2019
The Scrutiny Panel scrutinised the current 
partnership arrangements between Children’s 
Services and its partners and on the 2nd December 
2019 attended a Front Door Multi Agency Meeting 
in Children’s Services and observed Kirklees 
and partners (social workers, health, Police, etc) 
reviewing cases and the Panel were able to assess 
partnership working in action.   

One Panel member said “I found it reassuring that 
all cases were reviewed so quickly after first contact, 
which must significantly reduce the risk of children 
slipping through the net, and I thought there was 
a refreshing willingness, rather than defensive 
reluctance,  to revisit cases which the meeting 
thought may have been closed prematurely.” 

Another Panel member said “The interchange of 
information and opinion between the representatives 
of the different agencies was excellent. This led to 
enhanced decision making which took into account 
a broad spectrum of areas relevant to each case” 
and “There was a strong sense of self review and 
learning from past actions”. 

Single Point of Access at Northorpe Hall 
on 9th December 2019 
Some Members of the Panel visited the Single Point 
of Access (SPOC) for Children and young people 
at Northorpe Hall, Mirfield, which was part of the 
Thriving Kirklees approach. Thriving Kirklees is a 
partnership of local health and wellbeing providers 
all working together to support children, young 
people and their families to thrive and be healthy.  
The Panel had a tour of the offices and spoke 
to members of staff who were responsible for 

Page 103



22

dealing with the telephone enquiries that come in, 
undertaking assessments following referral and the 
Manager of the team explained how decisions were 
taken on each individual case.   

One Panel Member said “There was clearly effective 
communication between teams, one effect of this 
was a reduction of duplication.” 

Another Panel Member said “. The individuals on 
duty took the responsibility of helping families and 
individuals even if there was no referral required to 
the services they covered. They signposted people 
to more appropriate services or provided them with 
practical guidance over the telephone. There was a 
real sense of care for those individuals contacting 
the centre.” And “The review processes which are 
in place help ensure that Management can make 
swift decisions on further actions needed for a child. 
There is an open door policy so that staff have quick 
access to Management to help facilitate this.”

Youth Offending Team
The Scrutiny Panel scrutinised the current 
partnership arrangements between Children’s 
Services and its partners and on the 27th January 
2020 visited the Youth Offending Team.  The core 
of the work that the YOT Team carried out was 
very much about helping young offenders to find 
positive ways to re-engage in communities and to 
assist them in finding a meaningful path for them to 
develop themselves so that they did not re-offend.  
Panel Members were informed that reparation 
was part of this approach, with a great emphasis 
on restorative practice. Central to this work was 
the multi-agency approach to the support given to 
the youth offenders. During the visit the Panel met 
members of the Team from the Probation Service, 
C&K Careers, Intensive Supervision and Surveillance 
Team and the Reparation Team and met one of the 
youth offenders that the YOT had been working with. 

One Panel Member said “the multi-agency 
discussion illustrated the urgent need to create 
more partnerships with employers and colleges/

schools to provide opportunities for youth 
offenders”.

Chairs Comments
I would like to thank everyone who has worked so 
hard to make the work of the panel such a success. 
At the beginning of the year we were relatively new 
to the task but have brought together a breadth of 
experience and insight to the journey in improving 
outcomes for all children and young people in 
Kirklees.

Whilst having an overview of all the work with 
children and young people, we have scrutinised the 
areas that we believe will have the biggest impact 
on the improvement journey. It has been pleasing to 
see the depth of scrutiny that is taking place around 
the information that is collected and how that 
information is used. That takes place daily by senior 
managers and by panels such as the Corporate 
Parenting Board and the Children’s Improvement 
Board. 

Partnership working is a key to the best outcomes 
for our children and younger people and the 
panel have seen evidence of effective partnership 
working in progress and hope that will continue. 
Observations and conversations have led not only 
to a better understanding of the work that is being 
undertaken but also corroborated the evidence that 
is presented to the panel. 

It is important that in all our work the voices of 
children and young people are heard. It is their lived 
experience that should shape the decisions that 
affect them each day.

I look forward to us continuing this work together.

Cllr Andrew Marchington

Page 104



23

Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel – Elective Home 
Education
To scrutinise Elective Home Education in Kirklees, 
with a particular focus on; 

• Developing an understanding of why some
parents and carers choose to home educate, and
for how long children are typically home educated
for.

• Scrutinising the Local Authority’s responsibilities
for home educated children.

• Scrutinising how the Local Authority identifies,
supports and ensures the safety and wellbeing of
electively home educated children.

• Scrutinising elective home educated children’s
progression onto further education and
employment and the outcomes achieved at Key
Stage 4 & 5.

Between December 2017 and December 2019, 
the Panel used a range of methods to gather 
the evidence used to inform the report, with the 
following people making valued contributions:

• young people and their parents

• the creator of the ‘Ed Yourself’ website

• representatives of Calderdale & Kirklees Careers
Service

• officers from the other West Yorkshire authorities

• a number of schools within the district

• officers from within the service area responsible
for elective home education.

They considered evidence submitted in respect of:

• The reasons for choosing home education and its
benefits.

• The challenges faced by home educating families
and how Kirklees might be able to provide more
support.

• The Authority’s statutory responsibilities. Relevant
legislation, associated guidance and research
studies.

• Practice in Kirklees and that of neighbouring local
authorities.

• Attainment and outcomes, including access to
careers support and issues around provision for
Key Stage 4.

• Ofsted’s approach.

• Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
(SEND).

• The options available to the Authority to address
non-attendance where there were concerns.

• Examination facilities and costs.

• Off-rolling.

• Flexi-schooling.

They also took account of new non-statutory 
guidance, published by the Government in April 
2019, which set out the view of the Department for 
Education on how local authorities should manage 
elective home education. 

This guidance acknowledged that local authorities 
do not receive funding to support home-educating 
families (except in relation to high needs SEN) and 
that the level and type of support would therefore 
vary between one local authority and another. It 
included recommendations about the minimum 
offer to electively home educating families and gave 
examples of other ways in which home educating 
families could be assisted, depending on the 
resources available.

The Panel completed its work in early 2020 and 
produced a final report incorporating a summary of 
the evidence received, together with its findings and 
seven recommendations. 

The draft final report was submitted to an informal 
meeting of the Children’s Scrutiny Panel on 13th 
March 2020. The Panel welcomed the report and 
agreed that officers should be given sufficient time 
to consider and respond to the recommendations 
and to produce an Action Plan. It was requested 
that updates should be submitted to the Panel in 
the future.

The next stage is for the Final Report, including the 
Panel’s recommendations and the completed Action 
Plan, to be submitted to Cabinet for consideration.

Page 105



24

Work programme for 2020/21 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee
Council Priorities and the Covid-19 Response Cohesion Strategy Update
Devolution mid-point consultation update  Crime and Disorder including Domestic Abuse (update on 

the main strategy, responses to Covid-19 and Forward plan) 
Refreshed Strategic Intelligence Assessment (SIA) and Refreshed 
Communities Partnership  Plan

Our Council Plan Recovery Programme
Future Arrangements for the Council’s Residential Climate Commission – Monitoring 
Housing Stock (ad-hoc panel report) Elective Home Education (ad-hoc panel report)
Children’s Panel
Review of the Improvement Journey Youth Services and Initiatives
Educational Outcomes Special Educational Needs and High Needs 
Number of  children in care Performance Information (Children’s Services)
Youth Services and Initiatives
Corporate Panel
Financial Monitoring Procurement
Council’s Risk Register Approach to Commercialisation 
Capital Plan / Council Plan People Strategy / Technology Strategy 2020-25 
Organisational Communications Strategy Leaving the EU preparations  
Corporate Preformance 
Economy And Neighbourhoods Panel
Inward Investment Strategy Air Quality
Tackling Poverty Planning Related Matters
Active Travel Towns and Communities in Kirklees
Digital Strategy COVID-19 
Health and Adult Social Care Panel
Financial position of the Kirklees Health and Adult Social Care 
Economy

Development of a local Community Care Package (pilot)

Community Care Services. Mental Health Services Workshop
Kirklees Integrated Wellness Service Kirklees Care Homes Programme Board
Quality of Care in Kirklees Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust (MYHT) Ambulatory 

Emergency Care (AEC) Services and Services provided at 
Dewsbury and District Hospital (DDH)

Suicide Prevention Transforming Outpatient Care at Calderdale and Huddersfield 
NHS Foundation Trust (CHFT) and Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS 
Trust (MYHT)

Kirklees Safeguarding Adults Board (KSAB) 2019/20 Annual Report Covid -19 (included as standing item for 2020/21 municipal year)
Kirklees Immunisation Programme
Update on Winter Planning

Page 106



25

Frequently asked questions

Here are some brief answers to the most frequently asked questions about Overview & Scrutiny.

What is Overview & Scrutiny?
Overview and Scrutiny acts as a check and balance 
on the Council’s decision maker (the Cabinet) by 
holding it to account for its decision. Overview and 
Scrutiny aims to:

• Contribute to the development of strategic 
decisions before the Cabinet makes them  

• Ensure Cabinet is accountable for the decisions it 
has made 

• Improve the performance of the Council’s 
services;

• Improve the performance of other public services 
for which the Council has responsibility or is a 
stakeholder in;

• Actively engage local people in scrutiny and 
promote issues which are of importance and of 
relevance to them.

Who is involved?
Any councillor, other than those who hold a cabinet 
post, can take part in scrutiny work. Panels in 
Kirklees also include statutory and voluntary 
co-optees and are supported by officers of the 
Council’s Democracy Service.  Cabinet members, 
senior officers, representatives from partners and 
members of the public, are invited to attend scrutiny 
panels to contribute to discussions on items in the 
panels’ work programme. 

Is scrutiny a party political activity?
Scrutiny is a key part of the political process; 
however it is not party political.  The scrutiny 
committee and panel structure is made up of 
Councillors from across all the political groups.  

Councillors aim to leave their party politics at the 
door and look objectively at issues, basing their 
findings on the information they have heard and 
received reports on.

How do you choose what to scrutinise?
The councillors and voluntary co-optees decide 
which issues to prioritise, with the overview and 
scrutiny committee having overall responsibility 
for the scrutiny work programme. Carrying out 
effective scrutiny takes a lot of time, commitment 
and effort so it is simply not possible to look at every 
issue. When choosing issues, scrutiny will consider 
whether it is can make a real difference by looking at 
the issue (for example, whether recommendations 
could result in improved services).

What can’t Scrutiny look at and why?
Scrutiny is not appropriate for considering individual 
complaints. The panels also cannot investigate 
regulatory or ‘quasi-judicial’ decisions, such as 
planning or licensing decisions.

How can the public get involved?
• Attend public meetings of the scrutiny committee 

or one of the scrutiny panels

• Suggest a topic for scrutiny

• Provide evidence at a panel or send us your views.

• Join a pool of people interested in being co-opted 
on to a panel when vacancies are advertised.

• 

Page 107



26
Page 108



27
Page 109



28

Contact the team at:
The Democracy Service
Civic Centre 3
High Street
Huddersfield HD1 2TG

Email: scrutiny.governance@kirklees.gov.uk

Phone: 01484 221000

Facebook: http://facebook.com/kirklees.scrutiny

Twitter: http://twitter.com/kirkleescrutiny

Lead officer details
Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee Lead – 
Sheila Dykes ,  Principal Governance & Democratic Engagement Officer

Health and Adult Social Care Panel / Joint Health Scrutiny Committees 
Richard Dunne, Principal Governance & Democratic Engagement Officer

Children’s Panel 
Helen Kilroy, Assistant Democracy Manager 

Economy and Neighbourhoods Panel 
Helen Kilroy, Assistant Democracy Manager 

Corporate Scrutiny Panel  
Jenny Bryce-Chan , Principal Governance & Democratic Engagement Officer

Team contact details

Page 110

http://on.fb.me/194GdCN

	Agenda
	3: Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4: Declaration of Interests
	5: West Yorkshire Devolution - Consent to Draft Order
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	6: Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019/2020
	Overview & Scrutiny Annual Report 19-20 CM3530.1
	Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report
	Section head
	Subhead 14


	_Hlk37068664



